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Our Vision
To be the leading African energy company

Our Values
• Integrity  • Competitiveness  • Corporate Citizenship 

• Harmonious Relationships with all Stakeholders

Our Mission
PetroSA will be the leading provider of hydrocarbons and related 

quality products by leveraging its proven technologies and harnessing 
its human capital for the benefi t of its stakeholders

Contents

Our Mandate
The Petroleum Oil and Gas Corporation of South Africa (SOC) 

Limited (PetroSA) is South Africa’s National Oil Company. Wholly 
owned by the CEF (SOC) Ltd, we have a mandate to operate as a 

commercial entity and create value for our shareholder. This involves 
paying tax and dividends, as well as advancing the broader national 

objectives within the petroleum industry.
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Scope and Boundary
Our annual reporting process aims to provide a balanced, accurate and accessible report 
on our performance in terms of fi nancial, economic, social and environmental factors that 
are of interest to our stakeholders and relate directly to our strategy.

This annual report covers our main business units and their fi nancial, non-fi nancial and 
operational performance for the year ended 31 March 2012. Where appropriate, it also 
reports on future prospects. 

This annual report has been approved by the PetroSA Board. With the focus on the 
strategic objectives stated in our Vision 2020, the report’s overall aim is to enable all 
stakeholders to assess our ability to create and sustain value in the short, medium and 
long term.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Group Pro� le
 

Introducing PetroSA
The Petroleum Oil and Gas Corporation of South Africa (SOC) Limited (PetroSA) is the National 
Oil Company of South Africa and is registered as a commercial entity under South African 
law. PetroSA is a subsidiary of the CEF, which is wholly owned by the State and reports to the 
Department of Energy (DoE). 

The Company holds a portfolio of assets that spans the petroleum value chain, with all 
operations run according to world-class safety and environmental standards. PetroSA was 
formed in 2002 upon the merger of Soekor E and P (Pty) Limited, Mossgas (Pty) Limited and 
parts of the Strategic Fuel Fund, another subsidiary of CEF. 

Nosizwe Nokwe-Macamo 
appointed Group CEO

B-BBEE sales account for 
71% of Commercial Business 

unit’s sales volume

PetroSA starts the largest 
seismic survey ever undertaken 

in South African waters

PetroSA Synthetic Fuels 
Innovation Centre (PSFIC) starts 
operating at the University of the 

Western Cape (UWC)

Purchase of two depots at 
Tzaneen and Bloemfontein

PetroSA offers bursaries to students 
with disabilities in partnership 

with Cape Peninsula University of 
Technology (CPUT)

Group Highlights

Global Footprint 
 E&P

 Marketing

 Joint Venture & Partnerships

 GTL Mossel Bay plant
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Key CommoditiesCore Business Activities 
PetroSA’s Gas-to-Liquid GTL re� nery produces ultra-clean, 
low-sulphur, low-aromatic synthetic fuels and high-value 
products converted from natural methane-rich gas and 
condensate using a unique GTL Fischer Tropsch technology. 

UNLEADED
PETROL

PROPANE 
& LPG

KEROSENE

50 ppm 
DIESEL 6%

6%

8%

12%

4%

53%

11%

De� ned in our Vision 2020, our strategy focuses on becoming a fully-integrated, commercially-
competitive National Oil Company, supplying at least 25% of South Africa’s liquid fuel needs by 
2020 through:

•	 sustaining our Mossel Bay GTL re� nery as a pro� table operation, using it as a platform to 
sustain our company;

• growing PetroSA into a signi� cant industry player, while ensuring the security of the
country’s energy supply;

• driving transformation within our company across the liquid fuels sector and 
broader society;

•  ensuring that we achieve these objectives in line with the highest safety, 
health, environmental and quality (SHEQ) standards.

This report reviews our performance against the above four strategic 
cornerstones during the 2011/12 � nancial year.
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Exploration and production of oil and natural gas 
locally and internationally. Locally, we operate the 
FA-EM, South Coast gas � elds as well as the Oribi 
and Oryx � elds. Internationally, we have exploration 
acreage in Egypt, Equatorial Guinea and Namibia 
as well as off South Africa’s West Coast.

Participation in, and acquisition of local as well as 
international upstream petroleum ventures. Among 
other proposals, we are considering an acquisition 
that would take us into the Gulf of Guinea’s proli� c 
western margin.

Production of synthetic fuels from offshore gas 
at one of the world’s largest gas-to-liquids (GTL) 
re� neries in Mossel Bay, South Africa. This facility 
produces ultra-clean, low-sulphur, low-aromatic 
synthetic fuels and high-value products converted 
from natural methane-rich gas and condensate 
using a unique GTL Fischer Tropsch technology.

Development of domestic re� ning and liquid fuels 
logistical infrastructure. Key projects in the pipeline 
include Project Ikhwezi (production) and Project 
Mthombo (re� ning). Last year new depots at 
Bloemfontein and Tzaneen were acquired.

Marketing and trading of oil and petrochemicals. 
At home, we sell most of our fuel and fuel-related 
products to South Africa’s major oil companies. 
Abroad, our products compete on equal terms 
with those manufactured by the world’s largest 
petrochemical multinationals.

Unleaded petrol, diesel, kerosene paraf� n, fuel oil, 
propane, lique� ed petroleum gas (LPG), export 
distillates, alcohols, liquid oxygen, nitrogen and 
carbon dioxide. Our world-class synthetic fuels and 
petrochemicals are marketed internationally.

Strategic priorities (Vision 2020)

FUEL OIL

ALCOHOLS

DISTILLATES
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Focus on Innovation

Developing tomorrow’s 
fuels today
We are investing intensively in the next 
generation of hydrocarbon technologies.

In 2010 PetroSA entered into a joint venture with 
the University of the Western Cape (UWC) to 
establish the PetroSA Synthetic Fuels Innovation 
Centre (PSFIC). The PSFIC was offi cially opened 
in May 2012 by Ms Dipuo Peters, the Minister 
of Energy, who acknowledged PetroSA’s role in 
bringing the two partners together.

PetroSA is providing R36 million in funding to the 
centre for an initial period of fi ve years. UWC was 
provided with a state-of-the-art pilot plant and key 
staff members were seconded to help develop the 
programme while training post-graduates at the 
PSFIC.

The centre’s research and development activities 
are aimed at manipulating and improving fuel 
quality and improving the catalysts used to 
produce synthetic fuels while developing top-class 
researchers.

The fi ve-year research programme is located 
at UWC’s South African Institute for Advanced 
Materials Chemistry (SAIAMC), which has a track 
record of world-class research and development 
to support the energy sector. 

The partnership has provided the resources 
necessary to carry out research that focuses 
on improving the effi ciency of the COD process 
and improving the quality of the fi nal product. 
PetroSA’s COD process already contributes 
signifi cantly to South Africa’s liquid fuel supply. 
This partnership positions PetroSA to contribute 
even more as demand for diesel rises.
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PSFIC houses a pilot plant-sized reactor for 
studying the conversion of olefi ns to distillate 
(COD), an essential part of the intricate gas-to-
liquids (GTL) processes.
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Of� ce of the CEO
The Of� ce of the CEO is responsible for the Company’s 
overall strategic direction as well as facilitating governance 
within the organisation. This Of� ce comprises the following 
departments: Company Secretariat, Internal Audit, Legal 
Services, Safety, Health, Environment and Quality (Corporate 
SHEQ), Risk and Compliance.

Finance
This Division manages the Company’s � scal resources 
and advises the business on its � nancial, commercial and 
transactional responsibilities in line with all compliance 
obligations. It is responsible for all accounting, treasury, 
procurement, information systems and insurance functions.

New Ventures: Upstream
This Division oversees PetroSA’s Exploration and Production 
(E&P) business and is tasked with the responsibility of 
growing the Company’s reserve portfolio through the 
acquisition of equity in joint ventures with other oil and 
gas companies and through exploration, appraisal and 
development activities.

New Ventures: Midstream
This Division is responsible for infrastructure projects 
to ensure the sustainable growth of PetroSA and the 
uninterrupted security of liquid fuels supply for South 
Africa. It focuses primarily on developing domestic re� ning 
capacity, developing logistical infrastructure for strategic and 
commercial fuel stocks and innovating technology solutions, 
particularly in gas-to-liquids operations.

Corporate Strategy and Planning
This Division facilitates the development and monitoring 
of the Company’s corporate strategy. It manages a 
planning and reporting framework that monitors and 
promotes organisational performance. It covers corporate 
investment portfolio, economics, business intelligence (BI), 
intellectual property (IP) and Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment (B-BBEE).

Human Capital
This Division provides human resource capacity to the 
business. It ensures that we attract and retain the best talent, 
with the right balance of skills, experience and desire to 
develop their full potential, enabling PetroSA to deliver on its 
strategy.

Trading, Supply and Logistics
This Division markets the GTL re� nery’s products in 
South African and international markets, and procures 
supplementary feedstock and blendstock for the GTL 
re� nery. PetroSA trades in condensate, crude oil, fuel and 
petrochemical products through this Division. The Division 
also manages the downstream marketing of PetroSA’s 
products to wholesale customers.

Operations
This Division is responsible for the commercial exploitation of 
the Company’s producing assets, including the GTL re� nery 
in Mossel Bay, the FA-EM and South-Coast Gas � elds, as 
well as the Oribi and Oryx oil � elds located in Block 9, off 
the coast of South Africa. A logistics base in Mossel Bay 
supports PetroSA and third-party offshore activities.

Corporate Affairs and Shared 
Services
This Division manages the corporate reputation and image 
of the organisation through the departments of Government 
and Stakeholder Relations, Group Communications and 
Community Affairs. In addition, this department is also 
responsible for the management and maintenance of all 
of� ces through its Shared Services department.

Organisational Structure
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Executive Management

Ms Nosizwe Nocawe Nokwe-Macamo
Group CEO

BSc, MSc, Petrochem Eng Certi� cate in International Management

Ms Nokwe-Macamo joined PetroSA as Group CEO on 1 March 2012. She 
was previously employed as the Director-General of the Gauteng Provincial 
Government. She has held numerous senior positions in the petroleum value 
chain, including General Manager of Engen Supply, Trading and Shipping, MD 
of Engen Mozambique and MD of Engen Namibia, and worked as the CEO of 
the Mpumalanga Economic Development Agency. Ms Nokwe-Macamo is also a 
former Non-Executive Director of the Industrial Development Corporation and of 
Highveld Steel. 

Mr Nkosemntu Gladman Nika
Chief Financial Of� cer

BCom, BCompt (Hons), CA (SA)

Mr Nika was previously Executive Manager: Finance at the Development Bank 
of Southern Africa (DBSA). He has also held various internal auditing positions 
at Eskom, Shell and Anglo American Limited. He was appointed Chief Financial 
Of� cer in September 2003. 

Mr Everton G September
Vice President: New Ventures (Upstream)

BA, BCom, MBA

Mr September has been in the petrochemical business for over 20 years, mostly 
in marketing positions in South Africa, the United States and Europe. He recently 
spearheaded a successful project to establish the PetroSA sales and marketing 
of� ce in Rotterdam, Holland. He joined PetroSA in 2003.
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Mr Jörn EP Falbe
Vice President: New Ventures (Midstream)

BEng (Chem), MSc (Chem Eng), MBA

Mr Falbe has an impressive track record of running a highly-integrated 
petrochemical and re� nery complex at Shell in Europe. He is renowned for his 
skill in driving ef� cient improvements within the Shell re� nery. Mr Falbe joined 
PetroSA in 2005 as Vice President: Operations Division, after working in Europe 
for 16 years. In addition, he is responsible for the commercialisation of the GTL 
technology together with Lurgi. Mr Falbe was appointed to his current position of 
Vice President: New Ventures (Midstream) in June 2007. He is responsible for the 
development and implementation of infrastructure projects in South Africa. 

Mr Godwin Sweto
Vice President: Corporate Strategy and Planning

BSc (MinEng), MBA

A key architect of PetroSA’s Vision 2020 Strategy, Mr Sweto joined Soekor (later 
merged with other entities to form PetroSA) in 1999 as a Geoscience applications 
analyst. He has worked in various commercial capacities in Upstream, Operations 
and Midstream, progressively assuming broader managerial roles across the 
petroleum industry value chain, playing a signi� cant role in key strategic domestic 
and international investment initiatives. He has also worked for multinationals like 
BHP Billiton, Lonrho and RTZ in various planning and production roles. Mr Sweto 
was appointed Vice President: Corporate Strategy and Planning on 1 June 2008.

Ms Poloko Sindiso V Ngaba
Company Secretary

BJuris, LLB, LLM, MDP, SMP

Ms Ngaba has held various legal advisory positions at the Cape Peninsula 
University of Technology and the National Ports Authority. An admitted advocate 
of the High Court, she was awarded the Fullbright Scholarship in 1987 to study 
for an LLM degree at Georgetown University, Washington DC. Ms Ngaba was 
appointed PetroSA Company Secretary in November 2002.
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Mr Darrin G Arendse
Vice President: Human Capital

BAdmin (Hons)

Mr Arendse began his career in the public sector as a Generalist HR Practitioner 
in 1984. His career experiences have been shaped by serving in various senior HR 
roles in organisations such as the City of Cape Town, De Beers and Standard Bank. 
He was appointed Vice President: Human Capital in January 2009.

Ms Baxolile J Zwane
Acting Vice President: TS&L

BCom, PGDipMgt

Ms Zwane began her career in � nance and has worked for several years at large 
FMCG companies, including Unilever. She joined PetroSA in 1998. Over the years 
she has held different positions, such as Management Accountant, Assurance 
and Administration Manager and Marketing Manager at PetroSA Europe. She is 
currently the Acting Vice President: Trading, Supply and Logistics (TS&L). 

Dr Thabo Kgogo
Acting Vice President: Operations

BSc (Chem Eng), MSc, (Pet Eng), PhD (Pet Eng), DIC

Dr Kgogo joined PetroSA in 2003 as a Reservoir Engineer. He was previously 
with De Beers in different offshore and onshore operations. He has held several 
positions at PetroSA, including Senior to Principal Reservoir Engineer, Technical 
Manager E&P and Operations Manager E&P and he is currently the Acting Vice 
President: Operations.

Mr Kaizer M Nyatsumba
Head: Corporate Affairs and Shared Services

BA, MBA, Post-Grad Cert (Economics), AMP, ADP

Mr Nyatsumba has held senior leadership positions at Independent Newspapers, 
Anglo American, Coca-Cola South Africa and Sasol Limited, where his portfolios 
have included newspaper editing, marketing, corporate affairs and BEE. He joined 
PetroSA in June 2011 and established the Corporate Affairs and Shared Services 
Division.

Executive Management
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The � nancial year was characterised by high global oil 
prices, largely driven by unrelenting geopolitical tensions in 
the Middle East and North Africa. Brent crude oil averaged 
US$107.2/barrel, up 26% from US$84.7/barrel in 2010/11. 
The global economy has been under threat of a recession. 
This has been primarily occasioned by a European debt 
crisis, anaemic growth in the USA and signs of an economic 
slow-down in China. In spite of all that, this has provided the 
backdrop to yet another exciting year for PetroSA.

This report summarises the Company’s performance for the 
year. 

Performance
The challenges of the depletion of PetroSA’s indigenous 
gas reserves continue, with offshore production averaging 
135mmscf/d versus ~150mmscfd for the previous year. The 
resultant reduction in production at our gas-to-liquid (GTL) 
re� nery necessitated an increase in product imports, which 
contributed to a 47% year-on-year increase in cost of sales, 
which led to a contraction of the margins. 

The gas reserve decline will be partially offset by the Project 
Ikhwezi offshore gas project, in which signi� cant progress 
was achieved. In the year under review, long-lead items were 
ordered and critical tenders issued. The project remains on 
track, with � rst gas targeted for mid-2013. 

Despite the signi� cant challenges, the Company remained 
pro� table, with a net pro� t for the Group of R1.4bn, up 68% 
year on year. A group-wide cost-saving drive contributed to 
the improved Group pro� t. Of concern were the disruptions 
at the GTL re� nery that reduced overall plant availability in 
the year. The re� nery had to be shut down in October 2011 
following a steam line failure as well as a condensate pipeline 
blockage, both of which were subsequently addressed 
successfully. In addition, various power disruptions occurred, 
further reducing plant availability.

During the year under review, a total of 0.396 MMbbls of 
crude oil was produced at Oribi Oryx, in spite of the Orca 
having suffered downtime. While repair work was successfully 
carried out, production was restored after year-end, as 
there was outstanding statutory recerti� cation which is a 
prerequisite for further production.

By way of conclusion of a feasibility study, it was con� rmed 
that LNG importation was technically and commercially 
feasible when premised on securing additional gas for the 
Eskom power plant in Mossel Bay. With feedstock supply 
for the GTL Re� nery, this may necessitate a structured 
transformation of the current business model from low-
value fuels to high-value specialities. First gas from LNG 
importation is targeted for 2015.

Safety performance continues to be a major consideration 
for PetroSA. We registered progress with performance within 
acceptable limits (with a Disabling Injury Frequency Rate 
within the range of less than 0.4 achieved). The occurrence 
of various lost-time incidents continued to serve as a call for 
increased vigilance throughout the Company. No fatalities 
were recorded for the period under review. 

Our Upstream business also saw a signi� cant activity 
level. On the domestic front, key achievements include the 
successful farm-out of 80% of South Africa’s Block 5/6 
to Anadarko Petroleum Corporation. The partnership with 
Anadarko provides PetroSA with access to much-needed 
deep-offshore experience, reducing exploration risk while 
potentially creating opportunities for joint investments with 
a successful global player. At the close of the year, another 
similar farm-out arrangement was being � nalised for the 
purchase of 55% of PetroSA’s Block Q exploration block in 
Equatorial Guinea.

We made signi� cant progress towards entering some 
key markets on the continent. Countries like Ghana and 
Mozambique are of special interest. Although it was not 
concluded at the end of the � nancial year, one acquisition in 
West Africa, in particular, would mark a signi� cant entry by 
PetroSA into the Gulf of Guinea’s proli� c western region, while 
creating a new revenue stream and increasing PetroSA’s 
reserves.

Other achievements include:

•	 PetroSA	facilitated	the	purchase	and	the	injection	of	some	
154 million litres of diesel into Transnet’s New Multi-
Product Pipeline for the bene� t of the country.

Group Chief Executive Of� cer’s Statement
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With Project Ikhwezi centre stage, the 2012/13 � nancial year 
promises to be a watershed one for PetroSA, with multiple 
investments that will transform the Company into a more 
sustainable and integrated business.

With Project Ikhwezi centre stage, the 2012/13 � nancial year 

•	 PetroSA	continued	to	make	progress	in	its	drive	to	
access liquid fuel logistical infrastructure nationwide. The 
purchase of Bloemfontein and Tzaneen fuel depots marks 
the beginning of our entry into the downstream market.

•	 PetroSA	intervened	successfully,	in	the	interest	of	the	
country, when there was a country-wide LPG shortage 
in June 2011. The Company diverted mogas from petrol 
production towards more LPG production, at a net cost 
of R15 million, in order to ensure the sustenance of the 
highly LPG-dependent motor industry in the Eastern 
Cape.

Outlook for 2012/13

The year ahead will be a challenging one for PetroSA. The 
Company will be operating under globally adverse conditions 
as well as very dif� cult internal conditions due to the decrease 
in gas reserves.

As a result of the latter, the plant will have to operate at a 
lower-than-optimum capacity, which will have a negative 
effect on our margins. It is therefore imperative that we 
execute our approved strategic projects, which will impact 
positively on the sustainability of our growth. 

The 2012/13 � nancial year promises to be a watershed one 
for PetroSA, with multiple investments that will transform the 
Company into a more sustainable and integrated business. 
Key focus will be on Project Ikhwezi, where drilling is set to 
commence in the second quarter of the year. Major capital 
outlays are also planned downstream, where the long-
awaited entry into downstream is progressing. Our drive to 
grow the wholesale business is showing positive results.

Upstream efforts to grow reserves will continue to crystallise, 
thereby providing a platform for international growth.

However, the reduced GTL production level as a result of 
dwindling gas reserves is set to drive stricter cost discipline 
throughout the Company, while the search for new revenue 
streams will become even more important. The need for 
operational excellence continues to be a focus and has 
become a cornerstone of the Company’s Vision 2020 to see 
PetroSA as a worthy National Oil Company.

Thanks
Finally, I would like to convey my heartfelt thanks to the 
Executive Management and the dedicated staff at PetroSA. I 
have no doubt that, with their support, we will build PetroSA 
to be a National Oil Company of which South Africa can be 
justly proud. 

My thanks also go to the PetroSA Board for its support and 
guidance.

NOSIZWE NOKWE-MACAMO
Group Chief Executive Of� cer
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Chief Financial Of� cer’s Statement

The key performance indicators for the Group are:

2012 2011 % change

Turnover Rm 14 444 Rm 10 565 37%

Operating profi t/(loss) Rm 908 Rm 64 >100%

Profi t/(loss) for the year Rm 1 282 Rm 831 54%

Cash generated by operating activities Rm 1 566 Rm 2 011 (22%)

Total Assets Rm 26 487 Rm 25 006 6%

Capital expenditure Rm 601 Rm 197 >100%

Total debt Rm 2 273 Rm 1 629 40%

Net asset value Rm 18 018 Rm 16 645 8%

Year-end exchange rates

ZAR/USD 7.69 6.78 13%

ZAR/EURO 10.26 9.64 6%

Average exchange rates

ZAR/USD 7.46 7.19 4%

ZAR/EURO 10.25 9.50 8%

Average crude price 114.67 86.65 32%

Performance review
The Group achieved a net pro� t of R1.4 billion (2011: R0.8 billion) for the year under review. Sales revenues were higher at 
R14.4 billion (2011: R10.5 billion), mainly due to the high crude oil price and an increase in crude and � nished product trading. 
The overall margin was diluted due to product mix, as R0,8bn volume of traded products exceeded own production. Group 
operating expenditure was 12% lower than the previous year (R1.67 billion against the R1.9 billion of 2011), mainly due to drilling 
activities in Equatorial Guinea undertaken in the previous year.

The Group’s � nancial position remains strong, with total assets of R26.4 billion (2011: R25 billion). Capital expenditure during 
the year amounted to R0.6 billion and was mainly made up of expenditure related to Project Ikhwezi. A cash balance of 
R12.8 billion (2011: R11.8 billion) with no long-term debt (zero in 2011) re� ects the Group’s strong net cash position at year-end. 
This cash position will be signi� cantly reduced during the next � nancial year as the aggressive capital expansion programme, 
which includes the Project Ikhwezi offshore development project, and the acquisition of a stake in the Jubilee � eld in Ghana 
undertaken. The Company is planning to embark on various signi� cant capital expansion programmes in the short to medium 
term and the lowly-geared balance sheet will improve. 
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The increase of R1 billion in the cash holding, coupled with a 
strategy to invest a portion of the cash in � xed-rate investments, 
compensated for the declining interest rate environment, 
contributing R790 million in interest.

The increase of R1 billion in the cash holding, coupled with a 

contributing R790 million in interest.

Taxation
PetroSA retained its tax-assessed loss position for the year 
ending 31 March 2012. No deferred tax asset is recognised 
as it is considered that the bene� t will not be realised in the 
foreseeable future.

Accounting policies 
The accounting policies used in the preparation of the annual 
� nancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012 are 
in accordance with SA GAAP and are consistent with those 
used in the previous year.

Management judgements 
In preparing the annual � nancial statements in terms of 
SA GAAP, the Group’s management is required to make 
certain estimates and assumptions that may materially affect 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
� nancial statements as well as the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reported period and the 
related disclosures. 

As these estimates and assumptions concern future events, 
due to the inherent uncertainty involved in this process, the 
actual results often vary from the estimates. These estimates 
and judgements are based on historical experience, current 
and expected future economic conditions and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 

Liquidity management
PetroSA manages its cash and cash equivalents in line with 
policies approved by the Board. The cash portfolio is split into 
a core and a liquid portfolio to ensure that short-term liquidity 
needs are met, while maximising the return on surplus cash. 
Investment counter-parties are approved, based on their 
assessed ratings and are actively monitored.

Cash under management for the Group increased from 
R11.8 billion the previous year to R12.8 billion as at 
31 March 2012, mainly due to cash generated by operations 
and a delay in the approval of projects for which internally-
generated cash had been earmarked. The majority of the 
cash portfolio is earmarked for the F-O (Project Ikhwezi) gas-

� eld development, as well as other projects approved by the 
Board and outlined in the corporate plan. 

As at 31 March 2012, South African Rand cash and cash 
equivalents were invested at a � xed rate of 6.03% (2011: 
6.25%) and a � oating rate of 5.95% (2011: 7.50%). The rate 
of return achieved on investments declined throughout the 
� nancial year, in line with declining market rates. However, 
the increase of R1 billion in the cash holding, coupled 
with a strategy to invest a portion of the cash in � xed-rate 
investments, compensated for the declining interest rate 
environment, contributing R790 million in interest income 
generated by the Treasury department in the period under 
review, up slightly from R788 million the previous year. 

PetroSA repaid the long-term loans raised for the EM gas-
� eld development during the previous � nancial year and the 
Company’s balance sheet remained un-geared at 31 March 
2012. The optimal funding structure for the Group has been 
considered, with a targeted long-term gearing ratio of 30% to 
40% in line with the Group’s long-term strategy and growth 
initiatives. The Group’s funding strategy, in terms of expected 
acquisitions and investments, is to raise bridging � nance in 
the short term thereafter converting to longer-term debt at the 
asset level. In addition, South African developmental � nancial 
institutions and commercial banks are being targeted for local 
acquisitions and projects of an infrastructural nature.

Dividends 
No dividends were declared in this � nancial year.

Preferential procurement 
For the period under review, payments made to suppliers 
of goods and services totalled R11.30 billion. Of these 
payments, R2.86 billion was spent on Broad-Based Black 
Economic Empowered (B-BBEE) suppliers with a minimum 
of 25.1% black ownership. This equates to 25% of the 
Company’s total procurement spend.

In terms of the B-BBEE codes of good practice, certain 
expenditure may be excluded from total procurement (i.e. 
procurement from other organs of State, imported goods and 
services that cannot be sourced locally, as well as speci� c, 
branded sole-source procurement). The total procurement 
expenditure from organs of State, sole-source suppliers and 
foreign entities was R6.98 billion.
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Therefore our total discretionary procurement for the 
period under review, in terms of the codes, would equal 
R4.31 billion.

In terms of PetroSA’s requirement, which is aligned to the 
Liquid Fuels Charter, our B-BBEE procurement expenditure 
of R2.86 billion in respect of B-BBEE suppliers who have a 
minimum of 25.1% black ownership equates to 67% for the 
period under review.

Financial strategy and outlook
The PetroSA Corporate Plan 2012-2016 is centred on 
organisational sustainability, coupled with growth, and is 
consistent with the Company’s Vision 2020 objective of 
playing a greater role in the country’s security of supply. 

Growth initiatives will include new upstream and downstream 
projects to complement the Sabre Oil and Gas acquisition 
and, possibly, the Venezuela mature � elds, which, together 
with a downstream entry, would provide immediate 
diversi� cation of the income base. 

The 2012/13 � nancial year sees GTL production maintained 
at a moderated 67% production rate. The key risk of reduced 
production-revenue generation owing to feedstock depletion, 
ahead of Project Ikhwezi coming on stream, will be managed 
through increased cost containment, ef� ciency-improvement 
initiatives as well as the rescheduling of non-critical projects. 

The need for a robust feedstock supply base for the GTL 
Re� nery necessitates the resuscitation and exploration of 
alternative feedstock options such as LNG. 

The key constraint (i.e. funding) will be addressed through 
the development and implementation of an appropriate 
funding strategy. Such a funding strategy will help in the 
implementation of major projects such as Mthombo, which 
should see the � nalisation of a revised feasibility study in 
2012/13, leading to a decision on front-end engineering and 
design (FEED). 

Value added statement. Please see

NKOSEMNTU GLADMAN NIKA
Chief Financial Of� cer

PAGE
078

Chief Financial Of� cer’s Statement



017PetroSA Annual Report 2012



GOVERNANCE

018 PetroSA Annual Report 2012

Statement of Corporate Governance

The PetroSA Board of Directors strives to promote the 
highest standard of corporate governance by subscribing to 
the principles of good corporate governance as outlined in 
the King Reports, PFMA, Companies Act and Protocol on 
Corporate Governance in the Public Sector. Good Corporate 
governance includes the structures, processes and practices 
that the Board of Directors use to direct and manage 
operations of PetroSA and the Group. This is to ensure 
proper accountability by the Board to the shareholders and 
other stakeholders. 

Furthermore, the Board is committed to ensuring that 
the Company adheres to high standards of corporate 
governance in the conduct of its business.

It is the Board’s understanding and belief that adherence 
to good corporate governance will improve the con� dence 
of our shareholder, stakeholders and employees in the 
leadership of the Company. This, in turn, will allow space 
for wealth creation and economic well-being to the wider 
community of stakeholders and society.

To ensure that the Company is managed in an ef� cient, 
accountable, responsible, moral and ethical manner and in 
compliance with these principles, an ongoing monitoring 
of developments in the � eld of corporate governance is 
maintained and improvements are made to the extent 
determined as appropriate. 

In addition, the Board and Management have attended 
presentations on King III and the new Companies Act of 2008 
to gain a better understanding of these principles and related 
responsibilities imposed by the new Act.

Highlights on governance for the year
under review
The Company’s governance practices are continuously 
reviewed to ensure alignment with internal developments 
and to ensure on-going adherence to legislation, regulation 

and latest governance trends. The following are highlights 
of implementations regarding the Group’s governance 
framework during the reporting period:

•	 The appointment in March 2012 of Ms Nosizwe Nokwe-
Macamo as the Group CEO of the Company;

•	 The amendment of the Board Charter to align with the 
new Companies Act and the King III report;

•	 Review and amendments of the Terms of Reference 
of the Board Audit and Compliance Committee, Risk 
Management and Safety Committee, Project Ikhwezi 
Steering committee, Board Performance Committee as 
well as the Strategy and Growth Committee;

•	 The separation of the Audit and Risk Committee into 
speci� c Committees for Risk and Audit to align with the 
King III and Companies Act and to facilitate more focus 
on the two critical areas;

•	 The separation of the Business Strategy and Performance 
Committee into the Strategy and Growth Committee and 
the Performance Committee to ensure more focus on 
new business development and enhanced performance 
monitoring;

•	 The creation of an ad hoc Committee on Project Ikhwezi 
to fast track the implementation of Project Ikhwezi 
(formerly F-O project);

•	 The Board approval of the new Memorandum of 
Incorporation (MOI) to replace the existing Memorandum 
and Articles of Association in accordance with the new 
Companies Act of 2008. The Board is con� dent that the 
shareholder will approve same, in time to ensure that full 
compliance in this regard is achieved within the speci� ed 
transitional period allowed by the Act;

•	 The approval of the Group Governance Manual which 
provides a comprehensive set of high-level guidelines 
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for the operation of the PetroSA Group’s activities and 
details of how the Group will operate in all its jurisdictions 
globally. It summarises the governing principles according 
to which PetroSA operates, sets out the roles and 
responsibilities of the PetroSA governance structures, 
(e.g. Board and Board Committees), provides an overview 
of the governance operations, (e.g. Board meetings), and 
provides an overview of the PetroSA Group assurance 
activities;

•	 Review and update of PetroSA’s Code of Ethics;

•	 Review and strengthening of governance structures 
of the Executive Committee (EXCO) by introducing an 
internal Group Assurance Committee (GAC) to oversee all 
assurance activities of the Group;

•	 Review of the PetroSA Levels of authority matrix;

•	 Evaluations of the Board and its committees;

•	 A comprehensive induction programme for newly-
appointed directors, which includes an induction pack 
with relevant company documents, a visit to GTL Re� nery 
and F-A platform, presentations on the PFMA, King III, the 
new Companies Act 71 of 2008 and a PetroSA business 
overview; and

•	 In accordance with the Company’s practice of facilitating 
opportunities for Board members to attend training on 
governance and developments within the industry at the 
Company’s cost, some members were engaged in this 
training. 

Continuous implementation of the new 
governance regime
The Company has during the period under review gained 
ground in implementing most of the provisions of the King III 
report and the Companies Act of 2008. It is also important 

to note that King III is an aspirational code and it is therefore 
likely that the Company will take time to be fully compliant. 
It is acknowledged that one of the continuous challenges 
is in deciding on the optimal level of application required, 
balancing the costs and bene� ts to all stakeholders, and 
then being able to disclose such principles and practices in 
a manner that is clear and understandable to stakeholders 
- hence the decision by King III authors to opt for the more 
� exible ‘apply or explain’ approach to its principles and 
recommended practices. 

The high-level analysis of compliance has indicated that the 
majority of the recommendations has been implemented, 
with a few areas still outstanding. In line with the ‘apply or 
explain’ approach, the Group highlights reasons for delays in 
implementing the following provisions of the King Report;

•	 Integrated Reporting and Disclosure
The Company does not apply this recommendation, 
but attempts are being made to put mechanisms and 
processes in place to facilitate application;

•	 The Governance of Information Technology (IT)
Although the Board has assigned the monitoring of 
IT governance to the Board Audit and Compliance 
Committee and the Risk Management and Safety 
Committee, the current IT governance framework 
and processes are being enhanced to ensure further 
alignment with King III and full compliance. To this end, a 
dedicated EXCO subcommittee (Information Technology 
Steering Committee) focussing on the review of IT 
investment and alignment with corporate strategy was 
formed. These frameworks and committee structures will 
ensure the improvement in monitoring and evaluation of 
signi� cant IT investments and expenditure, and that IT 
forms an integral part of the Company’s risk management 
environment;
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Statement of Corporate Governance

BOARD AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE
Ms N Jiyane (Chairman), Adv. L Makatini,

Ms N Medupe, Mr Y Tenza, Dr Z Rusmomjee

HUMAN CAPITAL 
COMMITTEE

Ms E Letlape (Chairman)
Dr AMB Mokaba

Mr C Molusi

BOARD

Dr AMB Mokaba (Chairman) 
Ms N Nokwe-Macamo 

(GCEO)
Ms E Letlape
Mr C Molusi
Mr Y Tenza

Mr N Nika (CFO)
Mr R Zihlangu

Dr Z Rustomjee 
Ms N Jiyane

Mr MM Zwane 
Mr MB Damane

Mr Z Mavuso
Ms A Osman

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE 
COMMITTEE

Mr M Zwane (Chairman)
Ms E Letlape
Mr R Zihlangu

Mr MB Damane

AD HOC COMMITTEE ON 
PROJECT IKHWEZI

Mr Y Tenza (Chairman)
Mr N Nika

Mr R Zihlangu
Dr Z Rustomjee
Mr MM Zwane

STRATEGY AND GROWTH
COMMITTEE

Mr C Molusi (Chairman)
Dr AMB Mokaba
Dr Z Rustomjee
Mr Z Mavuso
Mr Y Tenza

RISK MANAGEMENT AND SAFETY COMMITTEE
Ms N Medupe (Chairman), Adv. L Makatini,
Ms N Jiyane, Mr Y Tenza, Mr MM Zwane

RESIGNATIONS
Mr MB Damane (16 September 2011), Mr Z Mavuso (28 February 2012), Ms A Osman (30 April 2012)

•	 Board Evaluation
Questionnaires for the Board’s and Committee’s self-
evaluation were circulated to directors. However, due 
to the fact that the majority of directors were newly 
appointed and some had resigned, the process was 
deferred to a later stage. 

•	 Business rescue proceedings or other turnaround 
mechanisms
The Board is of the view that at this stage this provision 
is not relevant, but it will be considered when the need 
arises.

Board of Directors
In terms of S49 of the PFMA, the Board is the accounting 
authority of PetroSA. The Group has a unitary Board structure 
made up of a majority of non-executive directors, appointed 
by the shareholder. The Board retains overall accountability 
for the running of the Company and reserves, for itself, 
decisions on matters that could have a material impact on 
the business. To that end, the Executive Management is 
charged with the day-to-day running of business, with the 
Board addressing a range of key issues to ensure that it 

retains the strategic direction of, and proper control over, the 
Group. The non-executive directors are appointed on a three-
year cycle and re-appointment is not automatic. The Board 
meets at least once every quarter and met eight times during 
the period under review. 

The Board’s primary responsibilities include the appointment 
of the GCEO, giving strategic direction to the Company, 
ensuring that policies and procedures are in place, monitoring 
the performance of the Company against agreed objectives, 
identifying key performance and risk areas, providing effective 
leadership on an ethical foundation, ensuring that there is an 
effective risk-based internal audit function, de� ning levels of 
materiality, reserving speci� c powers to itself and delegating 
other matters, with the necessary written authority, to the 
GCEO, ensuring that timelines for the submission of reports 
are in compliance with the PFMA and other applicable 
laws affecting the business are adhered to, including the 
submission of � nancial statements and ensuring that on an 
annual basis a Shareholder’s Compact is concluded with the 
shareholder in respect of agreed performance indicators for 
the Company in the next year.
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Board committees
The Board established several committees in order to assist 
it in the discharge of its duties. All committees operate under 
Board-approved terms of reference, which may be updated 
from time to time to align with the latest developments in 
corporate governance. Each committee operates within 
these de� ned terms of reference and is chaired by a non-
executive director.

Board Audit and Compliance Committee (BACC)
The Board Audit and Compliance committee comprises at 
least three independent non-executive directors appointed 
by the shareholder at each annual general meeting. The 
committee meets at least four times per annum. The 
committee is chaired by an independent non-executive 
director who is not the chairman of the Board.

The committee consists of four members with � nancial, 
internal and external audit, corporate law and other relevant 
experience. The committee’s charter is reviewed annually by 
the Board.

The audit and compliance committee function is shared 
across all the subsidiaries under the ownership control 
of the PetroSA Group and is responsible for ensuring the 
integrity of � nancial reporting and monitoring the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the governance, risk management and 
control processes of the Group. 

The BACC is responsible for overseeing the internal audit 
function, group compliance function and the external audit 
process. The External Auditor and Chief Internal Auditor have 
unrestricted access to the committee and attend all BACC 
meetings.

The Group Chief Executive Of� cer (GCEO) and Chief Financial 
Of� cer are permanent invitees to the BACC meetings. Other 
executive managers are invited to the committee meetings 
when appropriate.

Board Human Capital Committee (HCC)
This committee is chaired by a non-executive director and 
comprises non-executive directors appointed by the Board. 
The GCEO and the Vice President: Human Capital attend the 
committee meetings by invitation.

This committee reviews and recommends annual 
remuneration increases, terms and conditions of 
employment, the payment of incentives and bonuses, 
general fringe bene� ts, human capital-related policies and the 
appointment of senior staff at an executive level.

Risk Management and Safety Committee (RMSC)
The Board is charged with ensuring that the Company has 
and maintains an effective, ef� cient and transparent system 
of � nancial and risk management and internal controls. 
The Board remains accountable, but has delegated its risk 
management function to the RMSC. 

The RMSC membership comprises non-executive directors 
and is chaired by a non-executive director. It is dedicated 
to reviewing and optimising risk within the Group. It also 
has a delegated responsibility to ensure implementation 
and maintenance of the relevant enterprise-wide risk 
management, SHEQ and forensic policies throughout the 
PetroSA Group. 

The RMSC assumes overall Group responsibility for 
monitoring adherence to the enterprise-wide risk 
management policy and the risk management performance 
and for providing high-level risk assessment to the Board on 
an on-going basis.

Business Performance and Monitoring Committee 
(BPMC)
The primary objective of the committee is to assist the 
Board in carrying out its responsibilities in relation to broader 
aspects of performance within the organisation and the 
reporting thereof to the shareholder in terms of the Public 
Finance Management Act, the Shareholder’s Compact, and 
in keeping with the King III report.

The membership of the committee consists of three non-
executive directors appointed by the Board. The committee is 
chaired by a non-executive director.

Strategy and Growth Committee (GSC)
The purpose of GSC is to develop a long-term strategic 
plan for PetroSA that incorporates the business vision and 
mission, taking cognisance of the Company’s goals and 
objectives, as well as the best interest of the shareholder.

The committee’s recommendations to the Board on new 
projects are based on in-depth analysis, conscientious 
discussion and careful consideration of the potential impacts 
of its high-level strategic decisions.

The committee consists of four non-executive directors and 
is also chaired by a non-executive director.

Ad hoc Committee on Project Ikhwezi
The purpose of this committee is solely to monitor and 
control expenditure, scope and schedule of this project, 
to maintain relations with the project stakeholders, ensure 
strategic alignment is achieved, to ensure the project is 
adequately resourced and delivered on time, within budget 
and to speci� cations.

The committee consists of three non-executive directors and 
two executive directors. It is chaired by the former acting 
CEO, an executive director. Members of this committee 
were selected based on their specialist knowledge, ability 
to represent the interests of stakeholders and ability to help 
resolve issues the project may encounter.

Company Secretary
The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that 
the Company affairs as well as the Board proceedings are 
properly carried out in accordance with the relevant laws and 
standards.

She is also responsible for providing the Board of directors 
with guidance as to how they should properly discharge 
their duties and responsibilities in the best interest of the 
Company.

Each of the directors has unrestricted access to the advice 
and services of the Company Secretarial team and company 
information, and is entitled to seek independent professional 
advice, at the company’s expense, in pursuance of their 
duties as director.
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The Board

Dr Benny Mokaba 
BA (Hons), PHD (Soc Policy)

Dr Mokaba is an independent consultant on Energy Planning and Options. He has served 
in various leadership roles in the Energy Sector in South Africa, in companies such as Shell, 
Sasol, Steinmuller and Siemens. Dr Mokaba holds a PhD in Social Policy from Brandeis 
University.

He also served on the Boards of WWF South Africa and the South African National Energy 
Association (SANEA), and was appointed Chairman of PetroSA in April 2011. 

Mr Yekani Tenza
BCom (Acc), BCompt (Hons), MBA, CPA 

Mr Tenza joined the PetroSA Board in September 2009. He is a former President and CEO 
of the Foskor Group Ltd. He has also served as Chief Operating Of� cer of the Road Accident 
Fund. Mr Tenza’s previous directorships include those of Foskor Ltd, Tshepo-Themba Private 
Hospital (Pty) Ltd, Botshelong-Empilweni Private Hospital (Pty) Ltd, Louis Pasteur Private 
Hospital (Pty) Ltd and Clinix Health Management (Pty) Ltd. He also sits on the CEF (Pty) Ltd 
Board.

On 21 July 2011 the PetroSA Board appointed Mr Tenza to the position of Acting CEO of 
PetroSA until 29 February 2012.

Dr Zavareh Rustomjee
BSc (Chem Eng), MPhil (Development Economics), PHD (Economics)

Dr Rustomjee is an independent consultant. He currently serves on the Boards of the CEF, 
Electricity Distribution Industry (EDI) Holdings, South African Gas Development Company and 
Business Partners Ltd.

He joined the PetroSA Board in September 2009.
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Mr Dalikhaya Rain Zihlangu
BSc (Min Eng), MDP, MBA

A businessman, Mr Zihlangu is a Director of various investment and mining companies. He has 
held positions as CEO and Executive Manager with various well-known companies, including 
Alexkor and Impala Platinum.

Mr Zihlangu was appointed to the Board in 2006 and his term as Director was renewed in 
December 2009. 

Adv. Linda Makatini
BA (Law), LLM

Adv. Makatini is currently Chief Executive Of� cer of Ngwane Mining. She is an international 
lawyer with more than 10 years’ experience in the public sector. She has served in an 
advisory capacity to the then Minister of Minerals and Energy (1996-1998) as well as the then 
Deputy President JG Zuma (1999-2005) and is presently Chairperson of the State Diamond 
Trader and a Director of both the CEF and Strategic Fuels Fund.

Adv. Makatini was appointed to the PetroSA Board in January 2010. 

Ms Nondumiso Medupe
BCom (CA) SA

Ms Medupe is a founding director of Indyebo Consulting. She has more than 18 years’ 
experience in Internal Auditing, Risk Management and Financial Management.

Ms Medupe is a Board member of City Lodge and Metro� le and joined the PetroSA Board in 
January 2010.
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Ms Esther Letlape
BAdmin, BA (Hons) (Industrial Psychology)

Ms Esther Letlape is HR Director at SAPPI Southern Africa. She previously served at Sasol Oil 
as a Human Resources Executive. Ms Letlape has extensive experience in human resource 
management and has served in leadership positions at various organisations, including 
Transwerk (division of Transnet), Murray & Roberts Construction and JIC Mining (a division of 
Mvela Mining).

She was appointed to the PetroSA Board in April 2011.

Mr Connie Molusi
BA (Journalism), MA

Mr Molusi is a veteran of the media industry in South Africa. He has worked as a senior 
journalist for the South African Press Association and served a stint as a Communications 
Advisor to South Africa’s � rst post-apartheid government. A former CEO of Johnnic Media, Mr 
Molusi has also previously served on the Boards of Foneworx, Sishen Iron Ore, Johannesburg 
Tourism and Business Against Crime, among others.

He was appointed to the PetroSA Board in April 2011. 

Mr Musa Zwane 
MSc (Chem), MBA

Mr Zwane was appointed CEO of SAA Technical in November 2010. Prior to SAA Technical, 
he spent 14 years at Sasol, most recently as Managing Director of Sasol Gas. He joined Sasol 
in 1996, where he held a range of other roles such as General Manager: Sales & Marketing 
at Sasol Gas, General Manager: Heating Fuels at Sasol Oil, and he was also a member of the 
Executive Team at Sasol Synthetic Fuels. Prior to Sasol, Mr Zwane was Chemical Services 
Manager with Eskom and a Senior Research Scientist at AECI Ltd.

He was appointed to the PetroSA Board in April 2011. 

Ms Nonhlanhla Jiyane 
ND (Chem), BCom, MA Acc (Taxation), CA (SA)

A chartered accountant, Ms Jiyane is a managing partner at Chili & Co., a � rm of accountants 
and auditors. She previously worked as a Project Manager at SARS, as a cost and laboratory 
analyst at Shell & BP Lubricants, and as a part-time audit lecturer at the University of 
Zululand. In 2009 Ms Jiyane completed an MA degree in taxation. She also serves as a 
Director of Khwezi Mining and Thebe Investment Corporation.

She was appointed to the PetroSA Board in April 2011. 

The Board continued
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Ms Poloko Sindiso V Ngaba
Company Secretary
BJuris, LLB, LLM, MDP, SMP

Ms Ngaba has held various legal advisory positions at the Cape Peninsula University of 
Technology and the National Ports Authority. An admitted advocate of the High Court, she 
was awarded the Fullbright Scholarship in 1987 to study for an LLM degree at Georgetown 
University, Washington DC.

Ms Ngaba was appointed PetroSA Company Secretary in November 2002.

Executive Directors
Ms Nosizwe Nocawe Nokwe-Macamo
Group CEO
BSc, MSc

Ms Nokwe-Macamo joined PetroSA as Group CEO on 1 March 2012. She was previously 
employed as the Director-General of the Gauteng Provincial Government. Among other roles, 
she has held various senior positions at Engen, including General Manager for Mozambique 
and Namibia.

Mr Nkosemntu Gladman Nika
Chief Financial Of� cer
BCom, BCompt (Hons), CA (SA), AMP

Mr Nika was previously Executive Manager: Finance at the Development Bank of Southern 
Africa (DBSA). He has also held various internal auditing positions at Eskom, Shell and Anglo 
American Limited.

He was appointed Executive Director in September 2003.

The Company Secretary
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Chairman’s Statement

Global Environment
The global petroleum industry will remember the � nancial year 
2011/12 for the sustained global geopolitical and economic 
uncertainty which buttressed record annual average crude 
prices (2012: US$107.2/barrel for Brent, a year-on-year 
increase of 27%), while fuelling uncertainty about short- to 
medium-term market directions. While elevated oil prices 
tend to support supply-side investments, they result in a 
sympathetic rise in asset prices, especially as competition for 
hydrocarbon assets and services rises, and resource holders 
increase economic rent calls on the back of such events as 
the Arab Spring.

As a resource-seeking NOC, PetroSA was thus operating in 
a largely hostile economic environment, especially as efforts 
to expand the Company’s global footprint continued, in line 
with its Vision 2020 growth strategy. I am pleased, therefore, 
that 2011/12 was yet another successful � nancial year for 
PetroSA, with Group pro� t increasing by 68% year on year. 
While PetroSA bene� ted from high crude oil prices, its focus 
on ef� ciency improvement and cost control helped mitigate 
the impact of declining domestic gas production, which will 
be reversed with the coming on-stream of the F-O (or Project 
Ikhwezi) � eld in 2013.

In November 2011 we announced the appointment of 
Ms Nosizwe Nokwe-Macamo as Group Chief Executive 
Of� cer, who assumed of� ce in March 2012. We are pleased 
to have at the helm of our National Oil Company (NOC) a 
leader with impressive credentials. The Board and staff of 
PetroSA have full con� dence in her and we look forward to 
the Company growing from strength to strength under her 
stewardship as she takes it into its second decade. 

Corporate Governance and 
Stakeholder Management
The PetroSA Board and the Executive Management team 
take corporate governance seriously. We welcomed the 
enactment, during the � nancial year under review, of the 
Companies Act 71 of 2008. Together with the Public Finance 

Management Act 1 of 1999, the Companies Act 71 of 2008 
guides our important governance role within the NOC.

As required by the Act, the Board has now formed a Social 
and Ethics Committee which, in addition to assuming an 
overseeing role in terms of our corporate social responsibility 
and our relations with various stakeholders, now also 
consolidates some of the work previously performed by 
some of our committees. This is particularly important given 
our intention for PetroSA to always be a socially responsible 
corporate citizen with its stakeholders. 

Organisational Transformation
From its formation in 1965 as SOEKOR (Pty) Ltd, our 
company has made tremendous strides. Over the years it 
has traded under different names: as Mossref (Pty) Ltd from 
August 1986, as Mossgas (Pty) Ltd from 1989 and, following 
the merger of Soekor and Mossgas, as PetroSA from 2002. 

Throughout this period, the Company has served South 
Africa well, dutifully executing its mandate of ensuring security 
of the country’s liquid fuels supply, while relying largely 
on a single source of income, the GTL Re� nery in Mossel 
Bay, with a 5% market share in the country. Our revised 
mandate requires us to be “a sustainable, fully-integrated, 
commercially-competitive National Oil Company, supplying at 
least 25% of South Africa’s liquid fuel needs by 2020”.

To realise its full potential and reach the targets set for 
it, PetroSA has to be suf� ciently empowered, properly 
structured for growth and appropriately positioned and 
marketed. Already a considerable amount of work has gone 
into growing the Company and diversifying its sources of 
income. At the same time marketing work is under way to 
position PetroSA for entry into the downstream side of the 
business and for the decade ahead. 

The Board remains grateful for the ongoing support of our 
shareholder. We welcomed the acknowledgement by the 
Minister of Energy, Ms Dipuo Peters, of PetroSA’s role as a 
key player in the liquid fuels sector. 
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As I indicated in my report last year, transformation - 
especially the advancement of women and people living 
with disabilities – is a key strategic imperative for PetroSA. 
Although we have not yet reached our target of at least 
35% of our employees at all levels being women, some 
improvement was recorded in the past year, during which 
women representation moved from 27% to 29%. We 
appointed three employees living with disabilities and 
continue to focus on people living with disabilities through our 
programmes. We are not content with this progress, but are 
heartened by the plans that the executive management team 
has in place to ensure continued improvement. 

Project Update
The past � nancial year has seen signi� cant progress made 
with regards to Project Mthombo, the proposed new re� nery 
in the Eastern Cape. The project presents an opportunity for 
the development of a petrochemicals industry in the Eastern 
Cape that will produce precursors for the polymers industry. 
It also provides a platform for unlocking growth in the Coega 
Industrial Development Zone (CIDZ) by supplying key utilities 
required by industrial investors in the IDZ.

In September 2011 PetroSA signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding with China’s Sinopec in Beijing, followed 
by the Company signing a Joint Study Agreement in Port 
Elizabeth in May 2012. Over the next year, pre-FEED studies 
will be conducted to optimise the business case for the 
re� nery and advance the project to the FEED phase.

The Board also welcomes PetroSA’s planned strategic entry 
into Ghana through the acquisition of Sabre Oil and Gas’s 
assets in that country. This will give the Company access 
to both reserves and a new source of income from the 
producing Jubilee � eld. 

Grateful
The Board and I are grateful for the support that we have 
received throughout the year from the Government, and in 
particular from the Presidency, from Minister Dipuo Peters, 
from Deputy Minister Barbara Thompson and from the 

CEF Board. Our thanks and appreciation also go to fellow 
Directors Nkosemntu Nika and Yekani Tenza, who stood 
in as Acting CEOs at different times of the year under 
review, to Group CEO Nosizwe Nokwe-Macamo and her 
executive management team, and to all staff members for 
their continued contribution to the Company’s success. We 
also thank the many stakeholders with whom PetroSA does 
business and interacts on a regular basis.

Personally, I would like to thank my fellow Directors for their 
support and their dedicated stewardship of the Company.

AMB Mokaba (PhD)
Chairman

Dutifully executing its mandate of ensuring security of 
liquid fuels supply while relying largely on a single source 
of income, the GTL re� nery in Mossel Bay, with a 5% 
market share in the country.
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SUSTAINABILITY

GTL.F1: Driving growth through innovation
PetroSA’s Mossel Bay refi nery symbolises the innovative talent that will grow and 
sustain our business. Commissioned in 1992, it was the fi rst refi nery in the world to use 
gas-to-liquids (GTL) technology. Today it is a base for GTL.F1, a joint venture driving the 
development of cheaper, cleaner hydrocarbon fuels globally.

The GTLF.1 story dates as far back as 1986 when Statoil, Norway’s National Oil 
Company, launched its Fischer Tropsch research and development (R&D) programme. 

In 2002 PetroSA and Statoil formed a joint venture (JV). While Statoil brought extensive 
R&D know-how to the alliance, we added over 20 years of operational excellence, 
innovation and project execution skills in this area. This can be attributed to the fact that 
PetroSA, after all, commissioned and operated the world’s fi rst commercial GTL plant.
The JV sanctioned a project to construct a demonstration plant at PetroSA’s Mossel 
Bay facility to demonstrate and commercialise the Low-Temperature Fischer Tropsch 
(LTFT) technology using a cobalt catalyst and slurry bubble column reactor (SBCR). 
In 2005 GTL.F1 was founded to develop and licence the technology developed at the 
demonstration plant. Lurgi GmbH, now owned by the Air Liquide Group, completed the 
partnership, bringing with it extensive design, engineering, marketing and technology 
licensing experience.
In July 2011 Statoil sold its interest to the remaining two parties and the participation 
interest in GTL.F1 was divided equally between PetroSA and Lurgi. 

Licensed to thrive
Today GTL.F1 owns the intellectual property (IP), know-how and engineering expertise 
to license large-scale plants using GTL.F1´s proprietary Fischer Tropsch technology. 
Licensing activities started in 2009 with the development of the licensor development 
package (LDP).
At present GTL.F1’s competitors only offer to projects where they have substantial 
equity shares. As a result, GTL.F1 is building a strong position in the open Fischer 
Tropsch market, where competition is limited. 

Cleaner, greener, better 
Aiming to sell its fi rst licence, GTL.F1 has recently completed a number of concept 
studies for prospective clients across all continents involving biomass-to-liquids (BTL), 
coal-to-liquids (CTL) and GTL technology. 
Interest in GTL.F1’s technology continues to grow and unconventional liquid 
hydrocarbons produced via the Fischer Tropsch route are expected to grow their market 
share signifi cantly. 
Among other drivers, oil prices are rising, coal-rich countries are looking for new ways 
to reduce their dependence on external energy sources and there is renewed focus 
on making stranded gas reserves commercially viable. In addition, new shale gas 
discoveries in the US continue to reduce gas prices. Meanwhile the search for cleaner, 
greener transportation fuels made from renewable resources is accelerating.

Focus on Innovation
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For the full GTL.F1 story, see www.petrosa.com/gtl_technology

GTL.F1’s partners have spearheaded the development of 
Fischer Tropsch products for years. Now the restructured 
joint venture is preparing to apply the results of its 
breakthrough technology to commercial opportunities 
worldwide.

PetroSA’s participation interest in GTL.F1 remains core 
to our growth strategy. The partnership’s advanced 
technology will help our business to maximise the 
value of our upstream assets and secure a position in 
downstream markets.
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The � nal product slate comprises LPG, petrol, premium diesel, 
iso-paraf� nic process oils, waxes and chemicals.

Focus on Innovation

Fischer Tropsch Defi ned
The Fischer Tropsch process is a key component of the unique gas-to-liquids (GTL) technology 
used at PetroSA’s Mossel Bay re� nery. The process comprises a collection of chemical reactions 
that converts a mixture of carbon monoxide and hydrogen into liquid hydrocarbons.
Our Mossel Bay re� nery uses this unique technology to produce lique� ed petroleum gas (LPG), petrol, 
diesel and value-added chemicals. It is one of the largest GTL re� neries in the world, with the capacity to 
produce 36 000 bbl/day of high-quality fuels from natural gas and condensate.

Step 001
The gas reforming step 
involves the production 
of synthesis gas (syngas), 
where natural gas is 
converted to carbon 
monoxide (CO) and 
hydrogen (H2).

Step 002
Involves working up 
the hydrocarbons to 
transport fuels and value-
added chemicals using 
conventional re� ning 
technologies. 

Step 003
Involves converting the 
syngas via the Fischer 
Tropsch process into 
hydrocarbon molecules, 
ranging from methane to 
waxes.

The GTL conversion process comprises three main steps:
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Risk Management and Compliance

Governance of risk management and 
compliance
The PetroSA Board of Directors (‘the Board’) is responsible 
for ensuring that the Company has and maintains an 
effective, ef� cient and transparent system of enterprise-wide 
risk management and internal control. The Board remains 
accountable, but has delegated its responsibility for the risk 
management function to the Risk Management and Safety 
Committee (RMSC) and, likewise, the Group compliance 
function responsibility to the Board Audit and Compliance 
Committee (BACC). 

Both the RMSC and BACC are properly constituted 
committees consisting of only non-executive directors 
and each one is chaired by an independent non-executive 
director. The committees are respectively dedicated to 
reviewing and monitoring risk management within the Group 
and the reporting of non-compliance and ethical matters. 

RMSC
The RMSC assumes overall group responsibility for 
monitoring adherence to the risk management procedures, 
risk management performance and for providing a high-level 
risk assessment to the Board of Directors on an on-going 
basis. In addition, all safety, health, environment and quality 
(SHEQ) activities are reported to the RMSC as part of their 
oversight role.

BACC
The Board is responsible for the PetroSA Group’s compliance 
with laws and regulations and ensures that the Company 
implements a compliance framework and processes that 
are effective. The Board has a duty to identify the laws, 
regulations and non-binding rules and standards applicable to 
the Company. The Board Audit and Compliance Committee 
has an independent role with accountability to both the Board 
and the shareholder. All Group compliance function activities 
are reported to the BACC for monitoring and providing the 
status of compliance across the Group to the Board on an 
on-going basis.

Combined Assurance
The Group has formulated a combined assurance framework 
that will be utilised by all PetroSA assurance providers to 
ensure a broader coverage of risks facing the organisation. 
The framework was approved by RMSC and BACC in 
the 2011/12 � nancial year, with the implementation plan 
subsequently approved for the 2012/13 � nancial year. This 
combined assurance plan is intended to provide additional 
comfort to the Board in respect of the PetroSA group risk and 
control environment. 

Group responsibility for risk 
management 
Enterprise-wide Risk Management 
The Risk Management and Compliance Department reports 
to the Group CEO. The primary role of the Risk Management 
Department is to design, implement and monitor the process 
of enterprise-wide risk management and its integration into 
the day-to-day activities of the Company. 

PetroSA’s philosophy on enterprise-wide risk management 
is that of proactive management of risks, whilst exploiting 
any related opportunities that could present themselves as 
risks. To this end, the Risk Management and Compliance 
Department, under the guidance of the Group CEO, has put 
in place a number of governance structures and documents, 
and these are subject to yearly reviews to ensure alignment 
with best practices. These documents are served before both 
EXCO and the Board and approved by them respectively. The 
current governance policies in place include:

•	 Group Compliance Policy

•	 Enterprise-Wide Risk Management Policy

•	 Business Continuity Management Policy

•	 Prevention of Fraud and Corruption Policy

•	 Gift Register Procedure and Declarations of Related Party 
Interests

•	 Code of Ethics

Other governance structures, which are EXCO sub-
committees put in place and functioning in the past � nancial 
year, include:

•	 Information Technology Steering Committee (aligns 
IT investment with business requirements and reviews 
high level IT risks)

•	 Proposals Committee (technical review committee 
comprising all relevant disciplines to assess proposals and 
recommend to EXCO for approval) 

•	 Group Assurance Committee (established by 
EXCO to assist them in coordinating and reviewing in 
detail operational assurance activities, including risk 
evaluation, risk management, compliance and risk control 
responsibilities as they relate to all PetroSA operational 
risks of the business).

Some of these governing policies and structures have been 
supplemented with work procedures, practice frameworks 
and terms of references. Risks are continuously identi� ed 
throughout the organisation, including mitigation strategies 
and, where appropriate, management action plans. This 
process is rolled into the development of a corporate strategic 
risk register that is dynamic in nature and reviewed quarterly 
by EXCO, RMSC and the Board.

In line with integrating and embedding a culture of enterprise-
wide risk management, risk management plays a pivotal role 
and informs key decisions taken by management and the 
Board. 



033PetroSA Annual Report 2012

Fraud risk management 
The Company is committed to the prevention of fraud, 
corruption, misconduct and any irregularities. The Fraud 
Prevention Policy addresses fraud risk management both 
proactively and reactively. 

The Group has an outsourced whistle blower hotline which is 
made available to staff, various stakeholders and members 
of the public. All reported cases are treated with the utmost 
con� dentiality to protect the rights of both the whistle blower 
and the alleged party. 

Compliance risk management 
The PetroSA Board of Directors are accountable for ensuring 
that there is compliance with laws, regulations, policies and 
procedures and any adopted standards applicable to the 
Company. The function of compliance has been delegated 
throughout the Company based on specialist areas. In 
addition, the Group compliance function is charged with 
assisting management in discharging its responsibility 
to comply with statutory, regulatory and supervisory 
requirements by facilitating the development, establishment 
and maintenance of an ef� cient and effective compliance risk 
management process. 

As a principle, PetroSA does not tolerate non-compliance 
with laws, regulations and any of its own standards. 

Through the Group Compliance Function, the recording of 
non-compliances company-wide using the materiality levels 
(quantitative and qualitative) de� ned in the Group Compliance 
Policy is designed to provide EXCO and the Board with the 
status of the compliance environment. 

In order to enable this function, the Board approved 
a Group Compliance Policy.  PetroSA has developed 
compliance procedures to ensure that every employee 
and every stakeholder in the compliance function is fully 
aware of his/her responsibilities within the compliance risk 

management framework. As part of inculcating the culture of 
compliance within the Group, EXCO signs off a management 
representation letter to the Group CEO and the Board, 
declaring and attesting to either issues of con� ict of interest 
or absence thereof, compliance to laws/policies/procedures 
and pronouncing that they have applied risk management 
techniques in the discharge of their duties. 

Business Continuity Management as a discipline within 
PetroSA maintains a collection of plans readily accessible and 
available for use in the event of a disaster or major disruptions 
to business activities. These plans are empowered by an 
approved Business Continuity Management Policy. This 
policy requires that all Business Continuity Plans across the 
organisation be kept ready for execution and be updated at 
least annually or as and when material changes to business 
processes occur. 

PetroSA maintains Business Continuity Plans for all of its 
locations and business-critical processes. These plans are all 
updated and tested for their relevance and ability to mitigate 
scenarios described in the plans and strategy. 

The Group Compliance function, through training, awareness 
and deployment of an Employee Group Compliance Manual, 
ensured their continued relevance through the allocation of 
these plans to different role players in the Company. 

The Employee Group Compliance Manual is a condensed 
summation of the code of ethics policy, gift register procedure 
and declaration of related party interests, prevention of fraud 
and corruption policy and other conduct-related policies and 
procedures.

Quarterly Group Compliance Reports are tabled to EXCO 
and the Board in which key risks, ethical issues, major 
developments and compliance incidents are brought to their 
attention in line with the de� ned materiality levels.
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Risks and Opportunities

RISK DESCRIPTION 001 CONTROLS IN PLACE

•	 Continual	appraisal	of	known	gas	accumulations	near	gas	gathering	infrastructure

•	 Implementation	of	the	Project	Ikhwezi	to	increase	gas	feedstock	to	the	GTL	Refi	nery

•	 Alternative	supply	study	for	GTL	Refi	nery

RISK DESCRIPTION 002

RISK DESCRIPTION 003

RISK DESCRIPTION 004

RISK DESCRIPTION 005

CONTROLS IN PLACE

CONTROLS IN PLACE

CONTROLS IN PLACE

CONTROLS IN PLACE

•	 Discretionary	cost	management	and	containment	across	the	organisation	in	
order to reduce cash outfl ows and enhance revenues

•	 Actively	manage	indigenous	gas	and	condensate	volumes

•	 Manage	cost	of	imported	products

•	 Balance	sheet	optimisation

•	 Continuous	and	prudent	contract	management	to	reduce	the	volatility	of	prices

•	 Discretionary	cost	management	and	containment	across	the	organisation	in	order	
to reduce cash outfl ows and enhance revenues

•	 Managing	liquidity	risk

•	 Working	capital	management

•	 Implementation	of	a	governance	structure	and	framework

•	 Prevention	of	fraud	and	corruption	policy,	plan	and	procedures

•	 Fraud	awareness	campaigns

•	 Experienced	and	skilled	investigative	capacities

•	 Defi	ne	minimum	capacity	operating	conditions	to	reduce	gas	consumption

•	 Minimise	well	depletion	through	optimal	well	and	reservoir	management

•	 Reduce	unanticipated	plant	failure	phenomena	caused	by	critical	equipment	failure	
and accidents

•	 Value	chain	optimisation	with	Trading	Supply	&	Logistics

1
2
3
4
5

Failure to secure commercially 
viable future feedstock for the

GTL plant in Mossel Bay

Failure to achieve 
targeted profi t

Inability to contain costs
and the non-optimal

return on investments

Failure to prevent, detect
and respond to fraud and

corruption

Failure to achieve
budgeted fi nancial results

in Operations
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RISK DESCRIPTION 006 CONTROLS IN PLACE

RISK DESCRIPTION 007

RISK DESCRIPTION 008

RISK DESCRIPTION 009

RISK DESCRIPTION 010

CONTROLS IN PLACE

CONTROLS IN PLACE

CONTROLS IN PLACE

CONTROLS IN PLACE

6
7
8
9
10

Mis-alignment between IS 
and Corporate Business 

Strategy

Non-compliance with laws,
standards, regulations and

practices

Failure to achieve 
Transformation Targets

Non-compliance and non-
conformance to key SHEQ 

regulatory requirements 
(legislation, standards, policies 

and procedures)

Failure to execute
Project Mthombo

•	 Approved	IS	strategy

•	 Formal	Information	Communication	Technology	Steering	Committee	

•	 Key	user	forums

•	 Master	Systems	Plan	managed	and	prioritised	by	the	Information	Communication	
Technology Steering Committee

•	 Compliance	policies,	procedures	and	code	of	ethics

•	 Compliance	Framework

•	 Compliance	awareness	sessions

•	 Formalised	governance	structures	and	compliance	function

•	 Business	unit	compliance	champions

•	 Transformation	targets	embedded	in	performance	management

•	 Education	and	awareness	sessions

•	 Employment	equity	forums	to	monitor	progress	and	regulatory	submissions	to	
Department of Labour

•	 Procurement	Policies	and	Procedures

•	 Regular	monitoring	and	reporting	on	B-BBEE	targets

•	 Emergency	Response	Planning
•	 Health	Safety	Environmental	Policy,	Quality	Policy	and	Security	Policy
•	 Incident	Management	System
•	 Internal	&	External	audits	of	SHEQ	Management	Systems	for	certifi	cation	under

ISO 9001 and ISO 4001
•	 Internal	and	external	legal	compliance
•	 Site-specifi	c	SHEQ	legal	registers	at	Head	Offi	ce	and	facilities	covering	safety,	health	and	

environmental aspects

•	 Critical	stakeholders	identifi	ed	and	stakeholder	management	roadmap	fi	nalised

•	 Environmental	approval	process	plan

•	 Funding	strategy

•	 Licensing	and	permit	matrix	developed

•	 Partnership	strategy
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Building bonds 
As a business, particularly as a state-owned company, 
PetroSA takes all its stakeholders seriously and seeks to 
create strong, mutually-bene� cial relations with them. By 
‘stakeholder’, we mean all individuals and entities that 
potentially have an interest in PetroSA, have an in� uence on 
PetroSA or that are impacted on or potentially impacted on 
by our company and any of its activities. 
In line with this de� nition, our stakeholders range from the 
Government in its dual capacity as shareholder and regulator, 
to opinion formers, like the media, through to ordinary 
members of the community, either as individuals or as 
members of organised groups. 
Our intention is to develop and maintain good relations with 
all our stakeholders through continuous engagement. We 
engage stakeholders across all spheres of Government as 
well as regulators, legislators, communities, civil society, 
investors, non-governmental organisations, customers, 
suppliers, media and employees, among others. The Chief 
Financial Of� cer, the Vice-President: Human Capital, the 
Procurement, Warehousing & Transport Manager and the 
Vice-President: Corporate Affairs and Shared Services have 
direct responsibility for the coordination and management 
of relations with investor, employee, supplier and general 
stakeholder groups. 
As a company, we view continuous engagement with these 
stakeholders as an opportunity to align our strategy with 
Government’s development agenda and meet South Africa’s 
need for sustainability and economic growth. 

Stakeholder Engagement

Government, regulators, legislators 
The Chairman of the Board and the GCEO keep the 
Presidency, the Ministry of Energy and CEF up to date with 
all our activities, as part of an effort to maintain consistent 
and harmonious relations on this level. Other Government 
departments which are key to our operations are the 
Department of International Relations and Co-operation, 
Department of Trade and Industry, the Parliamentary Portfolio 
Committee on Energy to whom periodic brie� ngs are held 
to inform and respond to questions on perceived or real 
company or industry issues that may have arisen. (NERSA) 
National Energy Regulator of South Africa and National 
Treasury are other key units within this stakeholder group. 

Employees 
The Board of Directors and executive management see 
PetroSA employees as a crucial stakeholder group. 
Information about the Company is shared timeously through 
the internal communication channels and quarterly business 
updates. Our Human Capital Division manages relations with 
labour unions through an Employee Relations Forum. 

Customers
From the time we began trading nearly a decade ago, we 
have been on a steady journey of continuously improving our 
relationship with customers, both in South Africa and abroad. 
At the heart of this is a determination to constantly deliver 
quality products and services. 
To augment our internal TS&L capacity, we continue to form 
joint venture partnerships that help us deliver value to our 
markets around the world. Trade negotiations occur on the 
basis of fairness, predictability and reliability, thereby limiting 
chances for disappointments and complaints.

Suppliers
Ef� cient, professional and ethical suppliers are very critical 
for our competitive success and sustainable stakeholder 
relations.
Our procurement policies have recently undergone a rigorous 
upgrade, in order to prevent any possible irregularities and 
prevent corrupt practices that may develop. We also have 
a strong emphasis on the B-BBEE principles, and all our 
suppliers must have at least a level 4 status and a valid tax 
clearance certi� cate before entering into negotiations with our 
company. 

Business partners 
PetroSA engages with other International Oil Companies 
(IOCs) and National Oil Companies (NOCs) internationally 
and within Africa via Memoranda of Understanding and joint 
partnership agreements in order to deliver on our mandate.

Competitors
PetroSA competes with its peers for market share, external 
funding and talented staff, among other things, on the basis 
of fairness, mutual respect and speed of anticipation. We 
seek to cooperate with our industry peers in building the 
industry, protecting its image and being responsible towards 
the environment. 
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Media 
On the basis of mutual respect, it is essential that we cultivate 
and maintain good relations with the media, an important 
stakeholder group. As a matter of principle, we seek to 
respond timeously to media enquiries and to be truthful in our 
responses. 

Communities, CBOs, NGOs 
Communities, community-based organisations (CBOs) and 
non-government organisations (NGOs) are key stakeholders 
whom we respect and take into account in our decision-
making where possible. They help to foster an environment 
in which we can have legitimacy to continue operating as 
a successful business and our responsibility towards these 
groups includes ensuring effective communication with them, 

and education so that we can achieve a win-win situation at 
the design stage of our activities. 
As socially responsible corporate citizens, we ensure that 
we impact positively on these communities through our 
Community Affairs investment programme and our supplier 
development programmes. 

Environment
PetroSA prides itself on being the producer of the cleanest 
fuels and on being mindful of the environment at all times. 
Within Mossel Bay, where we operate our key asset, we 
constantly contribute to environmental initiatives for the 
sustainable growth of our operations.
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Sustaining our Business

Target Actual

Crude production 0.799 MMbbls 0.395 MMbbls

Feedstock production 8.18 MMboe 7.47 MMboe

Indigenous GTL refi nery 
production

6.503 MMbbls 5.491 MMbbls

GTL production 9.309 MMbbls 7.525 MMbbls

Project Ikwhezi (F-O fi eld 
development project)

First gas scheduled May 2013

LNG importation Extended feasibility study completed
Approval for FEED given

Well-optimisation 
(programme development)

Close-out reports on two wells delivered
Further modifi cations planned

Our GTL refi nery at Mossel Bay, South Africa, is the focal 
point of our production activities. The facility is fundamental 
to sustaining our business – and driving South Africa’s 
transformation. Sourcing feedstock for the plant remains a 
strategic priority.

For a full report on our performance against our targets, see PAGE
071

Sustainability: key performance against target � gures
Sustaining our Mossel Bay GTL re� nery as a pro� table operation, using it as a platform to sustain our company
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Project Ikhwezi
Signalling a new dawn

Formally approved by the PetroSA Board in March 2011, 
Project Ikhwezi will play an instrumental role in sustaining 
the life of our gas-to-liquids (GTL) re� nery in Mossel Bay. 
It involves tapping into gas reserves in PetroSA’s F-O � eld, 
located 40km south-east of our F-A production platform off 
South Africa’s south coast.

First gas is scheduled to � ow from the F-O � eld in June / 
July 2013 and we estimate that production will continue for 
approximately six years. Further development of other gas 
prospects near the F-O � eld could potentially help to sustain 
the life of the Mossel Bay re� nery until 2025. 

Project Ikhwezi started in 2009, when PetroSA drilled eight 
wells, two of which were F-O appraisal wells. After detailed 
sub-surface modelling and studies, our exploration and 
production specialists earmarked � ve wells in the F-O � eld 
for a development case. Following a period of intensive 
development and assessment, the teams presented a 
business case based on drilling � ve long, horizontal wells into 
the complex and challenging target formations. 

Having obtained Board approval, the project passed its � rst 
key milestone in May 2011, when we awarded the drilling rig 
contract. Starting in November 2012, drilling is scheduled to 
� nish by the � rst quarter of 2015. The � ve wells will be around 
1.5km long and it will take around six months to complete 
each one. The drilling activity accounts for about 63% of the 
project’s total capital expenditure. 

In parallel, work will commence on installing the subsea 
pipelines and production infrastructure before tying the 
pipelines back to the Mossel Bay re� nery via our F-A 
platform. The subsea pipeline will be installed between 
September and December 2012. The rest of the subsea 
infrastructure will be installed between January and March 
2013. 

Beyond Project Ikhwezi
Ensuring our business remains commercially sustainable in 
the short, medium and long term is embedded in our Vision 
2020. The � rst step towards achieving this strategic objective 
involves sustaining the supply of feedstock into our gas-to-
liquids (GTL) re� nery in Mossel Bay. As the unplanned events 
and missed targets highlighted in this section demonstrate, 
this remains a pressing priority – and a signi� cant challenge. 

Project Ikhwezi will go a long way towards addressing the 
feedstock challenge − for the next six years, at least. In 
addition, the infrastructure to support this milestone initiative 
will also help to unlock additional hydrocarbon reserves in 
the surrounding area. At best, this might provide another � ve 
years of feedstock.

We need to look further a� eld to keep the Mossel Bay re� nery 
operating in the long term − and the search is under way.

We completed an extended feasibility study into importing 
lique� ed natural gas (LNG) into Mossel Bay, amongst others. 
The study con� rmed that LNG importation is technically and 
commercially viable. The source of this new feedstock is not 
yet clear, but the discovery of massive natural gas reserves 
off the coast of Mozambique presents new options. In 

Strategic Overview

Project Ikhwezi is a Nguni word for ‘morning star’.
This milestone project marks the dawn of a new phase in 
the development of our business.
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The images above show the survey vessel and the 
location of the 3D survey relative to the coastline and 
offshore infrastructure (pipelines, FA platform, ORCA 
facility)

Domestic exploration and development
The main focus of our South Coast exploration activities in 2011/12 
was the acquisition of two modern, high-resolution seismic surveys.

This was the � rst new seismic data we had acquired in the southern 
offshore basins since 2001. The � rst season involved the acquisition 
of a 650km2 3D survey over the F-O � eld and adjacent prospective 
areas. The second season was dedicated to the largest seismic 
survey ever acquired in South African waters.

There are a number of discoveries and large gas prospects de� ned 
in the Central Basin 3D seismic area in the Bredasdorp Basin. 
These prospects have potentially large gas reserves for our Mossel 
Bay GTL re� nery. What’s more, they are located close to vital 
infrastructure.

Last year’s Central Basin 3D survey followed up on a number 
of these leads, prospects and discoveries as well as some oil 
prospects in the area. The survey extended over the E-M and Oryx 
producing � elds. Its objectives were to:

•	 Appraise known accumulations (for example: E-W, E-CB)

•	 Evaluate remaining potential from the Oribi, Oryx and E-M 
producing � elds.

South African exploration activities
Alongside our upstream partners, we focused on extracting 
maximum value from our offshore assets around the South African 
coast and beyond.

9.309 MMbbls budgeted), total GTL production for the year 
was 19% below budget. 

This is attributed to a number of unplanned downtime periods 
during the year, which pushed the volume of feedstock 
processed below target. Incidents included a rupture to the 
synthol steam line, resulting in 35 days unplanned downtime, 
hydrate formation on the offshore line (nine days), and a 
subsea pipe leak. The planned clean-out of the alkylation unit 
took longer than expected due to adverse weather and the 
late arrival of equipment.

Due to a combination of downtime incidents onshore and 
offshore, the landed gas rate for the year was 128kNm3/h, 
compared to the budgeted 152kNm3/h. The hydrocarbon 
gross margin was 20% below budget, at R3 048 million 
compared to R3 796 million. This is also attributed to the 
unplanned downtime.

addition, PetroSA is awaiting the South African Government’s 
of� cial position on the possible exploitation of shale gas 
reserves in the Karoo.

Performance in detail
Crude oil production
Crude oil production for the year was 51% below target at 
0.395 million barrels of oil (compared to 0.799 million barrels). 
Crude oil production from Oribi and Oryx was stopped in 
September 2011 after the DeepFlex export riser parted below 
the calm buoy. A temporary solution was implemented in 
January 2012 using the Wellstream riser that was previously 
in place. Production resumed on 10 May 2012. 

Feedstock production
Feedstock production for the year was 7% below budget at 
7.47 MMboe (versus 8.18 MMboe budgeted). Production 
was interrupted due to various technical setbacks during 
the year, resulting in low production in some months and a 
decline in gas or condensate exports.

Gas-to-liquids production
Gas-to-liquids (GTL) indigenous production for the � nancial 
year was 16% below budget, at 5.49 MMbbls compared 
to 6.52 MMbbls budgeted. At 7.525 MMbbls (compared to 
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Strategic Overview

West Coast acreage

Signi� cant technical work conducted

Having exceeded all work commitments associated with the � rst exploration phase, 
we have applied for the second exploration phase. In addition, PetroSA has been 
actively involved in seeking technical partners through a divestment process.

Block 1

PetroSA Equity:

Block 2A

PetroSA Equity:

Block 2C

PetroSA Equity:

Block 3A/4A

PetroSA Equity:

Block 5/6/7

PetroSA Equity:

Project enters gas development marketing phase

PetroSA holds a 24% stake in this production right together with Forest Oil (53.2%) 
and Anschutz (22.8%). At present, the joint venture is in the gas development 
marketing phase, which focuses on gas sales and off-take.

Identifying and locating drilling targets

PetroSA has a 24% participating interest in Block 2C with our joint-venture partners 
Forest Oil (53.2%) and Anschutz (22.8%). The joint venture focused on identifying 
and locating drilling targets within the block.

Key reviews verify leads and prospects

With our joint venture partners, BHP Billiton (60%) and Sasol (10%), we reviewed 
past technical work to verify leads and prospects in the block. 

Technical co-operation permits study under way

Here PetroSA successfully farmed out 80% equity to Anadarko Petroleum 
Corporation to complete the � rst exploration phase. The farm-out is subject to 
approval by the Minister of Mineral Resources and the Petroleum Agency SA. 

Exploration shows potential
South Africa’s West Coast holds great promise for unlocking oil and gas resources 
that could provide PetroSA with additional reserves. This map shows our West Coast 
exploration acreage.

30%

100%

100%

24%

24%
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PetroSA’s West Coast Exploration Acreage

South Coast acreage
Block 9 tracts:
E-CB, E-AA, E-CN, E-W, 
E-CC, E-AG

PetroSA Equity:

Block 9 tracts:
F-Q, E-P, E-DC

PetroSA Equity:

Block 9 tracts:
F-E, F-O

PetroSA Equity:

Block 11A

PetroSA Equity:

100%100%55% 55%
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Sustaining our talent
We implemented a number of measures to maximise the 
value of our human capital

We will only achieve our strategic objectives if we attract, 
retain and develop people with the skills and experience 
we need. As the battle for talent intensi� es across the 
petrochemical sector, we took steps to ensure that we have 
the right people with the right skills in the right positions – at 
the right time.

Workforce planning
Given the uncertainty facing the oil and gas sector, it can be 
dif� cult to forecast demand for talent. In response, last year 
we adopted a workforce planning approach that enables 
managers to perform analytical forecasts to identify talent 
demand over the next � ve years. 

This approach comprises four elements, namely estimating 
workforce demand and workforce supply, gap analysis and 
identifying various possible outcomes.

Performance management
At PetroSA, we base individual performance contracts on job 
pro� les that form an integral part of our talent management 
initiative. Using these job pro� les, to ensure performance 
contracts re� ect the work we require from our employees, 

allows us to prioritise more effectively and align performance 
contracts more closely with our corporate objectives. It also 
gives us a benchmark for applying consistent performance 
standards across employees, departments and divisions.

Skills audit
Last year we conducted a company-wide employee data and 
job data clean-up, along with a skills audit. Involving 1 800 
employees, the aim of this audit was to identify the skills and 
knowledge PetroSA needs versus the skills and knowledge 
it already has in place. The project delivered a number of 
bene� ts, outlined below:

•	 By producing a skills gap analysis, the skills audit will help 
to improve our business performance by ensuring that 
individuals receive the training and development support 
they need to � ll the identi� ed gaps; 

•	 The audit will also help us to improve our recruitment 
and training processes by providing an immediate, 
accurate skills pro� le for every employee, including their 
quali� cations and work experience inside and outside 
PetroSA;

•	 In addition, the audit will help to improve workforce 
planning, internal supply, external sourcing, retention, 
career path planning and succession planning.

Sustaining our Talent
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Developing tomorrow’s upstream professionals
The ability to locate untapped hydrocarbon reserves under the earth’s surface comes at a cost, but our future 
depends on it. That’s why nurturing people with the potential to succeed in this critical area is a strategic 
imperative. 

Last year’s seismic surveys offered valuable training and learning opportunities to our geophysicists. They 
spent time on board the seismic vessel, where they gained vital � rst-hand experience and an understanding of 
the equipment and technology used to process seismic data. During their vessel visits, our geophysicists were 
mentored by our experienced quality control representatives and were briefed to deliver detailed reports on 
what they had learnt at sea.
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Strategic overview
Going for growth
Our vision makes us responsible for delivering 25% of South 
Africa’s liquid fuel supplies by 2020. At present our market 
share is 5%, with the balance taken by international oil 
companies. To close this gap, we are exploring a range of 
initiatives and proposals designed to grow our business into 
new products, markets and territories.

Among other measures, our growth strategy involves building 
hydrocarbon reserves at home and abroad, increasing 
our sales volumes, diversifying our product portfolio and 
researching innovative production technologies.

In parallel, we continue to focus on building our re� ning 
capacity through Project Mthombo and establishing our 
brand in the downstream market.

Entering the downstream market
By the end of 2011/12, we were several steps closer to 
establishing PetroSA as a forecourt brand after having made 
signi� cant progress towards identifying and valuing the right 
downstream acquisition.

This potential acquisition will strengthen and complement 
Project Mthombo, while accelerating our strategic drive 
towards becoming a fully-integrated and commercially-
competitive National Oil Company supplying at least 25% of 
South Africa’s liquid fuels needs. 

In line with our growth strategy, iGas - the South African Gas 
Development Company (SOC) Ltd was also integrated into 
PetroSA from the CEF. With the recent discovery of huge gas 
� elds in East Africa and the possible development of shale 
gas reserves in the Karoo, there is an abundance of potential 
opportunities for this part of our business.

Growing our Business

Our involvement in milestone initiatives such as Project 
Mthombo is a clear statement of our intention to grow PetroSA 
into a world-class industry player supplying at least 25% of 
South Africa’s liquid fuel needs by 2020.

Growth: key performance against target � gures
We are growing PetroSA into a signi� cant industry player, while ensuring the security of the country’s energy supply.

Target Actual

Build re� ning capacity
(Project Mthombo)

Develop deliverables to Front End Loading 
(FEL) 1 standard by 31 March 2012

Deliverables developed to 96.8% of (FEL) 1 
standard

Enter downstream 
market

Acquire downstream asset Identifying opportunity progressing well

Acquire Bloemfontein
and Tzaneen depots

Both acquisitions completed

Operations commence December 2011

South Africa’s liquid fuel needs by 2020.

Our involvement in milestone initiatives such as Project 

For a full report on our performance against our targets, see PAGE
071

The case for Project Mthombo 
is compelling. Demand for 
refi ned fuels already exceeds 
South Africa’s capacity to 
make them. Depending on 
imports, it will drain our foreign 
exchange reserves and make 
national supply vulnerable to 
external factors.
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Building our re� ning capacity
Project Mthombo: a landmark initiative
Project Mthombo involves developing a new re� nery in the 
Eastern Cape’s Coega Industrial Development Zone (IDZ). 
The facility will play an instrumental role in PetroSA’s efforts 
to address the country’s growing supply gap in transport 
fuels. Projections indicate that this gap is set to reach at least 
200 000 barrels a day by the end of 2020, forcing South 
Africa to import a third of its transport fuels.

Locating the new re� nery at Coega offers a strategic 
opportunity and the � exibility to reduce the country’s 
dependence and risk on the Eastern Power Corridor, where 
most oil re� ning activity currently takes place. As well as 
providing PetroSA with long-term stability, Project Mthombo 
will offer secondary industries potential opportunities to 
develop around the re� nery, supporting the area’s industrial 
development while boosting the national and provincial 
economies.

During the year we made signi� cant progress towards 
engaging key stakeholders. We completed market and 
technical studies, with the focus on strengthening the 
project’s business case and attracting an anchor equity 
partner. In September 2011 PetroSA signed a Memorandum 
of Understanding (MOU) with the China Petrochemical 
Corporation (Sinopec Group) to investigate cooperating on 
developing the re� nery project. 

Over the next 12 months the two parties will conduct pre-
front-end engineering and design (pre-FEED) studies to 
� nalise the project’s business case, align and integrate the 
team and move the project into the FEED phase.

The MOU began a new chapter in the relationship between 
PetroSA and the Sinopec Group that has seen the two 
partners exploring co-operation opportunities in the 
downstream and upstream sectors. 

Building our infrastructure
With plans to enter the downstream market, optimising 
our supply and distribution functions was a key focus area. 
This involved rationalising the supply chains associated 
with various business streams. Reducing storage costs and 
optimising storage volumes inevitably improved our product 
margins.

Pipeline cargoes
After lengthy discussions and negotiations, we injected our 
� rst cargo of diesel into the Transnet network in July 2011. 
Having sourced product from the oil industry in Durban, we 
sent it to inland markets through the Durban-Johannesburg 
Pipeline (DJP) via Transnet’s Tarlton storage facility on behalf 
of our Trading and Commercial customers. This breakthrough 
paved the way for further PetroSA expansion into new inland 
markets.

PetroSA also received a ministerial directive from the 
Department of Energy (DoE) to supply product to � ll the New 
Multi-Product Pipeline (NMPP), which was built by Transnet 
to replace the DJP which was already 45 years old. The 
NMPP was successfully � lled by 29 December 2011, with 
a total of 154 000m3 of diesel injected into the line. Funding 

was facilitated by the Strategic Fuel Fund (SFF). Transnet 
commissioned the NMPP in the � rst week of January 2012.

Depot purchases
In line with our efforts to grow our supply and logistics 
infrastructure, PetroSA purchased two depots in Tzaneen 
and Bloemfontein. This move is part of our entry into the 
downstream market. The acquisition will also enable us to 
ful� l our mandate by maintaining South Africa’s fuel supplies 
while developing supply contracts into Namibia, Botswana, 
Zimbabwe and the Democratic Republic of Congo. The 
Tzaneen depot is particularly well-placed for local as well as 
SADC markets.

Targeting Africa
In line with our growth strategy, we engaged other national 
oil companies in our region to develop new markets and 
improve the logistical supply chain into South Africa. Having 
identi� ed Petromoc as a strategic partner, we signed a 
cooperation agreement on 14 December 2011 to develop 
our trading business in the country and access storage for 
supplies into sub-Saharan markets. 

We remain con� dent that the dynamic nature of the global 
downstream sector is likely to create opportunities for 
PetroSA to penetrate downstream markets in sub-Saharan 
Africa and the Indian Ocean Rim.

Building our sales
South Africa is a net importer of fuels. PetroSA contributes 
to the security of this supply by importing � nished product to 
complement local production and meet local demand. 

Sales from diesel imports for the year reached 724 828m3, 
58 828m3 (9%), higher than the 666 000m3 budget volume. 
Importing additional diesel had a positive impact on PetroSA’s 
overall performance, ensuring the business successfully met 
its obligations to domestic customers by preventing stocks 
from running out. 

With the same aim in mind, we also imported 55 410m3 
of petrol (mogas) during 2011/12. These imports were not 
part of our business plan. Instead, we brought them into the 
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Growing our Business

country to ensure security of supply during the unplanned 
downtime and other operational challenges experienced at 
the GTL re� nery in Mossel Bay. 

Building our reserves
Block Q, Equatorial Guinea

PetroSA Equatorial Guinea (EG), a PetroSA subsidiary, has 
75% operating equity in Block Q, a deep-water exploration 
asset off the coast of Equatorial Guinea. To date, one 
exploration well has been drilled in Block Q and several risk-
mitigating technical studies have been undertaken to reduce 
sub-surface uncertainty. 

During 2011/12, PetroSA EG processed 3D seismic data 
acquired over the western portion of the block. This new data 
focused on improving sub-surface imaging while identifying 
new plays, helping to expand the prospect inventory.

PetroSA EG initiated a farm-out process for 55% equity 
in the block and negotiations with potential investors are 
progressing.

Block 1711, Namibia

Block 1711 is a high-risk, deep-water exploration area in 
which PetroSA holds a 10% interest through a joint venture 
with Nakor Investments (70%), Energulf (10%), Namcor (7%) 
and Kunene Energy (3%). During the last � nancial year, post-
well evaluation of the Kunene-1 exploration well advanced.

Product stewardship
In Europe the introduction of the Registration, Evaluation and 
Authorisation of Chemicals (REACH) legislation means all 
chemical products sold on the continent must meet certain 
analytical criteria. 

In line with the new laws, the PetroSA distillate product 
range (including Mosspar 1925, Mosspar H, Mosspar M and 
ASH-H) has been characterised according to its chemical 
composition, using multiple analytical techniques. In addition, 
detailed toxicological and environmental fate studies on each 
product were conducted. 

As a result, PetroSA is able to provide more detailed material 
safety data sheets for all its export distillate products.
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Transforming our Business, Sector and Society

We have a transformative role to play in giving everyone in 
our country opportunities to make the most of their talents 
and achieve a decent standard of living – whatever their 
background.

Transformation: key performance against target � gures
We are driving transformation within our company across the liquid fuels sector and broader society.

Target Actual

Recruiting women at all 
levels

15% of appointments 37% of appointments

Recruiting people living 
with disabilities

3% of appointments 1.2% of appointments

Preferential procurement 50% of discretionary spend 66.5% of discretionary spend

B-BBEE sales 214 000 m3 232 266 m3

We have a transformative role to play in giving everyone in 

For a full report on our performance against our targets, see PAGE
071

Strategic overview
Transforming PetroSA, the liquid fuels sector and 
South Africa’s broader society is one of the strategic 
pillars enshrined in our Vision 2020. At the heart of our 
transformation drive is a commitment to strengthening 
our network of internal and external stakeholders through 
collaboration. 

Our aim is to foster an environment that embraces diversity, 
enabling us to tackle the challenge of recruiting and retaining 
people with increasingly scarce industry-speci� c skills. 
This, in turn, is essential for sustaining our business, also a 
strategic priority.

Transforming our business
Our efforts to build a workforce that re� ects South 
African society continue
During 2011/12 the results of our efforts to transform our 
organisation improved measurably. Although achieving 
an equitable representation of women staff remains a 
challenge, we made progress in this area, especially with the 
appointment of Nosizwe Nokwe-Macamo as our � rst female 
Group Chief Executive Of� cer (GCEO). Overall, we exceeded 
our 15% target for increasing the number of women we 
appoint at various staff levels.

Employment equity
Towards a rainbow workplace
Our employment equity score rose from 9.43 in 2010/11 
to 10.83 in 2011/12, measured against targets set by the 
Department of Trade and Industry (DTI) on its Broad-Based 
Black Economic Empowerment (B-BBEE) scorecard. We 
recognise that we still have considerable work to do when it 
comes to appointing women and people with disabilities. 

In response, we launched a number of initiatives designed 
to raise awareness of disability issues. This led to more 
employees disclosing their disabilities and the business 
taking further steps towards appointing people living with 
disabilities.

Senior management
•	 The highlight of the year under review is the appointment 

of PetroSA’s � rst female Group Chief Executive Of� cer on 
1 March 2012.

•	 The objective at these management levels is to increase 
female representation at this level and champion the 
transformation.
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Occupational level 
Male Female

Foreign 
Nationals Total

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Male Female

Top management 1    1      2

Senior management 7 4 2 9      2 24

Professionally quali� ed and 
experienced specialists and 
middle management

122 64 15 101 65 22 7 17 1 13 427

Skilled technical and 
academically quali� ed 
workers, junior management, 
supervisors, foremen, and 
superintendents

178 222 12 186 102 79 5 51   835

Semi-skilled and discretionary 
decision making

61 74  13 41 23 1 5   218

Unskilled and de� ned decision 
making

10 3 1  16 6  1   37

TOTAL PERMANENT 379 367 30 309 225 130 13 74 1 15 1543

Temporary employees 117 107  25 43 24  2   318

GRAND TOTAL 496 474 30 334 268 154 13 76 1 15 1861

Our workforce pro� le (above) highlights a number of key issues associated with representation.

Professional, skilled, technical and academically 
quali� ed employees
•	 Most of our workforce (79%) falls into these groups, 

where transformation efforts have had their greatest 
impact.

People living with disabilities
PetroSA made improvements in this area during 2011/12.

•	 We signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with 
the Cape Peninsula University of Technology (CPUT), 
awarding 12 bursaries to students living with disabilities 
and appointed one graduate-in-training;

•	 Employees living with disabilities made up 1.7% of the 
total organisation;

•	 The Board approved a Disability Policy;

•	 All our Science, Technology, Engineering and 
Mathematics (STEM) initiatives continued to focus on 
people with disabilities through projects such as the 
Techno Girl and C-3E programmes.
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Empowering women
Beyond the glass ceiling
The representation of women in PetroSA improved during 
2011/12 compared to previous years. This is the result 
of setting targets for increasing the proportion of women 
working in our business. 

That said, we acknowledge that increasing the number of 
women at all decision-making levels remains a priority and 
we will implement a number of measures to address this 
challenge. The recent appointment of our � rst female Group 
CEO marks a positive step towards increasing the number of 
women at top management level.

We have adopted a holistic approach to recruiting and 
developing women in the workplace to ensure we attract 
and retain top female talent in the short, medium and long 
term. Focusing on STEM initiatives and actively driving the 
Techno Girl and C-3E programmes are vital to achieving this 
objective.

Transforming our Business, Sector and Society

Appointment of women (31 March 2012)

Division Female Male Total
Female 

% of total

Corporate Affairs & 
Shared Services

10 6 16 63%

Finance 9 7 16 56%

New Ventures 
Upstream

4 13 17 24%

Operations 41 102 143 29%

Trading, Supply & 
Logistics

9 15 24 38%

Human Capital 4 1 5 80%

Corporate Strategy 
& Planning

4 0 4 100%

Of� ce of the CEO 11 10 21 52%

Total 92 154 246 37%

Female Male
Female Workforce Overall Representation - 2010 - 2012

2010 2011 2012

74%74% 73%73%

26%26% 27%27% 29%29%29%29%

71%71%

Skills development
Bursary programme
We had 61 full-time students on the PetroSA Bursary 
Programme, a decrease on 2010/11 when we had 91 
full-time students. The current intake is primarily made up 
of students from previously disadvantaged and vulnerable 
groups studying towards quali� cations in engineering, 
geosciences, accounting and economics. 
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African 
males

Coloured 
males

Indian
males

White
males

African  
females

Coloured 
females

Indian 
females

White 
females

67 68 1 20 45 9 0 1

Level Total

Executive Committee (EXCO) 8

Cape Town management 85

Mossel Bay management 59

Employees 634

Graduates-in-Training (GIT) programme
Twenty-� ve graduates are currently receiving supervised practical training in the workplace as part of our Graduates-in-
Training programme. This number represents an increase on the previous year, with the recruitment of two students living with 
disabilities.

Centre of Excellence, Mossel Bay
At our Centre of Excellence (COE) in Mossel Bay, we offered 66 apprenticeships accredited by the Chemical Industries 
Education and Training Authority (CHIETA), and 145 learnerships at Levels 2, 3 and 4 in electrical, instrumentation mechanic, 
� tting, welding, rigging and boiler-making for the chemical industry.

Since the COE introduced Red Seal apprenticeships, 325 of our former learners have undergone trade testing and 257 have 
received their Red Seal certi� cates.

Skills development opportunities
We offer our people a range of personal development 
opportunities. During 2011/12, 1 501 employees were 
trained at a total cost of R26 million, a reduction of R11 
million on the previous � nancial year due to a budget 
decrease as part of a cost-saving initiative.

Values-Driven Leadership programme
A total of 786 employees attended our Values-Driven 
Leadership (VDL) programme. Open to employees at all 
levels, this programme was initially aimed at management
and supervisory staff. 

Study assistance
We provided � nancial assistance worth R3 million to 
173 permanent employees who wanted to improve their 
academic quali� cations through part-time study. In 2010/11 
we provided study assistance to 263 staff members.

Other transformation initiatives 

•	 Project Ikhwezi Skills Development Plan. This initiative is 
aimed at facilitating and enabling the effective transfer of 
knowledge and skills to PetroSA employees working on 
Project Ikhwezi. Due to a lack of internal capacity, there 
will be a speci� c focus on the project’s sub-sea elements.

•	 Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University (NMMU) 
Partnership. We are set to launch a Diploma in Chemical 
Process Technology in partnership with NMMU and KBC 
International. Developing the course was a joint effort 
between all three partners and the � rst intake is planned 
for 2013.



054 PetroSA Annual Report 2012

SUSTAINABILITY

Transforming our Business, Sector and Society

Last year, B-BBEE sales accounted for 71% of our 
Commercial Business Unit’s sales volumes.

Transforming our sector
We are fully committed to the principles of B-BBEE

Part of our mandate is to drive transformation within the oil 
industry. We help to achieve this by creating, growing and 
sustaining B-BBEE entities while continuously seeking new 
ways of integrating the principles of B-BBEE into the way we 
do business. Among other measures, this means supporting 
oil industry suppliers from historically-disadvantaged 
backgrounds. 

As a Level 3 B-BBEE contributor, we have signed more 
B-BBEE contracts than any other oil company. These 
contracts have enabled previously-disadvantaged individuals 
to participate actively in the oil industry. 

Our medium- to long-term strategy is to � nd more ways of 
giving our existing and potential B-BBEE companies ef� cient 
access to funding and support on training and development 
as well as sustainability. We have created a pricing structure 
that is favourable to our B-BBEE customers, giving them the 

freedom to be entrepreneurial and generate pro� ts. Initiatives 
to secure infrastructure and secondary distribution assets to 
support our Commercial Business Unit are underway. 

Meanwhile, our B-BBEE strategy continues to deliver positive 
results: last year B-BBEE sales accounted for 71% of our 
Commercial Business Unit’s sales volumes.

B-BBEE sales
Actual sales to B-BBEE companies increased by 9% in 
the 2011/12 � nancial year. This is a volumetric growth of 
232 million litres sold compared to 212 million litres in the 
previous � nancial year. Fuel sales did better than planned 
due to increased diesel sales out of inland depots. Lique� ed 
petroleum gas (LPG) and propane demand also remained 
relatively high during the year, despite operational challenges 
at the GTL re� nery. B-BBEE sales volumes for 2011/12 were 
10% of total PetroSA sales.

Volume (m3) % of sales

Local Fuels 1 091 207 49%

Reformate 12 206 1%

BEE Fuels 232 266 10%

Petrochemicals 167 259 8%

Crude Oil 92 304 4%

Imports 622 521 28%

Total 2 217 763 100%

Transactions with B-BBEE suppliers for the procurement 
of feedstock and � nished products reached 28%, versus a 
target of 25% of total volumes purchased.

B-BBEE sales volumes (m3) as a percentage of 
total commercial business 240 000
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B-BBEE sales vs total PetroSA sales

M3

BEE Sales Total PetroSA Sales

B-BBEE sales in 2010/11 were above target last year mainly 
because of increased diesel sales out of inland depots.
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Total Procurement Spend BEE Spend % BEE Spend
R12bn

R10bnR10bn

R8bn

R6bn

R4bn

R2bn

R0

R12bn

R10bn

R8bn

R6bn

R4bn

R2bn

R0

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%year 2011/2012year 2010/2011
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R11.3bn

R2.86bn

Procurement Spend vs BEE Spend

Enterprise development
PetroSA continues to support the four companies that were 
created through our Supplier Development Programme 
(SDP). We extended their contracts for a further two years, 
ending December 2013. 

During the year one company suspended business activities, 
while it addressed a number of internal issues. Business 
started again at the beginning of the 2012/13 � nancial year.

Preferential procurement
Our drive to procure goods and services from B-BBEE-
compliant suppliers produced a steady increase in our 
discretionary spend. In line with the South African Petroleum 
Industry Association’s Petroleum (SAPIA) and Liquid Fuels 
Charter, our procurement expenditure of R2.867bn with 
suppliers having a minimum of 25.1% black ownership rose 
signi� cantly from 53.41% in 2010/11 to 66.52% in the last 
� nancial year.

Year 2010/11 Year 2011/12

Total spend R7.388bn R11.3bn

B-BBEE spend R1.368bn R2.867bn

% of total spend 18.52% 25.37%

Allowable exclusion R4.826bn R6.990bn

Discretionary spend R2.562bn R4.310bn

% B-BBEE spend 53.41% 66.52%
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B-BBEE sales at PetroSA were 9.6% of total sales in 
2010/11, rising to 10.1% of total sales in 2011/12. 

B-BBEE sales vs total PetroSA sales

year 2010 / 2011

BEE Sales

year 2011 / 2012

Total PetroSA Sales

2 500 000
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1 500 000

1 000 000

500 000

2 500 000

2 000 000

1 500 000

1 000 000

500 000

B-BBEE business performance 
Total B-BBEE sales for the year ending March 2012 
were 232 266m3, against a target of 214 000m3. Fuel 
sales did better than planned due to increased sales 
out of inland depots as well as the Mossel Bay depots. 
Lique� ed petroleum gas (LPG) and propane sales 
also remained relatively high during the year despite 
operational challenges at the GTL re� nery.

At the heart of PetroSA’s 
culture lies an uncompromising 
commitment to uplifting and 
developing South African 
society, especially among 
previously disadvantaged 
communities.

Community Affairs
Making a difference
PetroSA continues to make a difference to ordinary South Africans through its Community Affairs initiatives. During 
2011/12 we took steps to reinforce our governance and implemented an integrated approach towards pooling internal 
resources to support this important area of our business.

In addition, we re-modelled our Community Affairs strategy. The key objectives of our revised strategy are to:

•	 Expand the national footprint of our Community Affairs initiatives;

•	 Achieve effective stakeholder engagement and participation to ensure the long-term sustainability of our investments;

•	 Encourage PetroSA staff to join our employee volunteering programme;

•	 Strengthen our presence in the Eden District, ensuring a consultative approach towards meeting our licence 
obligations.

Sustainable support
PetroSA invests millions into uplifting communities nationwide. To ensure our funding delivers long-term bene� ts, we focus 
our investment around four key areas, namely Education, Sustainable Development (Environment), Health and Community 
Development. 

Most of our programmes focus on infrastructure because we recognise that infrastructure is a key development driver − 
especially in rural areas. Our relationships with communities work both ways. During 2011/12, we engaged widely with 
stakeholders to ensure that our programmes also receive support from local structures and deliver sustainable bene� ts. 
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At the heart of PetroSA’s 
culture lies an uncompromising 
commitment to uplifting and 
developing South African 
society, especially among 
previously disadvantaged 
communities.

Case studies Strategy in action 
As the National Oil Company, we work hard to ensure that our Community Affairs investments bene� t the whole of South Africa. 
During 2011/12 our Community Affairs Committee approved funding for the following projects in different parts of the country.

Delivering the energy to grow
Integrated Energy Centres (IeC), Eastern Cape

Among so many other daily challenges, people living in poor 
areas often � nd it dif� cult to access decent quality, affordable 
energy products. To help address this problem, PetroSA 
committed to constructing two Integrated Energy Centres 
(IeCs) in Mbizana and Qamata in the Eastern Cape. 

To ensure these centres make a positive and sustainable 
difference to local people, we joined forces with the 
Department of Energy, district and local municipalities and the 
local community through a local cooperative. 

With all statutory approvals in place, construction of the 
Mbizana IeC will be completed during the 2012/13 � nancial 
year. We estimate that the construction phase will create 30 
local jobs, followed by eight permanent jobs once the IeC is 
operational. The Qamata IeC will be constructed towards the 
end of 2012.



058 PetroSA Annual Report 2012

SUSTAINABILITY

Transforming our Business, Sector and Society

Creating a sense of pride
KwaNonqaba Multi-Purpose Centre, Eden District

Young people are the future of our country and engaging them 
on high-risk issues associated with sex, drugs and crime is 
essential. With this in mind, we are supporting the construction 
of KwaNonqaba Hall in Eden District as part of our South Coast 
Gas Project obligations.

Featuring a multi-sports centre and small business development 
centre, this community asset was completed in July 2012. 
Serving as an important focal point for youngsters, it will also 
give the local people a decent venue where they can host 
community events such as weddings and funerals.

Small businesses operating in the centre will help to create 
much-needed jobs in the area while supporting up-and-coming 
entrepreneurs from KwaNonqaba.
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Towards a cleaner, greener 
environment
River mouth rehabilitation, Eden District

Unfortunately it is a fact that many of South Africa’s estuaries 
face a number of threats. These are often linked to activities 
around the estuaries, higher up their river catchment areas or 
further out to sea and along the coast. 

In 2011 PetroSA joined forces with the Mossel Bay 
Municipality and the Mossel Bay Environmental Partnership 
Alien Clearing and Rehabilitation Project to restore all 
estuaries within the municipality’s boundaries. 

The programme involved rehabilitating and replanting 
indigenous vegetation along the estuaries to restore them 
to their previous pristine conditions, removing alien objects 
in the process. The partnership also created ecotourism 
and entrepreneurial opportunities for local communities, 
supporting sustainable employment.
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SUSTAINABILITY

Transforming our Business, Sector and Society

Fostering tomorrow’s stars
Maths and Science Academy, Eden District

There is a serious shortage of youngsters with the 
qualifi cations, support and drive to take up careers in 
science, technology, engineering and mathematics. That in 
the long term will have a negative impact on PetroSA – and 
on South Africa. Worse still, it means our young people are 
missing out on great career opportunities.

In response, we support the Maths and Science Academy 
(MScA) programme, which aims to improve participation in 
these subjects among learners in Grades 9, 10 and 11, while 
helping to improve performance among Grade 12 learners. 

In the Eden District, the MScA programme involves a select 
group of schools, including several close to PetroSA’s GTL 
refi nery. They include: Indwe High, Hillcrest High, Sao Bras 
High – Mossel Bay; Great Brak River High, Imizamo Yethu 
High, Tembalethu High – George; Môrester High, Bridgton 
High, Fezekile High – Oudtshoorn; Percy Mdala High – 
Plettenberg Bay; Murray High – Knysna. 

Our support appears to be making a difference. Eden 
District achieved a 76% overall pass rate in 2010 
against a target of 75.68%. In 2011 the pass rate was 
84.76% against a target of 86%. 
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People making a difference
Employee volunteering, Cape Town and Mossel Bay

With the focus on enhancing loyalty and pride among our 
employees, we revived our volunteering programme last year. 
In March 2011 73 employees took part in two volunteering 
initiatives around Cape Town and two around Mossel Bay. 
Here our employees painted walls at the Child Welfare 
crèche and helped clean kennels at the SPCA. In Cape 
Town our volunteers cleaned up Strand beach and planted 
vegetables at the Haven Night Shelter in Kraaifontein. As a 
National Oil Company, we are working hard to ensure that 
we have a national footprint in terms of our community affairs 
interventions.
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Strategic overview
Towards world-class performance

During 2011/12 our Safety, Health, Environmental and Quality 
(SHEQ) performance was consistent with previous years. We 
met the target in our Disabling Injury Frequency rate (DIFR) of 
0.4. Signi� cantly, no incidents resulting in a fatality occurred 
during the period under review. We did not meet the target 
on occupational health surveillance and environmental 
incidents.

We remain committed to achieving a working culture that 
protects the health and safety of everyone who works 
for PetroSA, everyone impacted by our operations and 
the surroundings we share. We actively safeguard the 
environment, working to reduce our environmental impact 
wherever we operate. At the same time, we ensure that our 
products and services meet internationally-recognised quality 
standards.

One business, one HSE 
management system
We recognise that there is always room for improvement 
and learning within HSE management. With this in mind, we 
took the � rst steps towards developing for implementation 

a standardised, risk-based health, safety and environmental 
(HSE) management system across our Group, aligned with 
the integrated Health, Safety and Environmental Policy. 

The new system will reinforce the way we manage this 
vital area, by replacing the fragmented legacy systems 
that we have currently, and bring greater clarity to the way 
we communicate our HSE priorities and actions to key 
stakeholders. Crucially, a business-wide HSE framework will 
also help to boost our internal health and safety culture. 

Key developments
Safety
Disabling injury frequency rate 

The disabling injury frequency rate (DIFR) is calculated on a 
12-month moving frequency rate and was calculated at 0.4 
at year-end against a target of ≤0.4. There were 17 disabling 
injuries during the � nancial year that contributed to this DIFR 
of 0.4. 

Health
Occupational health surveillance
PetroSA conducts occupational health surveys to determine 
the health hazards employees might be or are exposed to, 

Achieving world-class SHEQ standards is enshrined in our 
Vision 2020. While acknowledging our strengths, we are 
taking active steps to address areas where we know we can 
improve our performance.

Achieving World-Class SHEQ Standards

SHEQ: key performance against target � gures
We are committed to achieving our strategic objectives in line with the highest safety, health, environmental and quality (SHEQ) 

standards.

KEY SHEQ FACTS AND STATS

Target Actual

Fatalities 0 fatalities 0 fatalities reported

Disabling Injury Frequency 
Rate (DIFR)

0.4 0.4

Environmental incidents 7 15

Quality management Retain ISO 9001 certifi cation plus SABS 
readiness assessment of E&P Operations

Certifi cation retained, with no major fi ndings. 
E&P Operations declared ready for Phase 2 
audit

Occupational Hygiene 
survey

80% OH medicals completed 73.7% medicals conducted (GTL refi nery, F-A 
Platform, Orca)

For a full report on our SHEQ performance against our targets, see PAGE
072
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and uses a medical surveillance programme to constantly 
reassess the health of employees exposed to such hazards.

We use the medical or occupational health surveillance 
programme as a measure for determining interventions and/
or improvements in employee health. This key performance 
indicator seeks to measure the percentage of employees 
in the Operations division who have undergone medical 
surveillance relative to the year-plan. 

During the � nancial year, 73.7% of planned medicals were 
conducted for identi� ed employees at the GTL Re� nery, F-A 
Platform and Orca Platform, relative to a target of 80%.

Environment
Environmental incidents
During the 2011/12 � nancial year there were 15 environmental 
incidents, relative to the seven incidents budgeted for. 

PetroSA employs a wide de� nition of an environmental 
incident to ensure that environmental issues receive 
the necessary management attention. We de� ne an 
environmental incident as an event which has a localised 
effect that causes environmental damage beyond the 
boundary fence, or a substantiated community complaint, or 
a permit non-compliance. 

Response to Department of Environmental Affairs
In October we submitted our response to the Notice of Intent 
to Issue a Compliance Notice received from the Department 
of Environmental Affairs (DEA) in September 2011. Overall, 
we have made sound progress towards addressing the 

issues raised in the notice. Looking ahead, we will remain 
vigilant to ensure that all actions are completed, while 
providing the DEA with regular updates and feedback. 

GTL land� ll: external compliance audit completed
The GTL land� ll facility was externally audited again this year, 
as required by our permit conditions. Generally, the audit 
report was positive and the facility plays an important role in 
waste management for our Operations division as well as the 
southern Cape community.

Quality
ISO 9001 Quality Management System evaluated
We continue to evaluate our ongoing conformance with the 
requirements of our ISO 9001 2008 Quality Management 
System (QMS). The average internal audit score across 
all PetroSA divisions covered by the quality management 
system is 85.9%. 

Surveillance audits of our QMS were conducted by the 
external certi� cation body, the South African Bureau of 
Standards (SABS), in Mossel Bay and Cape Town during 
September 2011. There were zero major � ndings and 
only six (6) minor � ndings were raised by SABS. ISO 9001 
Certi� cation was thus retained. 

We are very excited that after a successful readiness 
assessment in March 2012, SABS declared Exploration and 
Production (E&P) Operations ready for its phase two audit in 
the 2012/13 � nancial year. 
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Report on the consolidated � nancial 
statements
Introduction 
I have audited the accompanying consolidated and 
separate � nancial statements of the Petroleum Oil and Gas 
Corporation of South Africa (SOC) Ltd (PetroSA), set out 
on pages 90 to140, which comprise the consolidated and 
separate Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 
2012, and the consolidated and separate Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and 
Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, the notes, 
comprising a summary of signi� cant accounting policies, and 
other explanatory information. 

Accounting Authority’s responsibility for the 
consolidated � nancial statements 
The Board of Directors, which constitutes the Accounting 
Authority, is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these consolidated and separate � nancial 
statements in accordance with South African Statements 
of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (SA Statements 
of GAAP) and in the manner required by the Public Finance 
Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) 
(PFMA), the Companies Act of South Africa, 2008 (Act 
No. 71 of 2008) and for such internal control as management 
determines necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated and separate � nancial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor-General’s responsibility 
My responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated and separate � nancial statements based on my 
audit. I conducted my audit in accordance with the Public 
Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), 
the General Notice issued in terms thereof and International 
Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
and separate � nancial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated and separate � nancial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated and separate � nancial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the consolidated and separate � nancial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated and 
separate � nancial statements. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is suf� cient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In my opinion the consolidated and separate � nancial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the � nancial 
position of the Petroleum Oil and Gas Corporation of South 
Africa (SOC) Ltd and its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2012 
and their � nancial performance and cash � ows for the year 
then ended, in accordance with SA statements of GAAP and 
the requirements of the PFMA and the Companies Act of 
South Africa. 

Emphasis of matter 
I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not 
modi� ed in respect of these matters: 

Material impairments 
As disclosed in note 7 to the � nancial statements, material 
impairments to the PetroSA Egypt loan account to the 
amount of R197 million (2011: R945 million) and the PetroSA 
Equatorial Guinea loan account to the amount of R1 412 
million (2011: Rnil) were incurred. 

Signi� cant uncertainties 
With reference to note 13 (discontinued operations, disposal 
groups and non-current assets held for sale) of the � nancial 
statements, the Company has recognised the sale of Brass 
Exploration Unlimited and PetroSA Nigeria (SOC) Ltd during 
the � nancial year. The disposals are still the subject of 
litigation in the Nigerian judicial system. 

Additional matters 
I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not 
modi� ed in respect of these matters. 

Other reports required by the Companies Act of 
South Africa 
As part of my audit of the � nancial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2012, I have read the Directors’ Report, the 
Audit Committee’s Report and the Companies Secretary’s 
Certi� cate for the purpose of identifying whether there 
are material inconsistencies between these reports and 
the audited � nancial statements. These reports are the 
responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading 
these reports I have not identi� ed material inconsistencies 
between these reports and the audited � nancial statements 
in respect of which I have expressed an unquali� ed opinion. 
I have not audited these reports and accordingly do not 
express an opinion on these reports. 

Report of the Auditor-General (SA)

To parliament on the Petroleum Oil and Gas Corporation of South Africa 
(State-owned Company) Limited
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Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements 
In accordance with the PAA and the General Notice issued 
in terms thereof, I report the following �ndings relevant to 
performance against predetermined objectives, compliance 
with laws and regulations and internal control, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion.

Predetermined objectives 
I performed procedures to obtain evidence about 
the usefulness and reliability of the information in the 
predetermined objectives report as set out on pages 71 to 77 
of the annual report. 

The reported performance against predetermined objectives 
was evaluated against the overall criteria of usefulness 
and reliability. The usefulness of information in the annual 
performance report relates to whether it is presented in 
accordance with the National Treasury's annual reporting 
principles and whether the reported performance is 
consistent with the planned objectives. The usefulness 
of information further relates to whether indicators and 
targets are measurable (i.e. well de�ned, veri�able, speci�c, 
measurable and time bound) and relevant as required by 
the National Treasury Framework for managing programme-
performance information. 

The reliability of the information in respect of the selected 
objectives is assessed to determine whether it adequately 
re�ects the facts (i.e. whether it is valid, accurate and 
complete). 

There were no material �ndings in the performance against 
objectives report concerning the usefulness and reliability of 
the information. 

Additional matter 
I draw attention to the following matter below. This matter 
does not have an impact on the predetermined objectives 
audit �ndings reported above. 

Achievement of planned targets 
Of the total number of planned targets, 20 were achieved 
during the year under review. This represents 38% of total 
planned targets that were not achieved during the year under 
review. I draw attention to page 71-77 which provide reasons 
for the relevant performance indicators not being acheived.

Compliance with laws and regulations 
I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the entity 
has complied with applicable laws and regulations regarding 
�nancial matters, �nancial management and other related 
matters. My �ndings on material non-compliance with 
speci�c matters in key applicable laws and regulations as set 
out in the General Notice issued in terms of the PAA are as 
follows: 

Annual �nancial statements 
The Accounting Authority submitted �nancial statements 
for auditing that were not prepared in all material aspects in 
accordance with the prescribed �nancial reporting framework 
and supported by full and proper records as required by 
section 55(1)(b) of the PFMA and section 29(1)(a) of the 
Companies Act. Material misstatements of non-current and 

current assets identi�ed by the auditors in the submitted 
�nancial statements were subsequently corrected. 

Expenditure management 
The Accounting Authority did not take effective steps to 
prevent fruitless and wasteful and irregular expenditure, 
as required by section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA. Fruitless 
and wasteful expenditure of R35 837 000 and irregular 
expenditure of R27 387 000 were incurred in the current year 
as disclosed in note 37 to the annual �nancial statements. 

Environmental compliance matters 
There is a contravention of the “duty of care” principle as 
envisaged in section 28(1) as well as section 28(14) and 
(15) of the National Environmental Management Act (Act 
No. 107 of 1998), as timely corrective action has not been 
implemented with regards to contamination at the operating 
facilities of the entity. 

Procurement and contract management 
The procurement processes did not comply with the 
requirements of a fair supply chain management system 
as per section 51(1)(a)(iii) of the PFMA, in that goods and 
services of a transaction value above R15 000 for quotations 
and R1 000 000 for tenders were procured without inviting 
competitive bids. 

Internal control 
I considered internal control relevant to our audit of the 
�nancial statements, report on predetermined objectives and 
compliance with laws and regulations. The matters reported 
below under the fundamentals of internal control are limited 
to the signi�cant de�ciencies that resulted in the material 
misstatements identi�ed being corrected, and the �ndings 
on compliance with laws and regulations are included in this 
report. 

Leadership 
The establishment and communication of formal policies 
and procedures to enable and support the detection and 
prevention of irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
and measures to address the “duty of care” principle with 
regard to the environmental compliance matters should be 
prioritised. 

Financial and performance management 
The supporting schedules used to arrive at the accounting 
for inter-company receivables and long-term assets re�ected 
in the �nancial statements were not subjected to suf�cient, 
appropriate and regular reviews during the �nancial year. 
As the �rst line of assurance, management should on a 
regular basis conduct a review of the �nancial records and 
other relevant information to ensure accurate and complete 
�nancial statements. 

Other reports 
Investigations 
An investigation mandated by the Board Audit and 
Compliance Committee of PetroSA into possible irregularities 
relating to the procurement policy of PetroSA, is still ongoing 
at the reporting date.

An investigation, mandated by the Honourable Minister 
of Energy, into all procurement above R5 000 000, for 

Report of the Auditor-General (SA)continued
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goods and services that are not considered to relate to the 
day-to-day operations, was still ongoing at the reporting date.

Agreed-upon procedures engagement 
As requested by the Accounting Authority, an engagement 
was conducted during the year under review concerning the 
accuracy of the IP tracer levy. The reports covered the period 
April 2011 to March 2012.

Pretoria 

29 August 2012 
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The directors are required to maintain adequate accounting 
records and are responsible for the content and integrity 
of the annual �nancial statements and related �nancial 
information included in this report. It is their responsibility 
to ensure that the annual �nancial statements fairly present 
the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the �nancial 
year and the results of its operations and cash �ows for the 
period then ended, in conformity with South African Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice. The external auditors are 
engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual 
�nancial statements.

The annual �nancial statements are prepared in accordance 
with South African Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
and are based upon appropriate accounting policies 
consistently applied and supported by reasonable and 
prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal �nancial control 
established by the Group and place considerable importance 
on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the 
directors to meet these responsibilities, the Board of Directors 
sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk 
of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards 
include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a 
clearly de�ned framework, effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable 
level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the 
Group and all employees are required to maintain the highest 
ethical standards in ensuring that the Group’s business is 
conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances 
is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the 
Group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring 
all known forms of risk across the Group. While operating risk 
cannot be fully eliminated, the Group endeavours to minimise 
it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, 
systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed 
within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information 
and explanations given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the 
�nancial records may be relied on for the preparation of 
the annual �nancial statements. However, any system of 
internal �nancial control can provide only reasonable, and not 
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash �ow forecast 
for the year to 31 March 2013 and, in light of this review and 
the current �nancial position, they are satis�ed that the Group 
has, or has access to, adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently 
reviewing and reporting on the Group’s annual �nancial 
statements. The annual �nancial statements have been 
examined by the Group’s external auditors and their report is 
presented on pages 67 to 69.

The annual �nancial statements set out on pages 79 to 140, 
which have been prepared on the going-concern basis, were 
approved by the Board of Directors on 24 August 2012 and 
signed on its behalf by:

DR AMB MOKABA MS N NOKWE-MACAMO
Chairman Group CEO

Cape Town
24 August 2012

Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval
for the year ended 31 March 2012
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A summary of the Petroleum Oil and Gas Corporation of South Africa (SOC) Limited Group’s business objectives is 
contained in the table below:

Objective
Key Performance 
Indicator Target Actual

Performance 
results

1. TRANSFORMATION

To meet speci� c transformation requirements

1.1  Recruitment of women 
at all levels

15% 37% Achieved

1.2  Recruitment of people 
living with disabilities

3% 1.2% Not achieved

1.3  Preferential procurement 50% of discretionary spend 66.5% Achieved

1.4 BEE sales 214 ML 232 ML Achieved

1.5  Implementation of the 
outputs of the GMF 
programme

Implementation of the 
outputs of the GMF 
programme by 
31 March 2012

69% of implementation 
outputs signed off

Achieved

Objective
Key Performance 
Indicator Target Actual

Performance 
results

2. FINANCE

Cost Optimisation

2.1  Gross margin 
percentage

17 – 18% 16% Not achieved

2.2  Actual vs revised budget 98 – 100% of allocated 
amount 

74% of allocated 
amount

Not achieved

2.3  Optimisation of 
investment returns

SABOR -25 basis points to 
SABOR +25 basis points

SABOR +69 basis 
points

Achieved

Objective
Key Performance 
Indicator Target Actual

Performance 
results

3. STAKEHOLDERS

Meeting Customer Needs

3.1 Customer surveys Customer surveys for the 
following: 

•		Management	level	3	and	
above

•		The	Executive	Committee	
(EXCO)

•	Trade	customers

•	Suppliers

See note 3.1 Achieved

Performance Against Objectives
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval
for the year ended 31 March 2012
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Objectives
Key Performance 
Indicator Target Actual

Performance 
results

4.  INTERNAL 
BUSINESS 
PROCESSES

4.1 SHEQ

4.1.1 Fatalities 0 0 Achieved

4.1.2  Disabling Injury 
Frequency Rate (DIFR)

<0.4 0.4 Achieved

4.1.3  Environmental 
incidents 

7 15 Not achieved

4.1.4 Quality Retain ISO 9001 certi�cation 
on current scope by 31 
March 2012

Retained certi�cation 
with zero major 
�ndings and completed 
readiness assessment

Achieved

4.1.5  Occupational hygiene 
survey

80% 74% Not achieved

4.2  Sustainability

4.2.1 Crude production 0.799 MMbbls 0.395 MMbbls Not achieved

4.2.2  Total indigenous GTL 
Re�nery production

6.503 MMbbls 5.491 MMbbls Not achieved

4.2.3  Well-optimisation 
(programme 
development) 

Implementation as per 
�nalised schedule and 
budget

Close out reports 
for the 2 wells have 
been issued. Further 
modi�cations to be 
carried out

Achieved

4.2.4  Finalise extended 
lique�ed natural gas 
(LNG) feasibility study

Feasibility study submitted 
to Board by end  
December 2011

Feasibility study into 
LNG importation has 
been concluded. 
Approval for FEED 
received 

Achieved

4.2.5  FO development 
executed on schedule 
according to approved 
development plan

Procurement Long Lead 
Items (LLI’s) – Recommend 
Supplier award: 70 – 80% 

81% Achieved

Cost – complete detail 
design within budget:  
95 – 100%

93% of budget 
achieved

Achieved

Sign rig contract:  
30 June 2011

27 May 2011 Achieved

Performance Against Objectives continued
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Objectives
Key Performance 
Indicator Target Actual

Performance 
results

4.3  Growth Initiatives

4.  INTERNAL
BUSINESS 
PROCESSES 
(continued)

4.3.1  To enter the 
downstream market

4.3.1.1  Acquire downstream 
asset by 31 March 
2012

Target identi� cation/ 
valuation is progressing

Not achieved

4.3.1.2  Create logistical 
capability: increase 
trading volume 
by 10%

119% above budget Achieved

4.3.1.3  Increase commercial 
volumes: volume 
sold from the 
acquisition of 
Tzaneen and 
Bloemfontein depots

33% above budget Achieved

4.3.1.4  Evaluate four 
opportunities for 
increasing trading 
volumes/revenues

Seven opportunities 
were evaluated. See 
notes for detail (4.3.1.4)

Achieved

4.3.1.5  Addition of re� ning 
capacity: revise 
business plan to 
meet Front End 
Loading (FEL) 1 
standards (for 
pre-feasibility) by 
31 March 2012

Deliverables developed 
to 96.8% of FEL 1 
standards

Achieved

4.3.2  To grow production 
and reserve base for 
long-term pro� tability

4.3.2.1 15 MMbbls Acquisition pending 
approval from foreign 
authorities

Not achieved

4.3.2.2  Domestic farm-
in/farm-out 
transactions: 
conclude two farm-
out deals

Two farm-out deals 
concluded 

Not achieved

4.3.2.3  Increase RSA 
shale gas acreage: 
conclude two farm-
in agreements with 
shale gas players by 
31 March 2012

Farm-out and Joint 
Operating Agreement 
(JOA) negotiated for 
production rights

Achieved

4.3.2.4  Develop country 
strategy for 
shale gas by 
30 September 2011

Strategy developed as 
part of PetroSA gas 
strategy

Achieved

4.4 Governance

4.4.1  Repeat audit � ndings Zero repeat audit � ndings 27 repeat audit � ndings Not achieved
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1. Transformation

1.1 Recruitment of women at all levels
The target is to improve women 
representation through appointments within 
the organisation by 15% by March 2012. 
Appointments refer to appointments to 
the permanent staff and include internal 
promotions to advertised positions and new 
appointments from outside the organisation 
including �xed term contractors, graduates-
in-training, modular instructional training and 
experiential learners.

Actual: 37% of the total number of 
appointments were women.

1.2 Recruitment of people living with 
disabilities
Attraction of people with disabilities includes 
both recruitment of new employees and 
disclosures by current employees living with 
disabilities. The target is for people living with 
disabilities to account for 3% of appointments 
by 31 March 2012.

31 disclosures were made by the end of the 
2011/12 �nancial year.

Actual: there were three appointments of 
people living with disabilities in the period 
under review. This translates to 1.2%.

1.3 Preferential procurement
In terms of PetroSA’s requirement, which is 
aligned to the Liquids Fuel Charter, our BEE 
procurement expenditure in respect of BEE 
suppliers who have a minimum of 25.1% 
black ownership would equate to 66.52% for 
the period under review.

1.4 BEE sales 
BEE sales comprise of both fuels (diesel, 
petrol and kerosene) and speciality grades 
(LPG, propane, HFO and the gasses LIN/
LOX/CO2). 

Actual: BEE sales were 8% above target.

1.5 Implementation of the outputs of 
the Group Management Framework 
(GMF) programme
The target is to implement the GMF Project 
Charter, Group Governance Manual, 
GMF Implementation Contracts & GMF 
Components of Performance Contracts 
signed off by 31 March 2012.

Actual:

•	 Governance manual 
The governance manual – which provides a 
comprehensive set of high-level guidelines 
for the operations of the PetroSA Group’s 
activities and details of how the Group will 
operate in all its jurisdictions globally – was 
approved.

•	 GMF Project Charter  
The GMF Project Charter and associated 
governance documentation was signed off. 

•	 Processes 
Overall the project is 69% complete due to 
some signi�cant changes that had an adverse 
impact on the schedule. 

2. Finance
Cost optimisation

2.1 Gross margin percentage
Actual: the gross margin percentage was 
16% vs a target of 17 – 18%. 

2.2 Actual vs revised budget 
This measure encourages adherence to 
budget. 

Actual: the cost savings for the year amount 
to 68% of the allocated amount. This was 
largely due to various operational reasons 
that have since been recti�ed.

2.3 Optimisation of investment returns
Actual: the investment return outperformed 
the benchmark 0.69%.

3. Stakeholders
Meeting customer needs

3.1 Customer surveys
Customer surveys will be conducted for the 
following:

•	 EXCO

•	 Trade customers

•	 Suppliers

•	 Management	Level	3	and	above.

Actual: a multi-stakeholder survey was 
conducted as part of PetroSA’s brand 
management efforts. 

Notes to Performance Against Objectives
for the year ended 31 March 2012
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4. Internal Business Processes
4.1 SHEQ
4.1.1 Fatalities

This indicates the number of fatalities that 
occur on PetroSA’s premises.

Actual: there were no fatalities reported in 
the period under review.

4.1.2 Disabling Injury Frequency Rate (DIFR)

The industry DIFR standard is 1, compared 
to PetroSA’s benchmark of 0.4. PetroSA 
achieved a 0.39 DIFR in the year under 
review. 

Actual: there were six (6) disabling injuries 
leading to an unfavourable DIFR of 0.39. 

4.1.3 Environmental incidents

An environmental incident is de� ned as an 
event which has a localised effect that causes 
environmental damage beyond the boundary 
fence or results from a substantiated 
community complaint or is a permit 
exceedance or non-compliance. 

Actual: A higher number (15) of 
environmental incidents occurred during 
the year vs a forecast of seven (7) incidents. 
These incidents ranged from discharges to 
the sea/river and substantiated community 
complaints to non-compliances based on 
the strict de� nition mentioned above.

Among these incidences, was the spillage of 
about 4m3 of crude oil when the export riser 
at the ORCA production platform accidentally 
disconnected. The riser has since been � xed 
and the ORCA is back in operation. Another 
key incident was the leakage of gas from a 
subsea pipeline in January 2012. This too has 
since been recti� ed.

In all cases, investigations were carried out 
and appropriate action taken to minimise the 
impact and avert recurrence.

4.1.4 Quality

The target is to retain certi� cation plus SABS 
readiness assessment of Exploration & 
Production (E&P) Operations.

Actual: the E&P Operations Readiness 
Assessment for inclusion in the ISO 9001 
certi� cation scope was conducted by 
SABS in March 2012. There were no 
major � ndings, and SABS declared E&P 
Operations ready for the Phase 2 audit 
which will be conducted in 2012/13. 

4.1.5 Occupational hygiene survey

In terms of the Mine Health and Safety Act, 
PetroSA must conduct an occupational 
hygiene survey, to determine the health 
hazards employees might be or are exposed 

to, and put in place a medical surveillance 
programme. The medical surveillance 
programme will be used as a measure for 
determining interventions/improvements in 
employee health. 

Actual: 73.7% of the planned medicals 
were conducted on employees from the 
GTL Re� nery, FA Platform and Orca in 
comparison to a target of 80%. 

4.2 Sustainability (GTL re� nery 
operations) 

4.2.1 Crude production

Actual: Oribi Oryx production for the year 
was 51% below budget due to damage 
to the riser. Repair work has been carried 
out on the area and is awaiting statutory 
recerti� cation as a prerequisite to further 
production. The start programme is 
underway and it was anticipated that 
production would resume in May 2012.

4.2.2 Indigenous production

Actual: Indigenous production was 16% 
below budget. The lower-than-planned 
production is attributable to the re� nery 
shut-down in October and other operational 
issues. 

4.2.3 Well optimisation programme

The well optimisation project entailed restoring 
production from two off-shore gas wells. 

4.2.4 Finalise extended LNG feasibility report 

The target was to � nalise the pre-feasibility 
study by 31 December 2011.

Actual Project Status: A feasibility study on 
LNG importation was concluded and the 
project has since received EXCO approval 
for the execution of Front End Engineering 
Design (FEED). 

4.2.5 F-O development executed on schedule 
according to approved development plan 

Actual: Project Status:

• 81% of the Long Lead Items have been 
procured.

• Detail design for the subsea is currently 
underway and will be completed in 
April 2012.

• An Environmental Management Plan 
(EMP) has been completed and 
submitted to The Petroleum Agency of 
South Africa (PASA) for approval as part 
of the Production Right application.

•	 Drilling process is planned to commence 
in mid-2012. 
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4.3 Growth initiatives

4.3.1 Downstream market entry

4.3.1.1 Acquire downstream asset

The target was to acquire a downstream 
asset by 31 March 2012.

Actual: PetroSA’s entry into the downstream 
market continued, but at a slower pace 
than planned. Total product volumes sold 
out of the Tarlton depot (98 ML). Additional 
volumes were sold through other trading 
initiatives in implementing the strategy. This 
included supply to Transnet (155 ML) and 
the sale of reformate (12 ML). The total 
volumes sold amounted to 265 ML vs a 
target of 121 ML.The reduced production 
from the Mossel Bay plant contributed to 
the failure to meet sales targets.

The acquisition of the Bloemfontein and 
Tzaneen fuel depots positions PetroSA to 
increase sales, whilst ongoing efforts in 
respect of the offshore Project Ikhwezi gas 
project will be intensi�ed to ensure production 
levels are raised to more commercially 
sustainable rates.

4.3.1.2 Create logistical capability to support 
downstream market entry 

The target was to increase the trading 
volumes by 10%.

Actual: total volume sold was 119% above 
target.

4.3.1.3 Increase commercial volumes 

Volume sold out of the depots was 33% 
above target.

4.3.1.4 Evaluate four opportunities for increasing 
trading volumes/revenues

Actual: Project status – The target was 
exceeded with seven opportunities being 
evaluated and, in some cases, implemented. 
This included hydrocarbon product storage, 
transportation and marketing opportunities. 

4.3.1.5 Adding re�ning capacity 

Project Mthombo

The target was to revise the business plan 
such that the deliverables are suf�ciently 
developed to between 80% and 90% of FEL 
1 standards by 31 March 2012. 

Actual: deliverables were developed to 
96.8% of FEL 1 standard.

4.3.2 Grow production for and reserve 
base for long-term pro�tability

4.3.2.1 Increase exploration activity in 
Venezuela, Angola, RSA and Mozambique

Actual: progress has been made in acquiring 
an opportunity in West Africa. This will 
create a new revenue stream and increase 
PetroSA’s reserves by approximately 40%. 

4.3.2.2 Domestic farm-in/out transactions

The target was to �nalise two farm-in/farm-out 
deals which create opportunities for reserve 
addition and portfolio rationalisation.

Actual: Project status:

•	 PetroSA entered into a farm-out 
agreement with Anadarko Petroleum 
Corporation, which will see the latter 
acquire  a share in PetroSA’s equity 
interest in Blocks 5/6 and 7 along the 
south-western margin of the country.

•	 At the close of the �nancial year, 
PetroSA had made headway in its efforts 
to �nalise a similar farm-out in Equatorial 
Guinea. 

4.3.2.3 Increase RSA shale gas acreage

The target was to conclude two farm-
in agreements with shale gas players by 
31 March 2012.

Actual: Project status – Whilst signi�cant 
progress had been achieved, the 
moratorium on shale gas exploration in 
South Africa necessitated a slowdown. 

4.3.2.4 Develop country strategy for shale gas 

The target is to develop a country strategy for 
shale gas by 30 September 2011.

Actual: the shale gas strategy was 
developed as part of the PetroSA Gas 
Strategy. 

Notes to Performance Against Objectives continued
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4.4 Governance
The target was to have zero repeat audit 
� ndings in the current � nancial year.

Actual: There were 27 repeat internal audit 
� ndings for the year in the Human Capital 
(16), Information Systems (3), Trade, Supply 
and Logistics (2) and Risk Management (6) 
areas.

The reasons for these repeat � ndings can 
generally be attributed to management’s 
failure, in some cases, to develop and monitor 
the implementation of action plans to address 
internal control de� ciencies (“repeat audit 
� ndings” for example). Action to minimise 
the incidence of repeat audit � ndings include 
penalties as per individual performance 
contracts. 
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The value-added statement measures performance in terms of value added by the Group through the collective efforts of 
management, employees and the providers of capital. The statement shows how the value added has been distributed to those 
contributing to its creation.

Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Revenue 14 524 327 10 821 890 14 886 538 10 832 064

Paid to suppliers for material and services (11 611 765) (8 526 203) (12 811 560) (8 198 845)

Income from investments 840 396 859 887 981 671 974 810

Wealth created 3 752 958 3 155 574 3 056 649 3 608 029

Wealth distributed as follows:

Management and employees

Remuneration and bene�ts 969 619 991 871 958 468 975 230

Providers of capital

Interest on borrowings net of foreign loan revaluations 1 994 2 565 1 940 2 561

Government

Taxation 4 898 (308 519) – (312 897)

Other payments 5 861 5 715 5 861 5 715

Total distributions 982 372 691 632 966 269 670 609

Retained for re-investment

Depreciation 1 034 449 1 240 014 1 034 115 1 238 121

Income retained in the business 1 736 137 1 223 928 1 056 265 1 684 815

3 752 958 3 155 574 3 056 649 3 593 545

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual �nancial statements and is unaudited.

Value-Added Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2012



079PetroSA Annual Report 2012

Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 March 2012

The directors present their annual report that forms part of the audited annual � nancial statements for the Group for the year 
ended 31 March 2012.

1. Directors
The directors of the Company during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

Name Appointed Resigned
Dr AMB Mokaba Non-executive (Chairman)
Ms N Nokwe-Macamo Executive – President & CEO 1 March 2012
Mr N Nika Executive – Chief Financial Of� cer
Mr MB Damane Non-executive 16 September 2011
Mr DR Zihlangu Non-executive
Dr Z Rustomjee Non-executive
Mr Z Mavuso Non-executive 28 February 2012
Ms N Medupe Non-executive
Adv. L Makatini Non-executive
Mr ACG Molusi Non-executive
Ms GN Jiyane Non-executive
Ms FE Letlape Non-executive
Mr MM Zwane Non-executive
Ms A Osman Non-executive 30 September 2011 30 April 2012
Mr Y Tenza Non-executive 19 July 2011
Mr Y Tenza Executive (Acting CEO) 20 July 2011 31 May 2012
Mr Y Tenza Non-executive 1 June 2012

Attendance at meetings:
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24

20
11
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5-

27

20
11
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6-

22

20
11

-0
7-

20

20
11

-0
8-

29

20
11

-1
1-

17

20
11

-1
1-

18

20
12

-0
2-

21

Dr AMB Mokaba Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Mr N Nika Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Mr MB Damane N N N N N R R R
Mr DR Zihlangu Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Dr Z Rustomjee Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Mr Z Mavuso Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Mr Y Tenza Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Ms N Medupe Y Y N Y Y Y Y Y
Adv. L Makatini N N N Y N Y Y Y
Mr ACG Molusi Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Ms GN Jiyane N N Y Y N Y Y Y
Ms FE Letlape Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Mr MM Zwane Y Y Y N Y Y Y Y
Ms A Osman – – – – – – Y Y
Ms N Nokwe-Macamo – – – – – – – –
Mr Tenza, a non-executive director, was deployed to acting CEO from 20 July 2011 until the appointment of the 
new CEO on 1 March 2012. During this period, Mr Tenza attended all Board committee meetings as an invitee. 
The deployment period was further extended for three months for handover purposes.
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Board audit and compliance committee
The committee consists of the following members and invitees:

Ms GN Jiyane Non-executive (Chairman)

Mr Y Tenza Non-executive

Ms N Medupe Non-executive

Dr Z Rustomjee Non-executive

Adv. L Makatini Non-executive

Mr N Nika Executive

Attendance at meetings:

20
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13

20
11
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11

20
11

-1
0-

28

20
12
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2-

03

Ms GN Jiyane Y Y Y Y

Mr Y Tenza Y Y Y Y

Ms N Medupe Y N Y Y

Dr Z Rustomjee Y Y Y Y

Adv. L Makatini Y Y Y Y

Mr N Nika Y Y Y Y

Board human capital committee
The committee consists of the following members and invitees:

Ms FE Letlape Non-executive (Chairman)

Mr Y Tenza Non-executive

Dr AMB Mokaba Non-executive

Mr ACG Molusi Non-executive

Mr N Nika Executive

Attendance at meetings:

20
11
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5-

06

20
11

-0
7-

12

20
11

-1
0-

21

20
12

-0
1-

27

Ms FE Letlape Y Y Y Y

Mr Y Tenza – – Y N

Dr AMB Mokaba N Y Y Y

Mr ACG Molusi Y Y N Y

Mr N Nika Y Y Re Re

Board business performance and monitoring committee
The committee consists of the following members and invitees:

Mr MM Zwane Non-executive (Chairman)
Mr MB Damane Non-executive Resigned 16 September 2011
Mr DR Zihlangu Non-executive
Ms FE Letlape Non-executive
Mr Y Tenza Non-executive
Mr N Nika Executive

Directors’ Report continued



081PetroSA Annual Report 2012

Attendance at meetings:

20
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26
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20
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21

20
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13

Mr MM Zwane Y Y Y Y
Mr MB Damane N N R R
Mr DR Zihlangu Y Y Y Y
Ms FE Letlape Y Y N Y
Mr Y Tenza – – Y Y
Mr N Nika Y Y Y N

Board risk management and compliance committee
The committee consists of the following members and invitees:

Ms N Medupe Non-executive (Chairman)
Ms GN Jiyane Non-executive
Dr Z Rustomjee Non-executive
Mr Y Tenza Non-executive
Adv. L Makatini Non-executive
Mr MM Zwane Non-executive
Mr N Nika Executive

Attendance at meetings:

20
11

-0
5-

13

20
11

-0
7-

08

20
11

-1
0-

28

20
12

-0
2-

10

Ms N Medupe Y Y Y Y
Ms GN Jiyane Y Y Y N
Dr Z Rustomjee Y Re Re Re
Mr Y Tenza Y Y Y Y
Adv. L Makatini Y Y Y Y
Mr MM Zwane Y Y Y Y
Mr N Nika Y Y Y N

Board strategy and growth committee
The committee consists of the following members and invitees:

Mr ACG Molusi Non-executive (Chairman) 
Dr AMB Mokaba Non-executive
Mr Y Tenza Non-executive
Mr Z Mavuso Non-executive
Dr Z Rustomjee Non-executive
Mr N Nika Executive
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Attendance at meetings:
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Mr ACG Molusi Y Y Y Y N Y

Dr AMB Mokaba Y Y Y Y Y Y

Mr Y Tenza Y Y Y Y Y Y

Mr Z Mavuso Y Y Y Y N Y

Dr Z Rustomjee N N Y Y Y N

Mr N Nika Y Y Y Y Y N

20
11

-1
0-

31

20
12

-0
2-

13

Mr Y Tenza Y Y

Dr Z Rustomjee Y Y

Mr DR Zihlangu Y Y

Mr MM Zwane Y Y

Mr N Nika Y N

Y =  Attended meeting
N =  Apology received
– =  Not yet appointed
R =  Resigned from the Board
Re = Redeployed

2. Secretary
The secretary of the Company is Adv. PSV Ngaba, whose business and postal addresses are as follows:

Business address 151 Frans Conradie Drive
Parow
7500

Postal address Private Bag X5
Parow
7449

Directors’ Report continued

Project Ikhwezi committee
The committee consists of the following members and 
invitees:

Mr Y Tenza Non-executive

Dr Z Rustomjee Non-executive

Mr DR Zihlangu Non-executive

Mr MM Zwane Non-executive

Mr N Nika Executive

Attendance at meetings:



083PetroSA Annual Report 2012

3. Nature of business

Activities
The main areas of activity within the Group during the 
year are as follows :

•	 To	focus	on	projects	aimed	at	sustaining	the	
GTL re� nery through the securing of long-term 
feedstock and cash-� ow maximisation;

•	 To	ensure	security	of	supply,	growth	of	the	Group	
and an increase in its share of the local market 
through the development of a crude oil re� nery 
in Coega, entry into the downstream market 
and ensuring upstream reserves and production 
growth;

•	 To	deliver	sustainable	development	of	the	
economy and communities through skills 
development, the implementation of competitive 
supplier development programmes and the 
investment in social upliftment programmes 
of targeted groups through Corporate Social 
Investment programmes; and

•	 To	ensure	adherence	to	world-class	
environmental, safety, health and quality 
standards.

Objectives
The key elements/objectives of PetroSA’s core 
business strategy are as follows:

•	 Ensure	security	of	supply	of	liquid	fuels	for	the	
country.

•	 Be	a	competitive,	commercially	viable	company	
on a sustained basis along the value chain for the 
petroleum, oil, gas and petrochemical sectors.

•	 To	achieve	transformation	on	a	continuous	basis	
through the implementation of Employment Equity 
and Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment 
Policies.

•	 Operate	PetroSA	in	line	with	the	best	international	
practices with regard to safety, product quality, 
protection of the environment and health of the 
people employed by the Company.

•	 Actively	contribute	to	macro-economic	objectives	
related to the fuel price to the end-user, security 
of supply and reduction of exposure to forex 
requirements.

4. Review of � nancial position
Group � nancial results and operating 
activities
Analysis and review of results and � nancial 
position
The Group achieved a net pro� t of R1.4 billion (2011: 
R0.8 billion) for the year under review. Sales revenues 
were higher at R14.4 billion (2011: R10.5 billion), 
mainly due to the high crude oil price and an increase 
in crude and � nished product trading. However, cost 

of sales increased by 35% to R11.9 billion, mainly 
due to the smaller margins realised from purchased 
products and increased feedstock costs. 

Other Group operating costs had a positive variance 
of R1.6 billion (2011: R1.9 billion). This is mainly 
due to an expenditure reduction of R300 million 
in Equatorial Guinea, as no drilling occurred in the 
current year, as well as a VAT liability from the previous 
year which was reversed.

The Group’s � nancial position remains strong with 
total assets of R26.6 billion (2011: R25 billion). A 
cash balance of R12.8 billion (2011: R11.8 billion) 
and a long-term loan of nil (also zero in 2011) re� ects 
the Group’s strong net cash position at year-end. 
This position will be signi� cantly reduced in the 
coming year due to an aggressive capital expansion 
program which includes the Project Ikhwezi offshore 
development project and the acquisition of a stake 
in the Jubilee � eld in Ghana. Various options are 
also being explored in conjunction with the funding 
community to optimise our currently low-geared 
balance sheet as the organisation embarks on 
signi� cant capital expansion programmes in the short 
to medium term.

5. Authorised and issued share 
capital
Details of the share capital of the Company are set 
out in note 14 to the annual � nancial statements.

6. Dividends
No dividends were declared to the shareholder during 
the year.

7. Materiality and signi� cant 
framework
A materiality and signi� cant framework has been 
developed for reporting losses through criminal 
conduct and irregular, fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure, as well as for signi� cant transactions 
envisaged per section 54(2) of the PFMA that requires 
ministerial approval. The framework was � nalised after 
consultation with the external auditors and has been 
formally approved by the Board.

Diesel imported for sale into a Cape Town tankfarm 
was incorrectly cleared for customs purposes as a 
bonded tankfarm, resulting in penalties of R1.2 million 
for late payment of customs duties. The cancellation 
of a contract incurred a cancellation penalty of 
R19 million. Legal and consulting fees amounting to 
R15.4 million could have been avoided had due care 
been exercised. Interest and penalties of R16.4 million 
raised in PetroSA Equatorial Guinea in the prior year 
for the late payment of VAT was reversed in the 
current year.

Irregular expenditure for the year amounted to 
R27.4 million.
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8. Holding company
The Company’s holding company is CEF (SOC) 
Limited incorporated in South Africa and the ultimate 
shareholder is the South African Government. All 
shares held by the Government in CEF are not 
transferable in terms of the CEF Act (Act No. 37 of 
1977).

9. Subsidiaries and associates
The PetroSA Group structure has remained relatively 
stable and is mostly driven by the Company’s pursuit 
of exploration and production opportunities in Africa 
and elsewhere in line with the Company’s objectives. 
The companies within the Group are subsidiaries 
whose existence is driven by business needs. 

PetroSA had a 37.5% interest in the associate 
company GTL.F1 AG, a Swiss incorporated 
technology company which holds the licences of 
the GTL technology. The Group results include 
the performance of GTL.F1 AG for the year ended 
31 December 2011. One of the joint-venture partners 
withdrew from GTL.F1 AG with the result that 
PetroSA’s share increased from 37.5% to 50%.

PetroSA entered into a share-purchase agreement 
in December 2011 for the acquisition of 100% of 
the equity shares in Sabre Oil & Gas Holdings (BVI) 
(Sabre) with the agreement as on 1 January 2012, 
subject to conditions precedent. The purchase 
price was US$500 million, with an additional 
US$65 million contingent upon achieving certain 
performance milestones. Sabre participates in two 
petroleum agreements, namely Deep Water Tano 
and West Cape Three Points. These assets straddle 
a producing oil and gas �eld in Ghana, namely the 
Jubilee �eld. The accounting treatment will follow 
once all the conditions precedent have been met.

The Minister of Energy, at the annual general 
meeting of CEF in December 2010, requested that 
CEF consider ways in which the South African Gas 
and Development Company (SOC) Ltd (iGas) may 
be incorporated into PetroSA. Plans are currently 
underway to integrate iGas into PetroSA in terms of a 
ministerial directive issued on 8 March 2011.

In March 2012, PetroSA signed an asset purchase 
agreement for Pioneer Natural Resources (Pty) 
Ltd’s (PNR) 49% participation in the South Coast 
Gas joint venture. PetroSA will pay a US$60 million 
consideration and PNR will pay to PetroSA 
US$8 million in settlement of the gas sales metering 
dispute. The effective date of the transaction was 
1 January 2012, subject to conditions precedent. 
The accounting treatment will follow once all the 
conditions precedent have been met.

PetroSA Equatorial Guinea holds a 75% participating 
interest in Block Q in Equatorial Guinea. The remaining 
25% of the participating interest is held by GEPetrol, 
the Equatorial Guinea’s National Oil Company. The 
expiry date for the licence was 13 July 2012. PetroSA 
Equatorial Guinea applied for an extension to the 

licence period via a Production Sharing Contract 
amendment from the Ministry of Mines Industry 
and Energy on 11 May 2012 in order for PetroSA 
Equatorial Guinea to conclude assignment of 55% 
of its participating interest in Block Q to a suitable 
company. This extension would allow PetroSA 
Equatorial Guinea, together with a partner, to progress 
the Block Q work programme. By 13 July 2012, 
no formal communication had been received from 
the Minister for approval of the Production Sharing 
Contract amendment and extension and it was 
decided to impair the intercompany loan from 
PetroSA to PetroSA Equatorial Guinea.

10. Subsequent events
The directors are not aware of any other matters 
or circumstances arising since the end of the 
�nancial year that are not otherwise dealt with in the 
�nancial statements which signi�cantly affect the 
�nancial position of the Company or the results of its 
operations.

11. Going concern
The directors believe that the Group will continue as a 
going concern in the year ahead.

Dr AMB Mokaba
Chairman

Ms N Nokwe-Macamo
Group CEO

Mr N Nika
Chief Financial Of�cer

Cape Town
24 August 2012

Directors’ Report continued
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The Board Audit and Compliance Committee (BACC) has 
adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its audit 
and compliance committee charter and has discharged its 
responsibilities as set out in the charter and required in terms 
of the Companies Act.

1. Responsibilities
In performing its duties the BACC recommended the 
appointment of the external auditor to the Board for 
approval at the annual general meeting. The BACC 
approved the terms of engagement and remuneration 
of the external audit engagement. The Committee is 
responsible for overseeing the external audit process 
and con� rms that the external auditors are independent 
of the Company and conducted their audit without 
in� uence from the Company. 

The Board Audit and Compliance committee has 
reviewed: 

•	 The	effectiveness	of	the	internal	control	systems;

•	 The	effectiveness	of	the	internal	audit	department;

•	 The	risk	areas	of	the	entity's	operations	covered	in	
the scopes of the internal and external audits; 

•		 The	integrity	and	quality	of	fi	nancial	information	
provided by management and other users of such 
information;

•	 The	accounting	and	auditing	concerns	identifi	ed	as	
a result of the internal and external audits;

•	 The	Company's	compliance	with	applicable	legal	
and regulatory provisions; and

•	 The	activities	of	the	internal	audit	department,	
including its annual work programme, co-ordination 
with the external auditors and the responses of 
management to speci� c recommendations.

The BACC is of the opinion, based on the information 
and explanations given by management, the internal 
audit department and the results of the external audit, 
that:

•	 Suffi	cient	reliance	can	be	placed	on	the	design	of	
Critical Financial Controls. Control weaknesses 
identi� ed during effectiveness testing were not 
material in nature and did not impact the overall 
effectiveness of the critical � nancial controls to 
mitigate associated inherent risks. The irregular 
and fruitless and wasteful expenditure reported 
in the annual � nancial statements were identi� ed 
as a result of strong detective controls in the 
supply chain management process and have not 
impacted the overall assessment. Management 
have agreed to implement additional preventative 
controls. The overall assessment of critical 
� nancial controls is therefore Satisfactory High. 
Our review of the critical � nancial control process 
indicates material opportunities for improvement. 
Management have undertaken to formulate 
and implement a formal framework, as required 
in terms of King III, to achieve an integrated 
approach. 

•	 Although	some	weaknesses	were	identifi	ed	in	the	
design and/or operational effectiveness of key 
controls in the enterprise wide risk management 
process, controls were adequate and effective 
to mitigate associated inherent risks. The overall 
assessment of enterprise-wide risk management 
is therefore Satisfactory Low. 

•	 The	overall	assessment	of	governance	processes	
indicates material opportunities for improvement. 
The governance processes were assessed as 
Satisfactory Low based on the audit engagements 
performed during the year under review. We draw 
attention to the number of irregular and fruitless 
and wasteful expenditure set out in note 37 of 
the annual � nancial statements which resulted 
from management override of internal controls 
in the supply chain management process over 
a speci� c period during the year under review. 
Subsequent to the year-end, the Minister issued a 
directive to conduct a forensic investigation into a 
number of transactions that did not follow proper 
procurement procedures for the 2011 and 2012 
� nancial years. These matters have compromised 
the good governance principles previously 
followed by the Company, negatively impacting 
the overall governance assessment. 

•	 The	Company	has	not	complied	with	all	applicable	
legal and regulatory provisions during the year 
under review.

Based on the evaluation of the Finance function, the 
Committee is satis� ed that the Finance function has 
appropriate expertise, resources and experience. 

Having reviewed and evaluated the � nancial 
statements of PetroSA and the Group for the year 
ended 31 March 2012, the members of the Board 
Audit and Compliance Committee believe that the 
� nancial statements fairly present the state of affairs 
of the Company, its business, � nancial results, 
performance against predetermined objectives and its 
� nancial position at the end of the � nancial year, and 
conclude that they comply, in all material respects, 
with the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 
2008, the Public Finance Management Act No. 1 of 
1999.

2. Legal and regulatory compliance
The Committee concurs that the adoption of the 
going-concern premise is appropriate in preparing the 
� nancial statements. 

The Board Audit and Compliance committee 
has recommended the adoption of the � nancial 
statements by the Board of directors at their meeting 
on 24 August 2012.

Ms GN Jiyane
Chairperson

24 August 2012

Report of the Board Audit and Compliance 
Committee for the year ended 31 March 2012
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The criteria for assessing the materiality and signi�cant framework for the Petroleum Oil And Gas Corporation of South Africa 
(SOC) Ltd are contained in the table below:

QUALITATIVE QUANTITATIVE

1. Material disclosure of information to the Minister
Disclosure by the PetroSA 
Board of material facts to the 
Minister of Energy. 

Facts that may in�uence the decisions or 
actions of the stakeholders of a public entity.

Risks to the public entity that may 
impact on the future sustainability of 
the entity or the Group.

2. Annual report, �nancial statement and Executive Authority disclosures
Material losses Criminal conduct: All expenditure

Expenditure that results from an illegal act, 
fraudulent act and/or criminal behaviour. All 
instances will be fully disclosed to the Board 
Audit and Compliance Committee. Disclosures 
in the annual report and the �nancial statements 
will be made for all losses due to criminal 
conduct.

Irregular expenditure: All expenditure

Other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred 
in contravention of, or that is not in accordance 
with, the requirements of any applicable 
legislation.

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure: All expenditure

Made in vain and would have been avoided had 
reasonable care been exercised.

3. Borrowings, guarantee, indemnity or security
Borrowings, guarantees, indemnity or security 
must be approved by the Board.

4. Approval from the Accounting Authority on participation in certain transactions
Signi�cant partnership Approval from the Accounting Authority is 

needed when capital at risk for PetroSA 
exceeds 2% of total assets. 

< R500 000 000

Signi�cant trust Approval from the Accounting Authority is 
needed when funding of the trust exceeds 2% 
of PetroSA’s total assets.

< R500 000 000

Signi�cant unincorporated 
joint venture

Approval from the Accounting Authority is 
needed when venture capital at risk for PetroSA 
exceeds 2% of total assets.

< R500 000 000

Signi�cant assets Approval from the Accounting Authority is 
needed when the cost associated with the 
acquisition and disposal of any immovable 
property such as land, buildings and moveable 
assets exceeds 2% of PetroSA’s total assets. 

< R500 000 000

Materiality and Signi�cant Framework
for the year ended 31 March 2012
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QUALITATIVE QUANTITATIVE

Signi� cant business Approval from the Accounting Authority is 
needed when commencement and cessation of 
a business activity represents or will represent 
more than 2% of PetroSA’s total assets.

< R500 000 000

Signi� cant change Approval from the Accounting Authority is 
needed when engaging in new business that 
is unrelated to the business and where the 
investment exceeds 2% of total assets.

< R500 000 000

5. Approval from CEF Board on participation in certain transactions
Signi� cant partnership Approval from the CEF Board is needed when 

capital at risk for PetroSA exceeds 2% of total 
assets.

R500 000 001 < R672 000 000

Signi� cant trust Approval from the CEF Board is needed when 
funding of the trust exceeds 2% of total assets 
of PetroSA.

R500 000 001 < R672 000 000

Signi� cant unincorporated 
joint venture

Approval from the CEF Board is needed when 
venture capital at risk for PetroSA exceeds 2% 
of total assets.

R500 000 001 < R672 000 000

Signi� cant assets Approval from the CEF Board is needed when 
the cost associated with the acquisition and 
disposal of any immovable property such as 
land, buildings and movable assets exceeds 2% 
of PetroSA’s total assets.

R500 000 001 < R672 000 000

Signi� cant business Approval from the CEF Board is needed when 
commencement and cessation of a business 
activity that represents or will represent more 
than 2% of PetroSA’s total assets.

R500 000 001 < R672 000 000

Signi� cant change Approval from the CEF Board is needed when 
engaging in new business that is unrelated to 
the existing business and where the investment 
exceeds 2% of all assets.

R500 000 001 < R672 000 000

6. Approval from DOE/Executive Authority and to inform National Treasury 
via CEF
Signi� cant partnership Approval from the DOE/Executive Authority 

is needed when capital at risk for PetroSA 
exceeds R672 million.

> R672 000 000

Signi� cant trust Approval from the DOE/Executive Authority 
is needed when funding of the trust exceeds 
R672 million.

> R672 000 000

Signi� cant unincorporated 
joint venture

Approval from the DOE/Executive Authority is 
needed when venture capital at risk for PetroSA 
exceeds R672 million.

> R672 000 000

Signi� cant assets Approval from the DOE/Executive Authority 
is needed when the cost associated with the 
acquisition and disposal of any immovable 
property such as land, buildings and movable 
assets exceeds R672 million.

> R672 000 000
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QUALITATIVE QUANTITATIVE

Signi�cant business Approval from the DOE/Executive Authority is 
needed when commencement and cessation 
of a business activity that represents or will 
represent more than R672 million.

> R672 000 000

Signi�cant change Approval from the DOE/Executive Authority is 
needed when engaging in new business that is 
unrelated to the existing business and where the 
investment exceeds R672 million.

> R672 000 000

7. Approval from CEF Board and DOE/Executive Authority and to inform 
National Treasury via CEF
Signi�cant capital projects Approval from the DOE/Executive Authority is 

needed when engaging in capital projects where 
the investment exceeds R672 million.

> R 672 000 000

8. Approval from DOE/Executive Authority and to inform National Treasury  
via CEF
Signi�cant shareholding Approval from DOE/Executive Authority is 

needed for the establishment or participation in 
the establishment of a company.

Approval from DOE/Executive Authority is 
needed when an acquisition or disposal of a 
shareholding in a company results in a change 
of 20% or more of the Company’s equity.

Materiality and Signi�cant Framework continued
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In my capacity as company secretary, I hereby con� rm, in terms of section 88 of the Companies Act of 2008, that for the year 
ended 31 March 2012 the Company has lodged with the registrar of companies all such returns as are required of a company in 
terms of this act, and that all such returns are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, correct and up to date.

Adv. PSV Ngaba

Cape Town
24 August 2012

Statement from Company Secretary
for the year ended 31 March 2012
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 March 2012

Note(s)

Group Company

2012
R’000

Restated
2011

R’000
2012

R’000

Restated
2011

R’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 2 6 712 522 7 240 534 6 710 981 7 238 126

Intangible assets 3 8 054 80 273 8 054 1 111

Investment in subsidiaries 5 – – 3 131 6 279

Investment in associates 6 – – 29 625 23 490

Other �nancial assets 7 185 597 116 975 185 597 1 317 281

Prepayments 243 869 – 243 869 –

Amounts held by holding company 8 489 021 489 021 489 021 489 021

 7 639 063  7 926 803  7 670 278  9 075 308 

Current assets

Inventories 9 2 572 653 1 575 827 2 560 801 1 510 043

Current tax receivable 26 714 413 157 26 714 413 157

Trade and other receivables 11 3 399 510 2 070 344 3 400 003 2 072 184

Cash and cash equivalents 12 12 848 843 11 852 498 12 783 863 11 795 852

 18 847 720  15 911 826  18 771 381  15 791 236 

Non-current assets held for sale and assets  
of disposal groups 13 – 1 167 772 – –

Total assets  26 486 783  25 006 401  26 441 659  24 866 544 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 14 2 755 936 2 755 936 2 755 936 2 755 936

Reserves 4 671 (87 004) 104 142

Retained income 15 257 464 13 975 843 15 245 446 14 637 562

 18 018 071  16 644 775  18 001 486  17 393 640 

Liabilities 
Non-current liabilities

Loans from Group companies 10 – – –  1 

Provisions 15 5 928 079 5 649 819 5 900 052 5 623 427

 5 928 079  5 649 819  5 900 052  5 623 428 

Current liabilities

Current tax payable 4 104 2 880 – –

Trade and other payables 16 2 272 974 1 626 403 2 277 208 1 486 875

Provisions 15 263 555 363 128 262 913 362 601

2 540 633 1 992 411 2 540 121 1 849 476 

Liabilities of disposal groups 13 – 719 396 – –

Total liabilities 8 468 712 8 361 626 8 440 173 7 472 904

Total equity and liabilities 26 486 783 25 006 401 26 441 659 24 866 544
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Note(s)

Group Company

2012
R’000

Restated
2011

R’000
2012

R’000

Restated
2011

R’000

Continuing operations

Revenue 17 14 444 001 10 565 385 14 420 178 10 565 042

Cost of sales (11 941 201) (8 854 583) (11 885 789) (8 846 840)

Gross pro� t  2 502 800  1 710 802  2 534 389  1 718 202 

Other income 80 326 256 505 466 360 267 022

Operating expenses (1 674 632) (1 903 505) (2 918 354) (1 565 356)

Operating pro� t 18  908 494  63 802  82 395  419 868 

Investment income 20 840 396 859 887 981 671 974 810

Loss from equity-accounted investments 21 (6 135) – – –

Finance costs 22 (456 236) (422 534) (456 182) (422 530)

Pro� t before taxation  1 286 519  501 155  607 884  972 148 

Taxation 23 (4 898) 308 519 – 312 897

Pro� t from continuing operations  1 281 621  809 674  607 884  1 285 045 

Discontinued operations

Pro� t from discontinued operations 13 – 21 681 – –

Pro� t for the year  1 281 621  831 355  607 884  1 285 045 

Other comprehensive income

Exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations 91 675 (32 159) (38) 2 093

Total comprehensive income  1 373 296  799 196  607 846  1 287 138 

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent:

Pro� t for the year from continuing operations  1 281 621  809 674  607 884  1 285 045 

Pro� t for the year from discontinuing operations –  21 681 – –

Exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations  91 675  (32 159)  (38)  2 093 

Pro� t for the year attributable to owners 
of the parent  1 373 296  799 196  607 846  1 287 138

Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 March 2012
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Share
capital
R’000

Share
premium

R’000

Total
share

capital
R’000

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

R’000

Retained
income

R’000

Total 
equity
R’000

GROUP

Balance at 1 April 2010 2 2 755 934  2 755 936 (54 845) 13 144 488  15 845 579 

Changes in equity

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – (32 159) 831 355  799 196 

Total changes – – –  (32 159)  831 355  799 196 

Balance at 1 April 2011  2  2 755 934  2 755 936  (87 004)  13 975 843  16 644 775 

Changes in equity

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – 91 675  1 281 621  1 373 296 

Total changes – – –  91 675  1 281 621  1 373 296 

Balance at 31 March 2012  2  2 755 934  2 755 936  4 671  15 257 464  18 018 071 

Note(s) 14 14 14

COMPANY

Opening balance as previously reported 2 2 755 934 2 755 936 (1 951) 13 373 372 16 127 357

Adjustments

Previous period error – – – – (20 855) (20 855)

Balance at 1 April 2011 as restated  2  2 755 934  2 755 936  (1 951)  13 352 517  16 106 502 

Changes in equity

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – –  2 093  1 285 045  1 287 138 

Total changes – – –  2 093  1 285 045  1 287 138 

Opening balance as previously reported  2  2 755 934  2 755 936  142  14 643 933  17 400 011 

Adjustments

Previous period error –  (6 371)  (6 371) 

Balance at 1 April 2011 as restated  2  2 755 934  2 755 936  142  14 637 562  17 393 640 

Changes in equity

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – (38)  607 884  607 846 

Total changes – – – (38)  607 884  607 846 

Balance at 31 March 2012  2  2 755 934  2 755 936  104  15 245 446  18 001 486

Note(s) 14 14 14
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Note(s)

Group Company

2012
R’000

Restated
2011

R’000
2012

R’000

Restated
2011

R’000

Cash � ows from operating activities

Cash generated/(utilised) by operations 24 (103 182) 862 967 392 343 1 198 407

Interest income 840 396 859 886 981 671 973 087

Dividends received – 1 – 1 723

Finance costs (1 994) (2 561) (1 940) (2 561)

Tax refunded 25 382 769 257 536 386 443 257 069

Cash � ows of discontinued operations 26 448 376 33 621 – –

Net cash from operating activities  1 566 365  2 011 450  1 758 517  2 427 725 

Cash � ows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 2 (601 214) (197 071) (601 183) (196 922)

Sale of property, plant and equipment 2 334 1 866 312 1 728

Purchase of other intangible assets 3 (9 434) – (9 434) –

Loans to Group companies impaired/written-off – – (1 397 812) 35 402

Sale/(purchase) of � nancial assets (68 621) 18 427 1 131 683 (441 808)

Repayment of amounts held by holding company – 48 627 – 48 627

Cash � ow from equity-accounted associates – – (6 135) –

Cash � ow from subsidiaries – – 3 148 (492)

Net cash from investing activities (678 935) (128 151) (879 421)  (553 465) 

Cash � ows from � nancing activities

Repayment of shareholders loan –  (17 995) –  (17 991)

Net cash from � nancing activities – (17 995) –  (17 991)

Cash and cash equivalents movement 
for the year  887 430  1 865 304  879 096  1 856 269 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 
of the year 11 852 498 9 907 600 11 795 852 9 859 989

Effect of exchange rate movements on 
cash balances 108 915 79 594 108 915 79 594

Cash and cash equivalents at the end 
of the year 12  12 848 843  11 852 498  12 783 863  11 795 852
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Accounting Policies
for the year ended 31 March 2012

1. Presentation of annual �nancial 
statements

The following are the principal accounting policies of the 
Group which are, in all material respects, consistent with 
those of the previous year, except as otherwise indicated:

1.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated �nancial statements are prepared under the 
historical cost basis, except where otherwise speci�ed. 

The Group's annual �nancial statements are prepared in 
accordance with South African Statements of Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice and the Companies Act 
of 2008.

These annual �nancial statements are presented in 
South African Rands. Rounding is to the nearest Rand 
in thousands. The consolidated �nancial statements are 
prepared on the going-concern basis.

Assets and liabilities or income and expenditure will not be 
offset, unless it is required or permitted by a standard.

1.2 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated �nancial statements incorporate the annual 
�nancial statements of the entity and enterprises controlled 
by the entity at 31 March each year.

Control is achieved where the entity has the power to govern 
the �nancial and operating policies of an investee enterprise 
so as to obtain bene�ts from its activities.

On acquisition, the assets and liabilities of the relevant 
subsidiaries are measured at their fair values at the effective 
date of acquisition.

The results of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income from the 
effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of 
disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the annual 
�nancial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting 
policies used in line with the Group accounting policies.

All signi�cant inter-entity transactions, unrealised pro�t 
and losses and balances between Group enterprises are 
eliminated on consolidation.

The most recent audited annual �nancial statements of 
associates, joint ventures and subsidiaries are used where 
available, which are all within three months of the year-end 
of the Group. Adjustments are made to the �nancial results 
for material transactions and events in the intervening period. 
Losses in excess of the Group’s interest are not recognised 
unless there is a binding obligation to contribute to the 
losses.

Company �nancial statements

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
in the �nancial statements presented by the Company are 
recognised at cost, except where there is a permanent 
decline in the value, in which case they are written down 
to fair value.

Consolidated �nancial statements

Business combinations

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the holding company. 
The consolidated �nancial statements incorporate the assets, 
liabilities, income, expenses and cash �ows of the Company 
and all entities controlled by the Company as if they are a 
single economic entity. 

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted 
for using the acquisition method. The cost of the business 
combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values 
(at the date of acquisition) of assets given, liabilities incurred 
or assumed and equity instruments issued by the Group in 
exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly 
attributable to the business combination. Acquisition related 
costs are expensed as incurred. The acquiree’s identi�able 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the 
conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 (AC 140): Business 
Combinations are recognised at their fair values at the 
acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal 
groups) that are classi�ed as held for sale in accordance 
with IFRS 5 (AC 142): Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations, which are recognised and 
measured at fair value less costs to sell.

Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the sum of a) 
fair value of consideration transferred, b) the recognised 
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and 
c) acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity interests 
in the acquiree over the acquisition-date fair values of net 
identi�able assets. If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest 
in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identi�able assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the 
business combination, the excess is recognised immediately 
in pro�t or loss.

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests 
as transactions with equity owners of the Group. For 
purchases from non controlling interests, the difference 
between any consideration paid and the relevant share 
acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary 
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-
controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control or signi�cant 
in�uence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to 
its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised 
in pro�t or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount 
for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the 
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or �nancial 
asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are 
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the 
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassi�ed to pro�t or loss.

Interest in associates

An associate is an enterprise in which the Group has 
signi�cant in�uence, through participation in the �nancial and 
operating policy decisions of the investee, but not control 
thereof. 
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The results, assets and liabilities of associates are 
incorporated in the � nancial statements by using the equity 
method of accounting, except when the investment is 
classi� ed as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for 
in accordance with IFRS 5 (AC 142): Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the 
equity method, investments in associates are carried in 
the consolidated Statement of Financial Position at cost as 
adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share 
of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in 
the value of individual investments. Losses of an associate 
in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate (which 
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part 
of the Group’s net investment in associate) are recognised 
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or 
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
associate. 

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share 
of the net fair value of the identi� able assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of 
acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included 
within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed 
for impairment as part of that investment. Any excess of the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identi� able assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, 
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in pro� t or 
loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but 
signi� cant in� uence is retained, only a proportionate share of 
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassi� ed to pro� t or loss where appropriate.

Interest in joint ventures

A joint venture is a contractual agreement between two or 
more parties to undertake an economic activity which is 
under joint control. This is when the strategic � nancial and 
operating policy decisions relating to the activities of the joint 
venture require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control. 

Where a Group entity undertakes its activities under joint 
venture arrangements directly, the Group’s share of jointly 
controlled assets and any liabilities incurred jointly with 
other venturers are recognised in the � nancial statements of 
the relevant entity and classi� ed according to their nature. 
Liabilities and expenses incurred directly in respect of 
interests in jointly controlled assets are accounted for on an 
accrual basis. Income from the sale or use of the Group’s 
share of the output of jointly-controlled assets, and its share 
of joint venture expenses, are recognised when it is probable 
that the economic bene� ts associated with the transactions 
will � ow to/from the Group and their amount can be 
measured reliably.

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of 
a separate entity in which each venturer has an interest are 
referred to as jointly-controlled entities. The Group reports 
its interests in jointly-controlled entities using proportionate 
consolidation, except when the investment is classi� ed as 
held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance 
with IFRS 5 (AC 142): Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations. The Group’s share of the assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses of jointly-controlled entities 
are combined with the equivalent items in the consolidated 
� nancial statements on a line-by-line basis.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s interest 
in a jointly-controlled entity is accounted for in accordance 
with the Group’s accounting policy for goodwill arising on the 
acquisition of a subsidiary.

All signi� cant inter-company transactions and balances 
between Group entities are eliminated on proportionate 
consolidation to the extent of the Group’s interest in the joint 
venture.

1.3 Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions

Foreign currency transactions are recognised, initially in Rand, 
by applying the foreign currency amount to the exchange rate 
between the Rand and the foreign currency at the date of the 
transaction, and are restated at each reporting date by using 
the ruling exchange rate at that date.

Statement of Financial Position

At each reporting date:

•	 Foreign	currency	monetary	items	are	measured	using	the	
closing rate;

•	 Non-monetary	items,	which	are	carried	in	terms	of	
historical cost denominated in a foreign currency, are 
reported using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction; and

•	 Non-monetary	items	which	are	carried	at	fair	value	
denominated in a foreign currency are reported using 
the exchange rates that existed when the values were 
determined.

Exchange differences

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary 
items or on reporting a company’s monetary items at rates 
different from those at which they were initially recorded 
during the period, or reported in previous annual � nancial 
statements, are recognised as income or expenses in 
the period in which they arise. Exchange differences are 
capitalised where they relate to the purchase or construction 
of property, plant and equipment.

Foreign entities

In translating the � nancial statements of a foreign entity for 
incorporation in the Group � nancial statements, the following 
is applied:

(a) The assets and liabilities of the foreign entity, both 
monetary and non-monetary, are translated at the closing 
exchange rate at the � nancial year-end date.

(b) Income and expense items of the foreign entity are 
translated at the weighted average rates of exchange for 
the year. 

(c) All resulting exchange differences are taken directly to 
the foreign currency translation reserve which is classi� ed 
as a non-distributable reserve. On disposal, the related 
amount in this reserve will be recognised in pro� t or loss.
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1.4 Comparative �gures

Comparative �gures are restated in the event of a change in 
accounting policy or prior period error.

1.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment represent tangible items that 
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, for rental to others or for administrative purposes, 
and are expected to be used during more than one period.

Carrying amounts

All property, plant and equipment are stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Cost

Cost includes all costs directly attributable to bringing the 
assets to the working condition for their intended use. 
Improvements are capitalised. Maintenance, repairs and 
renewals which neither materially add to the value of assets 
nor appreciably prolong their useful lives are charged against 
income.

Finance costs directly associated with the construction or 
acquisition of major assets are capitalised at interest rates 
relating to loans speci�cally raised for that purpose, or at the 
average borrowing rate where the general pool of borrowings 
is utilised.

Derecognition

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future 
economic bene�ts are expected from its use. 

Gains or losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment 
are determined by reference to their carrying amount.

The gains or losses arising from derecognition of an item of 
property, plant and equipment are included in pro�t or loss. 
Gains on disposal will not be classi�ed as revenue.

Depreciation

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the depreciable 
amount of the assets, other than land, over their estimated 
useful lives to estimated residual values using the straight-line 
method or another acceptable method to write off the cost 
of each asset that re�ects the pattern in which the asset’s 
future economic bene�ts are expected to be consumed by 
the entity. 

Where signi�cant parts of an item have different useful lives 
relative to the item itself, these parts are depreciated over 
their estimated useful lives.

The following methods and rates are used during the year 
to depreciate property, plant and equipment to estimated 
residual values:

Item Average useful life

Land Not depreciated

Buildings 40 years

Furniture, �ttings and communication 
equipment

3 – 15 years

Motor vehicles 10 – 12 years

Computer equipment 3 – 5 years

Shutdown costs 3 – 5 years

An exception is made for production assets and restoration 
costs, where the units of production method is used to 
calculate depreciation. Reference to the supplementary 
reserves disclosure can be made for more information on the 
reserves used.

Improvements to leased premises are written off over the 
period of the lease.

The methods of depreciation, useful lives and residual values 
are reviewed annually.

Production assets (oil and gas �elds)

Oil and gas production assets are the tangible aggregated 
exploration and evaluation assets and the development 
expenditure associated with the production of proved 
reserves.

Subsequent expenditure which enhances or extends the 
performance of oil and gas production assets beyond their 
original speci�cations is recognised as capital expenditure 
and added to the original cost of the asset.

Production assets are depreciated over their expected useful 
lives. This applies from the date production commences and 
on a unit-of-production basis, which is the ratio of oil and 
gas production in the period to the estimated quantities of 
proved and probable reserves at the end of the period, plus 
the production in the period on a �eld-by-�eld basis. Units 
of production rates are based on the proved and probable 
reserves, which are oil, gas and other mineral reserves 
estimated to be recoverable from existing facilities using 
current operating methods.

Where there has been a change in economic conditions 
that indicates a possible impairment in a discovery �eld, 
the recoverability of the net book value relating to that �eld 
is assessed by comparison with the estimated discounted 
future cash �ows based on management’s expectations of 
future oil and gas prices and future costs. Where there is 
evidence of economic interdependency between �elds, such 
as common infrastructure, the �elds are grouped as a single 
cash-generating unit for impairment purposes.

Any impairment identi�ed is charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as additional depreciation. Where 
conditions giving rise to impairment subsequently reverse, 
the effect of the impairment charge is also reversed as a 
credit to the Statement of Comprehensive Income, net of 
any depreciation that would have been charged since the 
impairment.

Restoration costs

Cost of property, plant and equipment also includes the 
estimated costs of dismantling and removing the assets and 
site rehabilitation costs.

Estimated decommissioning and restoration costs are 
based on current requirements, technology and price levels. 
Provision is made for all net estimated abandonment costs 
as soon as an obligation to rehabilitate the area exists, based 
on the present value of the future estimated costs. These 
costs are deferred and are depreciated over the useful life of 
the assets to which they relate using the unit of production 
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method based on the same reserve quantities as are used for 
the calculation of depletion of oil and gas production assets. 

The amount recognised is the estimated cost of restoration, 
discounted to its net present value, and is reassessed each 
year in accordance with local conditions and requirements. 
Changes in the estimated timing of decommissioning or 
decommissioning cost estimates are dealt with prospectively 
by recording an adjustment to the provision and a 
corresponding adjustment to property, plant and equipment. 
The unwinding of the discount on the restoration provision 
is included as a � nance cost.

1.6 Exploration, evaluation and development of oil 
and gas wells

The “successful efforts” method is used to account for 
natural oil and gas exploration, evaluation and development 
activities.

Pre-licensing costs

These are costs incurred prior to the acquisition of a legal 
right to explore for oil and gas. They may include speculative 
seismic data and subsequent geological and geophysical 
analysis of this data, but may not be exclusive to such costs. 
If such analysis suggests the presence of reserves, then 
the costs are capitalised to an identi� ed structure (� eld or 
reservoir). However, if the analysis is not de� nitive then these 
costs are expensed in the year they are incurred.

Exploration and evaluation costs

All costs relating to the acquisition of licenses, exploration 
and evaluation of a well, � eld or exploration area are initially 
capitalised. Directly attributable administration costs and 
interest payable are capitalised insofar as they relate to 
speci� c development activities.

These costs are then written off as exploration costs in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income unless commercial 
reserves have been established or the determination process 
has not been completed and there are no indications of 
impairment.

Assets pending determination

Exploratory wells that discover potentially commercial 
reserves are capitalised pending a decision to further 
develop, or a � rm plan to develop, has been approved. These 
wells may remain capitalised for three years. If no such plan 
or development exists or information is obtained that raises 
doubt about the economic or operating viability, then these 
costs will be recognised in the pro� t or loss of that year. If a 
plan or intention to further develop these wells or � elds exists, 
the costs are transferred to development costs.

Development costs

Costs of development wells, platforms, well equipment 
and attendant production facilities are capitalised. The cost 
of production facilities capitalised includes � nance costs 
incurred until the production facility is completed and ready 
for the start of the production phase. Development wells are 

not depreciated until production starts and then they are 
depreciated on the Units of Production method calculated 
using the estimated proved and probable reserves. 

Dry wells

Geological and geophysical costs, as well as all other costs 
relating to dry exploratory wells costs, are recognised in the 
pro� t and loss in the year they are incurred.

1.7 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is an identi� able non-monetary asset 
without physical substance. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost if acquired 
separately or internally generated or at fair value if acquired 
as part of a business combination. If assessed as having an 
inde� nite useful life, the intangible asset is not amortised but 
tested for impairment annually and impaired if necessary. If 
assessed as having a � nite useful life, it is amortised over its 
useful life using a straight-line basis and tested for impairment 
if there is an indication that it may be impaired.

Research costs are recognised in pro� t or loss when 
incurred.

Development costs are capitalised only if they result in an 
asset that can be identi� ed, if it is probable that the asset will 
generate future economic bene� ts and the development cost 
can be reliably measured. Otherwise it is recognised in pro� t 
or loss.

Purchased software and the direct costs associated with the 
customisation and installation thereof are capitalised.

1.8 Impairment of non-� nancial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying 
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets may be 
impaired. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount for an individual asset, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs. Value in use is estimated 
taking into account future cash � ows, forecast market 
conditions and the expected lives of the assets discounted 
by the weighted average cost of capital.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, its 
carrying amount is reduced to the higher of its recoverable 
amount and zero. Impairment losses are recognised in pro� t 
or loss. Subsequent to the recognition of the impairment 
loss, the depreciation or amortisation charge for the asset 
is adjusted to allocate its remaining carrying value, less any 
residual value, over its remaining useful life.

If an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount but limited 



098 PetroSA Annual Report 2012

Accounting Policies continued

to the carrying amount that would have been determined had 
an impairment loss not been recognised in previous years. 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in pro�t or loss.

1.9 Leases

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities at the 
lower of the fair value of the assets and the present value of 
the minimum lease payments at the date of the acquisition. 
Finance costs represent the difference between the total 
leasing commitments and the fair value of the assets acquired. 
Finance costs are charged to the pro�t and loss over the term 
of the lease at the interest rates applicable to the lease on the 
remaining balance of the obligations.

Rentals payable under operating leases are recognised in 
pro�t or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease where signi�cant or another basis if more 
representative of the time pattern of the user’s bene�t.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period 
has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor 
by way of penalty is recognised as an expense during the 
period in which termination takes place.

Contingent rentals are recognised in pro�t or loss as 
they accrue.

1.10 Inventories

Trading inventory

Finished and intermediate inventory is measured at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value according to the weighted 
average method. Cost includes production expenditure, 
depreciation and a proportion of triennial turnaround 
expenses and replacement of catalysts, as well as transport 
and handling costs. No account is taken of the value of raw 
materials and work in progress prior to it reaching intermediate 
storage tanks. Provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving 
and defective inventories.

Spares, catalysts and chemical

These inventories are measured at the lower of cost on a 
weighted average cost basis and net realisable value less 
appropriate provision for obsolescence in arriving at the net 
realisable value.

1.11 Financial instruments

Recognition

Financial assets and �nancial liabilities are recognised on the 
Group and Company’s Statement of Financial Position when 
the Group and Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities as a result of �rm commitments 
are only recognised when one of the parties has performed 
under the contract.

Financial instruments recognised on the Statement of Financial 
Position include cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, 
investments, trade payables and borrowings.

Measurement

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair 
value, plus transaction costs. However, transaction costs of 
�nancial assets and liabilities classi�ed as fair value through 
pro�t or loss are expensed. Subsequent measurement will 
depend on the classi�cation of the �nancial instrument as 
detailed below.

Financial assets

The Group’s principal �nancial assets are investments and 
loans receivable, accounts receivable and cash and cash 
equivalents. All �nancial assets except for those at fair value 
through pro�t or loss are subject to review for impairment 
at each reporting date.

Investments

The following categories of investments are measured at 
subsequent reporting dates at amortised cost by using the 
effective interest rate method:

(a) Loans and receivables originated by the Group with �xed 
maturities;

(b) Held-to-maturity investments;

(c) An investment that does not have a quoted market price in 
an active market and whose fair value cannot be measured 
reliably using an appropriate valuation model.

Loans and receivables with no �xed maturity period and other 
investments not covered above are classi�ed as fair value 
through pro�t and loss on initial recognition. Fair value for this 
purpose is market value, if listed, or a value derived by using 
an appropriate valuation model, if unlisted. 

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are classi�ed as loans and 
receivables and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest rate method less an allowance for 
any uncollectable amounts. An estimate for impairment is 
made when objective evidence is available that indicates that 
the collection of any amount outstanding is no longer probable 
and is charged to pro�t and loss. Bad debts are written off 
when identi�ed.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at the bank and on 
hand as well as instruments which are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and are subject to an insigni�cant risk 
of change in value. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at 
the carrying amount which is deemed to be the fair value.

Financial liabilities

The Group’s principal �nancial liabilities are interest-bearing 
borrowings, accounts payable and bank overdraft.

Financial liabilities are stated initially on the transaction date 
at fair value including transaction costs. Subsequently, all 
�nancial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method and comprising original debt 
less principal payments and amortisation, except for �nancial 
liabilities held for trading, as well as borrowings with no �xed 
maturity period, and are classi�ed as fair value through pro�t 
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and loss on initial recognition and derivative liabilities, which 
are subsequently measured at fair value. A change in fair value 
is recognised in pro� t or loss.

Derivative � nancial instruments

Derivative � nancial instruments, principally interest rate swap 
contracts and forward foreign exchange contracts, are used 
by the Company in its management of � nancial risks.

Derivative � nancial instruments are initially measured at fair 
value on the contract date, and are remeasured to fair value at 
subsequent reporting dates.

Payments and receipts under interest rate swap contracts are 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on 
a basis consistent with the corresponding � uctuations in the 
interest payment on � oating rate � nancial liabilities.

The carrying amounts of interest rate swaps, which comprise 
net interest receivables and payables accrued, are included in 
assets and liabilities respectively.

Gains and losses on subsequent measurement

All gains and losses arising from a change in fair value of, or 
on disposal of, held-for-trading � nancial assets are recognised 
in pro� t or loss.

Gains and losses arising from a change in the fair value of 
available-for-sale � nancial assets are recognised in other 
comprehensive income, until the investment is disposed of or 
is determined to be impaired, at which time the gain or loss is 
included in the pro� t or loss for the period.

Gains and losses arising from cash � ow hedges are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. 

In relation to fair value hedges which meet the conditions for 
hedge accounting, the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging 
instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and the 
ineffective portion is recognised in pro� t and loss.

If a hedged � rm commitment or forecasted transaction results 
in the recognition of an asset or a liability, then the associated 
gains or losses recognised in equity are adjusted against the 
initial measurement of the asset or liability. For all other cash 
� ow hedges, amounts recognised in equity are included in 
pro� t or loss in the same period during which the commitment 
or forecasted transaction affects pro� t or loss.

Derecognition

A � nancial asset or part thereof is derecognised when the 
Group realises the contractual rights to the bene� ts speci� ed 
in the contract, the rights expire, the Group surrenders those 
rights or otherwise loses control of the contractual rights that 
comprise the � nancial asset. On derecognition, the difference 
between the carrying amount of the � nancial asset and the 
sum of the proceeds receivable and any prior adjustment to 
re� ect the fair value of the asset that had been reported in 
equity is included in net pro� t or loss for the period.

A � nancial liability or a part thereof is derecognised when the 
obligation speci� ed in the contract is discharged, cancelled, or 
expires. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying 
amount of the � nancial liability, including related unamortised 
costs, and the amount paid for it is included in net pro� t or 
loss for the period.

Fair value considerations

The fair values at which � nancial instruments are carried at the 
reporting date have been determined using available market 
prices. Where market prices are not available, fair values 
have been calculated by discounting expected future cash 
� ows at prevailing interest rates. The fair values have been 
estimated using available market information and appropriate 
valuation methodologies, but are not necessarily indicative 
of the amounts that the Group could realise in the normal 
course of business. The carrying amounts of � nancial assets 
and � nancial liabilities with a maturity of less than one year are 
assumed to approximate their fair values due to the short-term 
trading cycle of these items.

Offsetting

Financial assets and � nancial liabilities are offset if there is an 
intention to either net the asset and liability or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously and if a legally 
enforceable right to set off exists.

1.12 Post-employment bene� t costs

De� ned contribution costs

The Group operates a de� ned contribution plan, the assets 
of which are held in a separate trustee administered fund. 
The plan is funded by payments from the Group, and takes 
into account the recommendations of independent, quali� ed 
actuaries.

Contributions to a de� ned contribution plan in respect of 
service in a particular period are recognised as an expense in 
that period.

De� ned bene� t costs

Current service costs in respect of de� ned bene� t plans are 
recognised as an expense in the current period.

Past service costs, experience adjustments, the effects of 
changes in actuarial assumptions and the effects of plan 
amendments in respect of existing employees in a de� ned 
bene� t plan are systematically recognised in pro� t or loss over 
the remaining work lives of those employees (except in the 
case of shorter plan amendments where the use of a shorter 
time period is necessary to re� ect the economic bene� ts by 
the enterprise).

The effects of plan amendments in respect of retired 
employees in a bene� t plan are measured as the present value 
of the effect of the amended bene� ts, and are recognised 
as an expense or as income in the period in which the plan 
amendment is made.

The cost of providing retirement bene� ts under a de� ned 
bene� t plan is determined using a projected-unit credit 
valuation method.

Actuarial gains and losses are immediately recognised 
as income or expenses in pro� t or loss.

Other post-employment obligations

Post-employment health care bene� ts are provided to retirees. 
The entitlement to post retirement health care bene� ts is 
based on the employees remaining in service up to retirement 
age. The expected costs of these bene� ts are accrued over 
the period of employment, using an accounting methodology 
similar to that for de� ned bene� t pension plans. Valuations of 



100 PetroSA Annual Report 2012

Accounting Policies continued

these obligations are carried out annually by independent, 
quali�ed actuaries.

1.13 Provisions

Provisions represent liabilities of uncertain timing or amounts.

Provisions are recognised when a present legal or 
constructive obligation exists, as a result of past events, for 
which it is probable that an out�ow of economic bene�ts 
will be required to settle the obligation, and when a reliable 
estimate can be made for the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the expenditure required to 
settle the present obligation. Where the effect of discounting 
is material, provisions are measured at their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that re�ects the current market 
assessment of the time value of money and the risks for 
which future cash �ow estimates have not been adjusted.

Provision for the cost of environmental and other remedial 
work such as reclamation costs, close-down and restoration 
costs is made when such expenditure is probable and the 
cost can be estimated with a reasonable range of possible 
outcomes.

1.14 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future 
economic bene�ts will �ow to the enterprise and that these 
bene�ts can be measured reliably. The measurement is at the 
fair value received or receivable net of VAT, cash discounts, 
rebates and settlement discounts.

Revenue from the rendering of services is measured using 
the stage-of-completion method based on the services 
performed to date as a percentage of the total services 
to be performed. Revenue from the rendering of services 
is recognised when the amount of the revenue, the related 
costs and the stage of completion can be measured reliably 
and when it is probable that the debtor will pay for the 
services.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the 
signi�cant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods 
are transferred, when delivery has been made and title has 
passed, when the amount of the revenue and the related 
costs can be reliably measured, and when it is probable that 
the debtor will pay for the goods. 

1.15 Cost of sales

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount is recognised 
as part of the cost of sales. Any write-down of inventories to 
net realisable value and all losses of inventories, or reversals 
of previous write-downs or losses, are recognised in cost of 
sales in the period the write-down, loss or reversal occurs.

1.16 Income from investments

Interest income is accrued on a time basis by reference to the 
principal outstanding and at the interest rate applicable.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the 
shareholder’s right to receive payment has been established.

1.17 Taxation

Current tax assets and liabilities

The tax expense for the period comprises current and 
deferred tax.

The charge for current tax is based on the results for the year 
as adjusted for income that is exempt and expenses that 
are not deductible using tax rates that are applicable to the 
taxable income.

Deferred tax is recognised for all temporary differences, 
unless speci�cally exempt, at the tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets

A deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable pro�ts will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised, unless 
speci�cally exempt. It is measured at the tax rates that have 
been enacted or substantially enacted at reporting date.

Deferred tax liability

A deferred tax liability is recognised for taxable temporary 
differences, unless speci�cally exempt, at the tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting 
date.

Deferred tax arising on investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures is recognised except where 
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

1.18 Finance costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying assets are added 
to the cost of those assets until the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period to get ready 
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on 
the temporary investment of speci�c borrowings pending 
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the 
cost of those assets.

Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which they are incurred.

1.19 Government grants

Government grants are recognised as income over the 
periods necessary to match them with the related costs that 
they are intended to compensate.

1.20 Discontinued operations

The results of discontinued operations are presented 
separately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
the assets associated with these operations are included with 
non-current assets held for sale in the Statement of Financial 
Position.

They are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use.
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1.21 Subsequent events

Recognised amounts in the annual � nancial statements are 
adjusted to re� ect events arising after the reporting date that 
provide evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting 
date. Events after the reporting date that are indicative of 
conditions that arose after the reporting date are dealt with by 
way of a note.

1.22 Irregular and fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure

Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in 
contravention of, or not in accordance with, a requirement of 
any applicable legislation, including the PFMA. 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure 
that was made in vain and would have been avoided had 
reasonable care been exercised.

All irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure is charged 
against income in the period in which it is incurred.

1.23 Adoption of Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice

The Group has adopted the following new and 
amended IFRSs as of 1 January 2011:

1. IFRS 3 (amended), ‘Business combinations’ (effective 
from 1 July 2010)

When IFRS 3 (2008) was issued, it was unclear 
as to whether the new requirement for contingent 
consideration should be applied to contingent 
consideration arising from business combinations 
that took place before the application of IFRS 3. 
Consequently, the IASB amended IFRS 3 as part of 
improvements to IFRSs issued in 2010 to clarify that the 
new requirements for contingent consideration set out in 
IFRS 3 should not be applied to business combinations 
whose acquisition date preceded the application of IFRS 
3. The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2010, with earlier application 
permitted. At the date of the application of IFRS 3, 
where entities have outstanding contingent consideration 
arrangements arising from business combinations 
whose acquisition dates preceded the application of 
IFRS 3, they should consider early application of the 
amendments.

As part of improvements to IFRSs issued in 2010, 
IFRS 3 was amended to clarify that the measurement 
choice regarding non-controlling interests at the date of 
acquisition (see above) is only available in respect of non-
controlling interests that are present ownership interests 
and that entitle their holders to a proportionate share of 
the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation. All other 
types of non-controlling interests are measured at their 
acquisition-date fair value, unless another measurement 
basis is required by other Standards. 

In addition, as part of improvements to IFRSs issued 
in 2010, IFRS 3 was amended to give more guidance 
regarding the accounting for share-based payment 
awards held by the acquiree’s employees. Speci� cally, 

the amendments specify that share-based payment 
transactions of the acquiree that are not replaced 
should be measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (‘market-based 
measure’). 

2. IFRS 7 (amended), ‘Financial Instruments – Disclosures’ 
(effective from 1 January 2011)

The � rst amendments to IFRS 7 clarify the required 
level of disclosures about credit risk and collateral held 
and provide relief from disclosures previously required 
regarding renegotiated loans. The amendments 
have been applied retrospectively. As the change in 
accounting policy only impacts presentation aspects, 
there is no impact on earnings per share.

The second amendments to this standard require 
additional disclosure on transfer transactions of � nancial 
assets, including the possible effects of any residual 
risks that the transferring entity retains. The amendments 
also require additional disclosures if a disproportionate 
amount of transfer transactions are undertaken around 
the end of a reporting period.

The following standards and amendments to 
existing standards have been published and are not 
yet effective.

1. IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’ issued in November 2009 
(effective 1 January 2013) 

This standard is the � rst step in the process to replace 
IAS39, ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
measurement’. IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for 
classifying and measuring � nancial assets and is likely to 
affect the Group’s accounting for its � nancial assets. The 
standard is not applicable until 1 January 2013.

2. IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ (effective 1 
January 2013) 

This new standard replaces the consolidation 
requirements in SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose 
Entities and IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements. The standard builds on existing principles 
by identifying the concept of control as the determining 
factor in whether an entity should be included within the 
consolidated � nancial statements of the parent company 
and provides additional guidance to assist in the 
determination of control where this is dif� cult to assess. 

3. IFRS 11, ‘Joint Arrangements’ (effective 1 January 2013)

The new standard deals with the accounting for joint 
arrangements and focuses on the rights and obligations 
of the arrangement, rather than its legal form. The 
standard requires a single method for accounting for 
interests in jointly controlled entities.

4. IFRS 12, ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’ 
(effective 1 January 2013)

IFRS 12 is a new and comprehensive standard on the 
disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other 
entities, including joint arrangements, associates, special 
purpose vehicles and other off-balance-sheet vehicles.

5. IFRS 13, ‘Fair Value Measurement’ (effective 1 January 
2013)
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This standard provides new guidance on fair value 
measurement and its disclosure requirements. 

6. IAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (effective 
1 July 2012)

This standard provides the new requirements to group 
together items within other comprehensive income that 
may be reclassi�ed to the pro�t or loss section of the 
income statement in order to facilitate the assessment of 
their impact on the overall performance of an entity. 

7. IAS 12, ‘Income Taxes’ (effective 1 January 2012)

IAS 12 requires an entity to measure the deferred tax 
relating to an asset depending on whether the entity 
expects to recover the carrying amount of the asset 
through use or sale. It can be dif�cult and subjective to 
assess whether recovery will be through use or through 
sale when the asset is measured using the fair value 
model in IAS 40 Investment Property. The amendment to 
provide a practical solution to the problem by introducing 
a presumption that recovery of the carrying amount will, 
normally, be through sale.

As a result of the amendments, SIC-21 Income Taxes – 
Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets no longer 
applies to investment properties carried at fair value. The 
amendments also incorporate into IAS 12 the remaining 
guidance previously contained in  
SIC-21, which is accordingly withdrawn.

8. IAS 19, ‘Employee Bene�ts’ (effective 1 January 2013)

The standard provides the amendments to the 
accounting for current and future obligations resulting 
from the provision of de�ned bene�t plans.

9. IAS 27, ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements’ (effective 1 January 2013)

The standard will make provision for all the consequential 
amendments resulting from the adoption on IFRS 10, 11 
and 12.

10. IAS 28, ‘Investments in Associates’ (effective 1 January 
2013)

The standard will make provision for all the consequential 
amendments resulting from the adoption on IFRS 10, 11 
and 12.

1.24 Key assumptions made by management 
in applying accounting policies

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

In preparing the annual �nancial statements in terms of 
SA GAAP, the Group’s management is required to make 
certain estimates and assumptions that may materially affect 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
annual �nancial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reported period and the 
related disclosures. As these estimates and assumptions 
concern future events and due to the inherent uncertainty 
involved in this process, the actual results often vary from the 
estimates. These estimates and judgements are based on 
historical experience, current and expected future economic 
conditions and other factors, including expectations of the 

future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

Environmental and decommissioning provision

Provision is made for environmental and decommissioning 
costs where either a legal or constructive obligation is 
recognised as a result of past events. Estimates are made 
in determining the present obligation of environmental and 
decommissioning provisions, which include the actual 
estimate, the discount rate used and the expected date of 
closure of mining activities in determining the present value 
of environmental and decommissioning provisions. Estimates 
are based upon costs that are regularly reviewed by internal 
and external experts and which are adjusted as appropriate 
for new circumstances. 

Other provisions

For other provisions, estimates are made of legal or 
constructive obligations resulting in the raising of provisions 
and of the expected date of the probable out�ow of 
economic bene�ts to assess whether the provision should be 
discounted. 

Impairments and impairment reversals

Impairment tests are performed when there is an indication 
of the impairment of assets or a reversal of previous 
impairments of assets. Management has therefore 
implemented certain impairment indicators and these include 
movements in exchange rates, commodity prices and the 
economic environment its businesses operate in. Estimates 
are made in determining the recoverable amount of assets 
which include the estimation of cash �ows and discount rates 
used. In estimating the cash �ows, management base cash 
�ow projections on reasonable and supportable assumptions 
that represent managements’ best estimate of the range of 
economic conditions that will exist over the remaining useful 
life of the assets, based on publicly available information. The 
discount rates used are pre-tax rates that re�ect the current 
market assessment of the time value of money and the risks 
speci�c to the assets for which the future cash �ow estimates 
have not been adjusted.

Contingent liabilities

Management considers the existence of possible obligations 
which may arise from legal action as well as the possible non-
compliance with the requirements of completion guarantees 
and other guarantees provided. The estimation of the amount 
disclosed is based on the expected possible out�ow of 
economic bene�ts should there be a present obligation. 

Evaluation of the useful life of assets

On an annual basis, management evaluate the useful life of 
all assets. In carrying out this exercise, experience of each 
asset’s historical performance and the medium-term business 
plan are taken into consideration.
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2. Property, plant and equipment

2012 2011

Group

Cost/
Valuation

R’000

Accumulated
depreciation

R’000

Carrying
value
R’000

Cost/
Valuation

R’000

Accumulated
depreciation

R’000

Carrying
value

R’000

Land 47 069 – 47 069 26 645 – 26 645

Production assets 19 904 053 (16 905 525) 2 998 528 19 861 937 (16 295 126) 3 566 811

Furniture, � ttings, of� ce 
equipment and vehicles 610 598 (463 069) 147 529 584 751 (430 835) 153 916

Restoration costs 1 753 864 (766 316) 987 548 1 889 355 (582 124) 1 307 231

Shutdown costs capitalised 461 705 (461 705) – 461 705 (307 804) 153 901

Assets under development 2 531 848 – 2 531 848 2 032 030 – 2 032 030

25 309 137 (18 596 615) 6 712 522 24 856 423 (17 615 889) 7 240 534

2012 2011

Company

Cost/
Valuation

R’000

Accumulated
depreciation

R’000

Carrying
value
R’000

Cost/
Valuation

R’000

Accumulated
depreciation

R’000

Carrying
value

R’000

Land 47 069 – 47 069 26 645 – 26 645

Production assets 19 904 053 (16 905 525) 2 998 528 19 861 937 (16 295 126) 3 566 811

Furniture, � ttings, of� ce 
equipment and vehicles 606 996 (461 008) 145 988 577 618 (426 110) 151 508

Restoration costs 1 753 864 (766 316) 987 548 1 889 355 (582 124) 1 307 231

Shutdown costs capitalised 461 705 (461 705) – 461 705 (307 804) 153 901

Assets under development 2 531 848 – 2 531 848 2 032 030 – 2 032 030

25 305 535 (18 594 554) 6 710 981 24 849 290 (17 611 164) 7 238 126

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2012
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2. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group – 2012

Opening
 balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Disposals

R’000

Written
back 

during
year

R’000
Transfers

R’000

Foreign
 exchange

movements
R’000

Change
in

estimate
R’000

Depre-
ciation
R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Land 26 645  20 424 – – – – – –  47 069 

Production 
assets 3 566 811  1 588 (303) –  41 114 – –  (610 682)  2 998 528 

Furniture, 
�ttings, of�ce 
equipment and 
vehicles 153 916  38 270  (574) – –  1 –  (44 084)  147 529 

Restoration 
costs 1 307 231 – –  7 804 – – (104 196)  (223 291)  987 548 

Shutdown  
costs capitalised 153 901 – – – – – – (153 901) –

Assets under 
development  2 032 030  540 932 – –  (41 114) – – –  2 531 848 

 7 240 534  601 214  (877)  7 804 –  1  (104 196)  (1 031 958)  6 712 522 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group – 2011

Opening
 balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Disposals

R’000

Written
back 

during
year

R’000
Transfers

R’000

Foreign
 exchange

movements
R’000

Change
in

estimate
R’000

Depre-
ciation
R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Land 16 715  9 930 – – – – – – 26 645

Production 
assets 3 241 896 –  (836) –  988 858 – –  (663 107)  3 566 811

Furniture, 
�ttings, of�ce 
equipment and 
vehicles  225 683  12 109 (214) – – (1) – (83 661)  153 916 

Restoration 
costs  18 906 – –  107 292 – –  1 518 956  (337 923)  1 307 231 

Shutdown costs 
capitalised  307 803 – – – – – – (153 902)  153 901 

Assets under 
development  2 846 672  175 032  (816) – (988 858) – – –  2 032 030 

 6 657 675  197 071  (1 866)  107 292 – (1)  1 518 956 (1 238 593)  7 240 534 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 31 March 2012



105PetroSA Annual Report 2012

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Company – 2012

Opening
 balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Disposals

R’000

Written
back 

during year
R’000

Transfers
R’000

Change in
estimate

R’000

Depre-
ciation
R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Land  26 645  20 424 – – – – –  47 069 

Production assets  3 566 811  1 588  (303) –  41 114 – (610 682)  2 998 528 

Furniture, � ttings, 
of� ce equipment 
and vehicles  151 508  38 239 (9) – –  (43 750)  145 988 

Restoration costs  1 307 231 – –  7 804 –  (104 196)  (223 291)  987 548 

Shutdown costs 
capitalised  153 901 – – – – –  (153 901) –

Assets under 
development  2 032 030  540 932 – –  (41 114) – –  2 531 848 

 7 238 126  601 183  (312)  7 804 –  (104 196)  (1 031 624)  6 710 981 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Company – 2011

Opening
 balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Disposals

R’000

Written
back 

during year
R’000

Transfers
R’000

Change in
estimate

R’000

Depre-
ciation
R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Land 16 715  9 930 – – – – – 26 645

Production assets  3 241 896 –  (836) –  988 858 –  (663 107) 3 566 811

Furniture, � ttings, 
of� ce equipment 
and vehicles  221 392  11 960  (76) – – –  (81 768)  151 508 

Restoration costs  18 906 – –  107 292 –  1 518 956  (337 923)  1 307 231 

Shutdown costs 
capitalised  307 803 – – – – –  (153 902)  153 901 

Assets under 
development  2 846 672  175 032  (816) –  (988 858) – –  2 032 030 

 6 653 384  196 922  (1 728)  107 292 –  1 518 956  (1 236 700)  7 238 126 

A register containing the information required by paragraph 22(3) of Schedule 4 of the Companies Act is available for inspection at 
the registered of� ce of the Company.

Restoration expenditure relates to the provision for restoration costs and is amortised on a units-of-production basis over the 
expected useful life of the reserves. 

PetroSA entered into an agreement with the Mossel Bay Municipality to jointly construct a desalination plant in Mossel 
Bay. PetroSA’s portion has been included as an asset under construction. Total spend to date amounts to R66.8 million 
(2011: R53 million) excluding VAT.

The units-of-production method is used in calculating depreciation on producing assets. Due to the nature of the business, the 
gas and oil reserves at the end of each � nancial year differs from the previous year. This necessitates a change in the estimated 
remaining useful lives of these assets at the end of each � nancial year. The effect on the current year is an increase in pro� t of 
R75 million and the effect on pro� ts in future years is: 2013: R46 million, 2014: R80 million, 2015: R102 million, 2016 – 2021: loss 
of R303 million.

During the year, the useful lives of non-production assets were revised to more accurately re� ect the pattern in which bene� ts are 
expected to � ow to the Group. The revisions were accounted for prospectively, as a change in estimate. The effect on the current 
period is an increase in pro� ts of R39 million. The effect on future periods has not been disclosed since it is impracticable to 
calculate a reliable estimate.
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3. Intangible assets

Group

2012 2011

Cost/
Valuation

R’000

Accumulated
amortisation

R’000

Carrying
value
R’000

Cost/
Valuation

R’000

Accumulated
amortisation

R’000

Carrying
value

R’000

Patents 6 934 (1 365) 5 569 – – –

Exploration licencing fee 79 162 (79 162) – 79 162 – 79 162

Software 12 063 (9 578) 2 485 5 573 (4 462) 1 111

98 159 (90 105) 8 054 84 735 (4 462) 80 273

Company

2012 2011

Cost/
Valuation

R’000

Accumulated
amortisation

R’000

Carrying
value
R’000

Cost/
Valuation

R’000

Accumulated
amortisation

R’000

Carrying
value

R’000

Patents 6 934 (1 365) 5 569 – – –

Software 12 063 (9 578) 2 485 5 573 (4 462) 1 111

18 997 (10 943) 8 054 5 573 (4 462) 1 111

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Group – 2012

Opening
balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Amortisation

R’000

Impairment
loss

R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Patents –  6 934  (1 365) –  5 569 

Exploration licencing fee  79 162 – – (79 162) –

Software  1 111  2 500 (1 126) –  2 485 

 80 273  9 434  (2 491) (79 162)  8 054 

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Group – 2011

Opening balance
R’000

Amortisation
R’000

Closing balance
R’000

Exploration licencing fee  79 162 –  79 162 

Software  2 532 (1 421)  1 111

 81 694  (1 421)  80 273

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Company – 2012

Opening balance
R’000

Additions
R’000

Amortisation
R’000

Closing balance
R’000

Patents –  6 934  (1 365)  5 569 

Software  1 111  2 500  (1 126 )  2 485 

 1 111  9 434  (2 491)  8 054 

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Company – 2011

Opening balance
R’000

Amortisation
R’000

Closing balance
R’000

Software  2 532  (1 421)  1 111 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 31 March 2012
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4. Deferred tax
Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Deferred tax asset

Loans –  (1 139) – (1 139) 

Tax losses available for set off against future taxable income – (122 706) – (122 706) 

Provisions – (794 776) – (794 776) 

Capital allowances –  918 621 –  918 621 

– – – –

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset

At beginning of the year – 72 764 – 72 478

Originating and reversing temporary differences – (72 764) – (72 478)

Balance at end of year – – – –
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5. Investments in subsidiaries
The carrying amounts of subsidiaries are shown net of impairment losses.

Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

PetroSA Synfuel International (SOC) Ltd (100%) 

Shares:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – 501 501

Provision for impairment – – (501) (501)

Balance at the end of the year – – – –

Shares – – 501 501

PetroSA Sudan (SOC) Ltd (100%)

Loans:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – (0.12) (0.12)

Shares:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – 0.12 0.12

Loans – – (0.12) (0.12) 

Shares – –  0.12  0.12 

Carrying amount of investment – – – –

Petroleum Oil & Gas Corporation of South Africa 
(Namibia) (SOC) Ltd (100%)

Loans:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – (0.12) (0.12)

Shares:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – 0.12 0.12

Loans – –  (0.12) (0.12) 

Shares – –  0.12  0.12 

Carrying amount of investment – – – –

PetroSA North America (100%)

Loans:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – – (0.07)

Dissolution of subsidiary – – – 0.07

– – – –

Shares:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – – 0.07

Dissolution of subsidiary – – – (0.07)

– – – –

Loans – – – –

Shares – – – –

Carrying amount of investment – – – –

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 31 March 2012
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Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

PetroSA Egypt (SOC) Ltd (100%)

Loans:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – (0.10) (0.10)

Shares:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – 0.10 0.10

Loans – –  (0.10) (0.10) 

Shares – –  0.10  0.10 

Carrying amount of investment – – – –

PetroSA Nigeria Ltd (100%)

Loans:

Balance at the beginning of the year – –  1 913  1 421 

Advances/(repayments) during the year – –  (1 913)  492 

– – –  1 913 

Shares:

Balance at the beginning of the year – –  1 235  1 235 

Disposal of shares – –  (1 235) –

– – –  1 235 

Loans – – –  1 913 

Shares – – –  1 235 

Carrying amount of investment – – –  3 148 

PetroSA Europe BV (100%)

Shares:

Balance at the beginning of the year – –  166  166 

Share premium

Balance at the beginning of the year – –  2 965  2 965 

Shares – –  166  166 

Share premium – –  2 965  2 965 

Carrying amount of investment – –  3 131  3 131 

PetroSA Brass (SOC) Ltd (100%)

Loans:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – (0.06) (0.06)

Shares:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – 0.06 0.06

Loans – – (0.06) (0.06) 

Shares – –  0.06  0.06 

Carrying amount of investment – – – –
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Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

PetroSA Gryphon Marin (SOC) Ltd (100%)

Loans:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – (0.06) (0.06) 

Shares:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – 0.06 0.06

Loans – – (0.06) (0.06) 

Shares – –  0.06  0.06 

Carrying amount of investment – – – –

PetroSA Iris (SOC) Ltd (100%)

Loans:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – (0.06) (0.06)

Shares:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – 0.06 0.06

Loans – – (0.06) (0.06)

Shares – –  0.06  0.06 

Carrying amount of investment – – – –

PetroSA Themis (SOC) Ltd (100%)

Loans:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – (0.12) (0.12)

Shares:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – 0.12 0.12

Loans – – (0.12) (0.12)

Shares – –  0.12  0.12 

Carrying amount of investment – – – –

PetroSA Equatorial Guinea (SOC) Ltd (100%)

Loans:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – (0.06) (0.06)

Shares:

Balance at the beginning of the year – – 0.06 0.06

Loans – – (0.06) (0.06)

Shares – –  0.06  0.06 

Carrying amount of investment – – – –

Total

Loans – –  (1)  1 912 

Shares – –  668  1 903 

Share premium – –  2 965  2 965 

Provision for impairment – –  (501) (501) 

– –  3 131  6 279

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 31 March 2012
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6. Investments in associates
Group

Name of company Country of incorporation

%
holding

2012

%
holding
2011

Carrying
amount

2012
R’000

Carrying
amount
2011
R’000

GTL.F1 AG Switzerland 50.00 37.50 – –

Company

GTL.F1 AG Switzerland 50.00 37.50 29 625 23 490

Associates with different reporting dates

The reporting date of the associate is not the same as that of the Group. The Group results include the performance of 
GTL.F1 AG for the year ended 31 December 2011.

Associates equity accounted for

Summary of associate’s � nancial information:

GTL.F1 AG 2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Total assets 90 871 83 029

Total liabilities (106 949) (102 155)

Revenue 3 723 25 032

Pro� t/(loss) (22 608) (10 554)
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Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

7. Other �nancial assets
 

Loans and receivables

GTL.F1 AG 68 724 30 367 68 724 30 367

This loan is repayable on the commencement  
of pro�t generation by the Company.

Lurgi 116 873 86 608 116 873 86 608

The amount owing by Lurgi is in respect of a purchase  
of 12.5% share in the PetroSA Statoil Joint Venture.  
The loan accrues interest at EURIBOR + 0.75%.  
The loan is repayable based on dividends receivable by Lurgi 
from the GTL.F1 AG technology company.

PetroSA Equatorial Guinea – – 1 412 475 1 200 306

The loan has no �xed repayment terms and  
interest accrues at prime + 2%

PetroSA Egypt – – 1 142 457 1 157 120

The loan has no �xed repayment terms and  
interest accrues at prime + 2%

Subtotal 185 597 116 975 2 740 529 2 474 401

Loans and receivables (impairments) (2 554 932) (1 157 120)

185 597 116 975 185 597 1 317 281

During the year, a decision was taken to impair PetroSA’s loans to PetroSA Egypt and PetroSA Equatorial Guinea 
of R1 142 million (2011: R1 157 million) and R1 412 million (2011: R0 million) respectively, due to its irrecoverability. 
PetroSA’s loan to PetroSA Gryphon Marin was written off in the previous year.

PetroSA has subordinated the loans to various subsidiaries in favour of other creditors of the above-mentioned 
companies until such time as the assets fairly valued exceed the liabilities.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued
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Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

8. Amounts held by holding company
This deposit is held by CEF (SOC) Ltd as security for gua-
rantees issued by itself to third parties on behalf of PetroSA.

CEF (SOC) Ltd 489 021 489 021 489 021 489 021

9. Inventories
The amounts attributable to the different categories 
are as follows:

Petroleum fuels 1 836 949 923 146 1 836 949 923 146

Work in progress 24 712 84 276 24 712 84 276

Consumable stores, spares and catalysts 710 992 568 405 699 140 502 621

2 572 653 1 575 827 2 560 801 1 510 043

10. Loans from Group companies
Subsidiaries

PetroSA Brass – – – (1)

The loan has no � xed repayment terms and interest 
accrues at prime + 2%

11. Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables 2 832 676 1 230 963 2 831 829 1 230 143

Prepayments 103 720 320 036 99 590 317 758

Deposits 163 207 – –

VAT 473 245 – –

Provision for bad debts (34 587) (49 768) (34 587) (49 768)

Sundry receivables 497 065 568 661 503 171 574 051

3 399 510 2 070 344 3 400 003 2 072 184

The provision for doubtful debts consists of a number of customer account balances. The balance is aged as 
R34.6 million (2011: R43.5 million) at over 120 days, R0 million (2011: R5.3 million) between 90 – 120 days, R0 million 
(2011: R0.1 million) between 60 – 90 days, R0 million (2011: R0.1 million) between 30 – 60 days and R0 million (2011: 
R0.7 million) as current.
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Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Opening balance 49 768 50 964 49 768 50 958

Impairment losses recognised on receivables 5 169 12 495 5 169 12 495

Written off  (6 593) (11 409) (6 593) (11 403) 

Transferred  (10 566) –  (10 566) –

Amounts recovered during the year (3 191) (2 282)  (3 191) (2 282) 

34 587 49 768 34 587 49 768

12. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and 
balances with banks and investments in money market 
instruments. Cash and cash equivalents included in the 
Statement of Financial Position comprise the following:

Short-term investments in money market and cash  
on hand 12 821 156 11 825 512 12 783 863 11 795 852

Bank balances 506 1 449 – –

Term deposits 27 181 25 537 – –

12 848 843 11 852 498 12 783 863 11 795 852

Current assets 12 848 843 11 852 498 12 783 863 11 795 852

12 848 843 11 852 498 12 783 863 11 795 852

A term-deposit of R27.1 million (2011: R25.5 million) is held in the Company Energy Africa Rehabilitation (Association 
incorporated under s21), and is committed solely for the abandonment expenditure for the Oribi/Oryx �eld.

13. Discontinued operations, disposal groups and non-current assets held 
for sale
Following PetroSA’s decision to sell its 100% shareholding in a Nigerian registered Company, Brass Exploration Unlimited 
(BEU), a company with 40% interest in Oil Mining Lease 114 (OML114), a Sale and Purchase agreement was signed 
on condition that PetroSA and one of its subsidiaries, PetroSA Brass, will sell their respective shareholding in PetroSA 
Nigeria, the legal owner of OML114 (as per records of the Ministry of Oil in Nigeria). The purchase price of the BEU and 
PetroSA Nigeria shares is the indivisible amount of US$ 55 million. The sale of BEU and PetroSA Nigeria was closed on 
22 February 2011 and 17 October 2011, respectively. Since PetroSA no longer controls these entities and all conditions 
precedent had been ful�lled or waived by the party for whose bene�t they were inserted, the sale has been recognised in 
the current �nancial year in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

In June 2011, MoniPulo Limited (MPL), instituted a civil suit in the Federal High Court in Lagos, Nigeria, aimed at undoing 
the sale to the purchaser. Judgement was handed down on 7 May 2012 and did not declare the sale and purchase 
agreement invalid. On Nigerian Counsel’s advice and management’s interpretation of paragraph 14 of the First Schedule 
to the Petroleum Act, management proceeded to recognise the sale. PetroSA has sought Nigerian legal counsel’s advice 
and is con�dent of its prospects of launching a successful appeal against the High Court judgement and, in so doing, 
obtaining a de�nitive ruling on the validity of the transaction.

PetroSA has obtained an indemnity from the purchaser, which in the unlikely event of the sale being undone, will mitigate 
any potential exposure emanating from this transaction.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued
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13. Discontinued operations, disposal groups and non-current assets held 
for sale (continued)
The assets and liabilities of the disposal group are set out below:

Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Pro� t and loss

Revenue –  594 770 – –

Net pro� t before tax –  (344 128) – –

–  250 642 – –

Tax – (228 961) – –

–  21 681 – –

Assets and liabilities

Assets of disposal groups

Property, plant and equipment – 80 499 – –

Inventories – 6 604 – –

Trade and other receivables – 144 456 – –

Cash and cash equivalents – 936 213 – –

–  1 167 772 – –

Liabilities of disposal groups

Other � nancial liabilities – 177 393 – –

Other payables – 542 003 – –

–  719 396 – –

14. Share capital
Authorised

5 000 ordinary par value shares of R1 each 5 5 5 5

Issued

1 914 ordinary par value shares of R1 each 2 2 2 2

Share premium 2 755 934 2 755 934 2 755 934 2 755 934

 2 755 936  2 755 936  2 755 936  2 755 936 



116 PetroSA Annual Report 2012

15. Provisions
Reconciliation of provisions – Group – 2012

Opening
balance

R’000
Additions

R’000

Utilised
during

the year
R’000

Interest
expense

R’000

Change
in discount

factor
R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Abandonment/Environment  5 506 257  1 609 –  454 241  (104 196)  5 857 911 

Post-retirement medical aid 
bene�ts  143 588  26 444  (99 864) – –  70 168 

Rehabilitation provisions  7 500 – – – –  7 500 

Bonus  355 602  106 838  (206 385) – –  256 055 

 6 012 947  134 891  (306 249)  454 241  (104 196)  6 191 634 

Reconciliation of provisions – Group – 2011

Opening
balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Disposals

R’000

Written
back during

year
R’000

Transfers
R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Abandonment/Environment  3 565 595  1 737 –  419 969  1 518 956  5 506 257 

Post-retirement medical aid 
bene�ts  343 345  80 868  (280 625) – –  143 588 

Rehabilitation provisions  7 500 – – – –  7 500 

Bonus  92 420  373 207 (110 025) – –  355 602 

 4 008 860  455 812 (390 650)  419 969  1 518 956  6 012 947 

Reconciliation of provisions – Company – 2012

Opening
balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Disposals

R’000

Written
back during

year
R’000

Transfers
R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Abandonment/Environment  5 479 839 – –  454 241 (104 196)  5 829 884 

Post-retirement medical aid 
bene�ts  143 588  26 444  (99 864) – –  70 168 

Rehabilitation provisions  7 500 – – – –  7 500 

Bonus  355 101  106 697 (206 385) – –  255 413 

 5 986 028  133 141 (306 249)  454 241 (104 196)  6 162 965 

Reconciliation of provisions – Company – 2011

Opening
balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Disposals

R’000

Written
back during

year
R’000

Transfers
R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Abandonment/Environment  3 540 914 – –  419 969  1 518 956  5 479 839 

Post-retirement medical aid 
bene�ts  343 345  80 868 (280 625) – –  143 588 

Rehabilitation provisions  7 500 – – – –  7 500 

Bonus  91 893  372 705  (109 497) – –  355 101 

 3 983 652  453 573  (390 122)  419 969  1 518 956  5 986 028 
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Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Non-current liabilities 5 928 079 5 649 819 5 900 052 5 623 427

Current liabilities 263 555 363 128 262 913 362 601

6 191 634 6 012 947 6 162 965 5 986 028

Post-retirement medical aid bene� ts
The assumptions surrounding the provision were amended to be more aligned with the lifespan of the GTL re� nery. This 
change has resulted in a decrease in current year pro� ts of R33 million (2013: R10 million). PetroSA contributes to a 
medical aid scheme for retired and medically un� t employees.

Rehabilitation provision
This amount is for the rehabilitation of the land at the Voorbaai terminal.

Bonus
The provision is for incentives for PetroSA employees who qualify in terms of their performance during the � nancial year.

Abandonment/Environmental
The R5 858 million provided for is based on the present value of the results of a new study conducted in 2010. The year 
under review has seen an increase to the provision balance of R350 million due to various assumptions. The prior year 
base cost was R6 924 million compared to R6 893 million in the current year, resulting in a decrease of R32.1 million. 
Other major assumptions included the risk-free rate increasing from 8.3% to 8.45%, South African in� ation decreasing 
from 5.5% to 5.2% and US in� ation increasing from 1.5% to 2.01%.

A sensitivity analysis indicates that an increase of 1% in the in� ation and risk-free rates will result in a movement in the 
interest charge and a change in estimate of the abandonment provision. The quantitative effect would be an increase of 
R37.5 million (2011: R51.9 million) in respect of the in� ation rate and a decrease of R392.3 million (2011: R400.9 million 
increase) for the risk-free rate.

The resulting provision could also be in� uenced by changing technologies and political, environmental, safety, business 
and statutory considerations.

PetroSA commissioned additional research into the requirements to fully close or decommission redundant exploration 
wells. No reliable estimate of the cost can currently be made. Therefore no amounts have been provided for these items.

The total cost of future restoration is estimated at R5 858 million. This cost includes the net expenditure to abandon and 
to rehabilitate both the onshore and offshore facilities as well as other related closure costs. The costs are expected to be 
incurred as follows:

Financial year R’million

– within one year –

– in second to tenth year inclusive 5 858

Funding of abandonment/environmental rehabilitation
The Group has set aside funds towards the cost of abandonment/environmental rehabilitation. These funds are not 
available for the general purposes of the Group. The funds are comprised of the following investments

Rand millions 2012 2011

Portion of cash deposit with CEF (SOC) Ltd (Holding company) (refer to note 8) 477 477

Cash in escrow account 27 25

Financial guarantee (refer to note 29) 180 180

684 682
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16. Trade and other payables
Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Trade payables 1 662 400 931 853 1 664 471 933 299

VAT – 6 – –

Accrued leave pay 73 674 60 200 73 260 59 670

Accrued expenses 535 032 515 791 537 609 492 557

Deposits received 23 22 23 22

Other payables 1 845 118 531 1 845 1 327

2 272 974 1 626 403 2 277 208 1 486 875

17. Revenue
Gross revenue represents the invoiced value of crude oil, 
fuel sales and other goods and services supplied, 
excluding value-added tax.

Major classes of revenue comprise:

Fuel production sales 13 806 631 10 016 319 13 782 808 10 015 976

Crude oil sales 637 370 549 066 637 370 549 066

14 444 001 10 565 385 14 420 178 10 565 042

18. Operating pro�t
Operating pro�t for the year is stated after accounting for the 
following:

Income from administration and management activities

Administration and management fees 216 323 4 105 2 238

Operating lease charges

Premises

Contractual amounts 5 040 5 820 3 178 2 426

Motor vehicles

Contractual amounts – 16 – –

Equipment

Contractual amounts – 49 – –

5 040 5 885 3 178 2 426

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 543 – – –

Bad debts recovered  (3 191)  (2282) (3 191)  (2 282) 

Stock provision  (37 294)  3 030 (37 294)  3 030 

Loss on foreign exchange  71 789  48 287  27 499  54 165 

Impairment of accounts receivable  5 169  12 495  5 169  12 495 

(Pro�t)/loss on dissolution of subsidiary –  2 612 –  (1 723) 

(Pro�t)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries  84 351 –  (424 948) –

Impairment on intangible assets  79 162 – – –

Impairment/write-off on loans to Group companies – –  1 397 811  19 131 

Amortisation on intangible assets  2 491  1 421  2 491  1 421 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  1 031 958  1 238 593  1 031 624  1 236 700 

Salaries and wages  825 526  855 770  814 375  839 129 

Pension and medical costs  144 093  136 101  144 093  136 101 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued
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19. Auditors’ remuneration
Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Audit fee 5 392 5 072 4 734 4 551

Expenses 94 62 94 62

5 486 5 134 4 828 4 613

20. Investment income
Dividend revenue

Dividends –  1 –  1 723 

Interest income

Bank  13  15 – –

Investment  840 383  859 871  981 671  973 087 

 840 396  859 886  981 671  973 087 

 840 396  859 887  981 671  974 810 

21. Loss from equity accounted 
investments
Attributable share of loss for the year

Net loss for the year 6 135 – – –

22. Finance costs
Non-current borrowings  54  89 –  89 

Bank  1 940  2 472  1 940  2 472 

Notional interest  454 242  419 969  454 242  419 969 

Foreign exchange difference on revaluation of foreign loans –  4 – –

 456 236  422 534  456 182  422 530 
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23. Taxation
Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Major components of the tax expense (income)

Current

Local income tax – current period  778  779 – –

Local income tax – recognised in current tax for prior periods  (70) (386 526) – (386 468) 

Foreign income tax or withholding tax – current period  4 175  4 687 –  1 092 

Foreign income tax or withholding tax – recognised in current 
tax for prior periods  15  62 – –

 4 898 (380 998) –  (385 376)

Deferred

Bene�t of unrecognised tax loss 

Movement of deferred tax –  317 890 –  317 890 

– (245 411) –  (245 411)

–  72 479 –  72 479 

 4 898  (308 519) –  (312 897)

Reconciliation of the tax expense

Reconciliation between applicable tax rate and average 
effective tax rate. % % % %

Applicable tax rate 28.00 28.00 28.00 28.00

Permanent differences – (47.20) – (36.47)

Foreign taxes – 0.13 – 0.09

Assessed loss not recognised – 6.34 – 11.71

Under/over accrual for previous tax year – (48.83) – (36.00)

28.00 (61.56) 28.00 (32.67)

The Tax Amendment Act, promulgated in November 2010, retrospectively inserted a new paragraph into the Tenth 
Schedule which allows for the deduction of PetroSA’s unredeemed capital expenditure balance, carried forward from 
the OP26 regime, a legislative predecessor to the Tenth Schedule. The effect of this amendment was a deduction of 
R10.8 billion in 2008. Upon reopening PetroSA’s 2008 Corporate Tax return SARS refunded R385 million (PetroSA’s 
provisional tax payments in 2008) together with accumulated interest.

As a direct result of the unredeemed capital expenditure deduction claimed in 2008, PetroSA was in an assessed loss 
position for 2012. PetroSA’s tax assessed loss continues to increase due to ongoing development expenditure on Project 
Ikhwezi. The tax legislation provides for a 200% tax uplift on development expenditure. Forecasts are that PetroSA will 
remain in its assessed loss position until 2016. As it is unlikely that the assessed loss will be utilised in the foreseeable 
future, no deferred tax asset will be recognised. The current value of the deferred tax asset is R2.8 billion (2011: R2.9 
billion).

The unused tax loss for the year is R6.2 billion.
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24. Cash (used in) generated from operations 
Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Pro� t/(loss) before taxation 1 286 519 501 155 607 884 972 148

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 811 159 902 091 810 825 900 198

Loss on sale of assets 543 – – –

Finance costs 456 236 422 534 456 182 422 530

Notional interest (454 242) (419 969) (454 242) (419 969)

Dividends received – (1) – (1 723)

Interest received (840 396) (859 886) (981 671) (973 087)

Impairment loss 79 162 – 1 397 811 19 131

Movements in provisions 178 687 2 004 087 176 937 2 002 376

Movement in restoration costs 319 683 (1 288 325) 319 683 (1 288 325)

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (17 243) (111 753) (108 953) (133 326)

Prepayments (243 869) – (243 869) –

Changes in working capital:

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (996 826) (160 076) (1 050 758) (157 683)

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (1 329 166) (281 977) (1 327 819) (317 321)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 646 571 155 087 790 333 173 458

(103 182) 862 967 392 343 1 198 407

25. Tax refunded
Charge to pro� t and loss  (4 898)  308 519 –  312 897 

Movement in deferred taxation –  72 765 –  72 478 

Movement in taxation balance  387 667 (123 748)  386 443 (128 306) 

 382 769  257 536  386 443  257 069 

26. Cash � ows of held for sale/
discontinued operations
Non-current assets held for sale 1 167 772 (179 586) – –

Liabilities of disposal groups (719 396) 191 526 – –

Pro� t/(loss) from discontinuing operations – 21 681 – –

448 376 33 621 – –

27. Government grants receivable
PetroSA receives a government grant for training on projects.  
In terms of the signed agreement, PetroSA will receive 
a refund based on the cost incurred in order to provide 
specialised training on the project.

Grants received 3 085 3 469 3 085 3 469
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28. Employee bene�ts
It is the policy of the Group to provide retirement bene�ts for all its eligible permanent employees. All eligible permanent 
employees are either members of the Mossgas Pension Fund, a de�ned bene�t fund, or of the PetroSA Retirement Fund, 
a de�ned contribution fund, both subject to the Pension Funds Act, 1956.

Pensions and retirement funds

De�ned bene�t pension plan

The Company once operated a de�ned bene�t pension plan, the Mossgas Pension Fund, for the bene�t of employees. 
The plan was governed by the Pension Funds Act, 1956 (Act No. 24 of 1956) and the assets of the plan were 
administered by trustees in a fund independent of the Company.

The fund was closed to new entrants during 1996. With effect from 1 October 2007 all in-service members were 
transferred out of the fund to the PetroSA Retirement Fund and future accrual of bene�ts under the Pension Fund 
ceased. Application was made to the Registrar to transfer the accrued bene�ts of in-service members to the PetroSA 
Retirement Fund and to transfer the pensioner liabilities to individual annuity policies with Old Mutual. The Registrar’s 
approval was granted and all liabilities have been fully transferred. The trustees appointed a liquidator, approved by the 
Registrar, and the fund was placed into liquidation in October 2010. The liquidation process is not yet �nalised.

The last actuarial valuation was performed as at 31 January 2010 and the independent actuary was of the opinion that 
the fund was �nancially sound. As the fund had been placed into liquidation, the actuarial present value of promised 
retirement bene�ts as at 31 January 2010 was zero. The fair value of the plan assets had an actuarial value of R12.2 
million and a market value of R12.2 million, which also equates to the actuarial surplus. The fund was valued using the 
“attained age method”.

De�ned contribution pension plan

PetroSA Retirement Fund

The Company operates a de�ned contribution retirement plan for the bene�t of employees. All employees who 
commenced employment after 1 April 1996 qualify for membership of this fund. The amount recognised as an expense 
for the retirement fund during the year under review was R87.7 million (2011: R81.9 million).

Medical bene�ts

Post-employment medical bene�ts

The Group has provided an amount of R70.1 million (2011: R143.6 million) towards the funding of post-retirement 
medical scheme costs for all employees and pensioners. This commitment is actuarially valued annually, the most recent 
valuation performed as at 31 March 2012. 

During the year, PetroSA funded a portion of the post-retirement medical aid liability through the purchase of a company-
funded annuity policy to the value of R99.8 million. The policy has guaranteed CPI linked increases and PetroSA will only 
be exposed to revaluation risks if medical aid in�ation exceeds CPI. An annual top-up payment for the difference will be 
required in this event.

The actuarial present value of promised retirement medical bene�ts at 31 March 2012 is R70.1 million. The obligation 
is unfunded and was valued using the “projected unit method”. A discount rate of 8.5% and a medical aid in�ation 
rate of 7.3% was assumed. Mortality assumptions were in line with standard tables SA56/62 (in service) and PA(90) (in 
retirement). A sensitivity analysis was performed on the medical aid in�ation rate assumption used in the valuation. A 
8.3% and 6.3% medical aid in�ation rate assumption would result in an accumulated obligation at 31 March 2012 of 
R96.4 million and R70.1 million respectively. The combined interest and service costs vary according to the medical aid 
in�ation assumptions and are R14.5 million (7.3%), R16.8 million (8.3%) and R12.6 million (6.3%).
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29. Contingencies
Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Guarantees

1.  The Group’s share of 55% of costs, being 
US$3.356 million, would be payable from PetroSA’s 
share of revenues from any future production within the E-P 
tract, should the tract be successful, thus representing a 
contingent liability.

25 802 22 766 25 802 22 766

2.  The Group has issued guarantees for the rehabilitation 
of land disturbed by mining on the Sable � eld:

180 000 180 000 180 000 180 000

3.  The Group has issued performance guarantees in favour 
of the Republic of Equatorial Guinea in respect of minimum 
work obligations required for exploration in Equatorial 
Guinea (US$18 million).

– 122 107 – 122 107

4.  The Group has issued a manufacture and excisable bond in 
favour of the South African Revenue Services.

5 000 5 000 5 000 5 000

5.  The Group has issued an evergreen VAT guarantee in 
favour of the Dutch VAT Authorities (€0.455 million)

4 667 4 386 4 667 4 386

215 469 334 259 215 469 334 259

Claims

PetroSA is considering settling a claim made 
by a former employee

–    1 092 –  1 092 

PetroSA is considering settling a claim made in terms 
of a contract

 16 023  13 225  16 023  13 225 

 16 023  14 317  16 023  14 317 

PetroSA purchased depots in Tzaneen and Bloemfontein 
and studies are currently underway to determine the costs of 
any rehabilitation and risk reduction activities. The estimated 
� nancial impact is R2.5 million for both the Tzaneen and 
Bloemfontein depots. A provision will be raised for any future 
costs arising from these studies, for which PetroSA will be 
liable.

30. Commitments
Authorised capital expenditure

Approved by the directors

Contracted for 2 425 672 1 924 174 2 425 672 1 924 174

Not contracted for 15 628 157 9 814 029 15 628 157 9 814 029

18 053 829 11 738 203 18 053 829 11 738 203

Operating lease commitments

PetroSA 

 – within one year  1 284  443  1 284  443 

 – in second to � fth year inclusive  5 457 –  5 457 –

 6 741  443  6 741  443 



124 PetroSA Annual Report 2012

Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Of�ce space was leased at the Tyger Valley Chambers in 
Parow, Cape Town, effective from 1 June 2008. The lease 
payment was �xed at R178 345 per month, with an 8% 
escalation per annum. The period of the lease agreement 
was three years and ended on 31 May 2011. Of�ce space is 
leased at 1 Protea Place in Sandton, Johannesburg, effective 
from 1 October 2011. The lease payment is �xed at R102 420 
per month with a 9% escalation per annum. The lease period 
is �ve years and ends on 30 September 2016.

PetroSA Europe BV – Of�ce space

 – within one year  546  470 – –

 – in second to �fth year inclusive  910  1 253 – –

 1 456  1 723 – –

Of�ce space is leased at 3011XB Willemswerf, 13th Floor, 
Boomjes, effective 1 December 2004. The lease payment 
is €40 960 per annum, with an in�ationary escalation per 
annum. The period of the lease agreement was initially for �ve 
years and was extended for a further �ve-year period ending 
on 30 November 2014, at which time PetroSA Europe BV has 
the option to renew the lease for a further �ve-year period.

PetroSA Europe BV – motor vehicles

 – within one year 254 253 – –

 – in second to �fth year inclusive 28 265 – –

282 518 – –

Motor vehicles are leased on behalf of the Company’s 
employees. The standard contract period is 48 months.  
The expiry dates are 18 January 2013 and 27 May 2013.

PetroSA Europe BV – apartments

 – within one year 580 535 – –

Apartments are leased for its employees. There are currently 
two apartment leases. One is operated on a month-to-month 
basis with a notice period of one month and the other is 
renewable on a six-monthly basis with 1 May 2011 being the 
date of renewal. The annual rental  
will be adjusted in line with CPI – all household series.

PetroSA Equatorial Guinea

 – within one year 625 583 – –

The Company leases of�ce space in Malabo for a one year 
period, �rst effective from 1 February 2011 to 31 January 
2012. The lease payments are CFA4 000 000 per month, and 
are paid in advance for a year. The Company renewed the 
lease during the current �nancial year for a period of one year, 
effective from 1 February 2012 to 31 January 2013. The lease 
payments are CFA4 000 000 per month.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 31 March 2012
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Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

PetroSA Equatorial Guinea

 – within one year –  153 –  153

The Company entered into two lease agreements during the 
previous year for the housing of staff. One lease agreement 
expired on 31 August 2010, and was not renewed. The other 
agreement, which expired on 31 May 2010, was renewed until 
31 May 2011.

PetroSA Egypt

 – within one year  250  184 – –

 – in second to � fth year inclusive –  148 – –

 250  332 – –

PetroSA Egypt leases of� ce space. The lease is for a three-year period from 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2012, with 
monthly lease payments of US$2 000 payable six months in advance. The lease payments will escalate by 10% annually.

31. Financial Instruments
Introduction
The Group has a risk management and central treasury function that manages the � nancial risks relating to the Group’s 
operations. The Group’s liquidity, credit, foreign exchange, interest rate and crude oil price risks are monitored continually. 
Approved policies exist for managing these risks.

Risk pro� le
In the course of the Group’s business operations it is exposed to liquidity, credit, foreign exchange, interest rate and 
crude oil price risk. The risk management policy of the Group relating to each of these risks is discussed below.

Risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s objective in using � nancial instruments is to reduce the uncertainty over future cash � ows arising from 
movements in foreign exchange, interest rates and crude oil prices. Throughout the year under review it has been, and 
remains, the Group’s policy that no speculative trading in derivative instruments be undertaken.

Foreign currency management
The Group is exposed to foreign currency � uctuations as it raises funding on the offshore � nancial markets, imports raw 
material and spares, and then exports � nished product and crude oil. All local sales of � nished products are sold on a 
foreign currency denominated basis.

The Group takes cover on foreign exchange transactions where there is a future currency exposure. The Group also 
makes use of a natural hedge situation to manage foreign currency exposure.

A sensitivity analysis was done for the net effect on revenue and expenses, and the weakening or strengthening of the 
Rand/Dollar exchange rate by R1 based on actual revenue and cost will increase or decrease pro� t by R934 million 
(2011: R885.4 million) respectively.

Foreign currency instruments
The Group is mainly exposed to � uctuations in the values of the EURO, GBP and US$. The Group measures its market 
risk exposure by running various sensitivity analyses including 10% favourable and adverse changes in the key variables. 
The sensitivity analyses include only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjust their 
translation at the end of the period to allow for a change in foreign currency rates of up to 10%.
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Financial assets
As at 31 March 2012, a 10% strengthening in ZAR against the relevant currencies would have resulted in a decrease in 
foreign currency denominated assets of R32.1 million (2011: R122.5 million), and a 10% weakening in ZAR against the 
relevant currencies would have resulted in an increase in foreign currency denominated assets of R32.1 million (2011: 
R122.5 million).

Financial liabilities
As at 31 March 2012 a 10% strengthening in ZAR against the US Dollar would have resulted in a decrease in foreign 
currency denominated liabilities of R88 million (2011: R34.6 million) and a 10% weakening in ZAR against the US Dollar 
would have resulted in an increase in foreign currency denominated liabilities of R88 million (2011: R34.6 million).

Currency risk
The Company has entered into certain forward exchange contracts which do not relate to speci�c items appearing on 
the Statement of Financial Position but which were entered into to cover foreign commitments not yet due and proceeds 
not yet received. The contracts will be utilised for purposes of trade.

Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:

Closing rate: 2012 2011

US$ 7.6884 6.7837

€ 10.2573 9.6403

Average:

US$ 7.458 7.1948

€ 10.2485 9.5031

Forward foreign exchange contracts

2012 Exchange rate average forward  Maturity date

Total foreign currency

Liabilities

US$56 817 759 7.6965 Less than 3 months

€4 500 000 10.263 Less than 3 months

2011 Exchange rate average forward  Maturity date

Total foreign currency

Liabilities

US$2 186 184 6.7837 Less than 3 months

As at 31 March 2012, a 10% relative change in the US$ to the ZAR would have impacted pro�t and loss for the year by 
R43.7 million (2011: R1.5 million).

As at 31 March 2012, a 10% relative change in the EURO to the ZAR would have impacted pro�t and loss for the year by 
R4.6 million (2011: R0 million).

Fair value
Estimated fair value  

loss/(gain)

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Forward exchange contracts – assets – – – –

Forward exchange contracts – liabilities  (483 483)  (14 830)  (3 723)  170

(483 483)  (14 830) (3 723)  170

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 31 March 2012
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Credit risk
Financial assets, which potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit risk, pertain principally to trade 
receivables and investments in the South African money market. Trade receivables are presented net of the allowance for 
doubtful debts.

The exposure of credit risk in respect to trade receivables is not concentrated due to a large customer base.

The Group manages counter-party exposures arising from money market and derivative � nancial instruments by 
only dealing with well-established � nancial institutions of a high credit rating. Losses are not expected as a result of non-
performance by these counter parties.

Credit limits with � nancial institutions are revised and approved by the Board on a quarterly basis.

Maturity pro� le
The maturity pro� les of � nancial assets and liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:

Group

At 31 March 2012

Assets

Less than
one year

R’000

Between one
 and � ve years

R’000

Over
� ve years

R’000

Non-interest
bearing

R’000
Total

R’000

Cash  12 848 843 – – –  12 848 843

Loans receivable – –  116 873  68 724  185 597 

Trade and other receivables  3 399 510 – – –  3 399 510

Total � nancial assets  16 248 353 –  116 873  68 724  16 433 950

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 2 272 974 – – – 2 272 974

At 31 March 2011

Assets

Less than
one year

R’000

Between one
 and � ve years

R’000

Over 
� ve years

R’000

Non-interest
bearing

R’000
Total

R’000

Cash  11 852 498 – – –  11 852 498 

Loans receivable – –  86 608  30 367  116 975 

Trade and other receivables  2 070 344 – – –  2 070 344 

Total � nancial assets  13 922 842 –  86 608  30 367  14 039 817 

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 1 626 403 – – – 1 626 403
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Company

At 31 March 2012

Assets

Less than
one year

R’000

Between one
 and �ve years

R’000

Over
�ve years

R’000

Non-interest
bearing

R’000
Total

R’000

Cash  12 783 863 – – –  12 783 863 

Loans receivable – –  116 873  68 724  185 597 

Trade and other receivables  3 400 003 – – –  3 400 003 

Total �nancial assets  16 183 866 –  116 873  68 724  16 369 463 

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 2 277 208 – – – 2 277 208

At 31 March 2011

Assets

Less than
one year

R’000

Between one
 and �ve years

R’000

Over 
�ve years

R’000

Non-interest
bearing

R’000
Total

R’000

Cash  11 795 852 – – –  11 795 852 

Loans receivable – –  1 286 914  30 367  1 317 281 

Trade and other receivables  2 072 184 – – –  2 072 184 

Total �nancial assets  13 868 036 –  1 286 914  30 367  15 185 317 

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 1 486 875 – – – 1 486 875

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash �ows and ensuring that adequate cash resources are 
available to meet cash commitments.

Price risk
External sales and purchases are subject to price and basis risks associated with volume and timing differences.

Price risk is mitigated using various operational and �nancial instruments. Instruments used are liquid and can be traded 
and valued at any time. The hedge portfolio may consist of exchange-traded options and futures as well as non-exotic 
over-the-counter options and swaps. Options, however, are only traded within zero cost collars. The selling prices 
are hedged using the International Petroleum Exchange (IPE), New York Mercantile Exchange (Nymex), or Singapore 
Monetary Exchange (Simex).

A sensitivity analysis was performed for revenue and every US$1 increase or decrease in the Brent crude oil price will 
increase or decrease pro�t by R54.5 million (2011: R65.0 million) respectively, based on the 2011/12 �nancial results.

Interest rate risk
Exposure to interest rate risk on liabilities and investments is monitored on a proactive basis. The �nancing of the Group 
is structured on a combination of �oating and �xed interest rates.

The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s �nancial instruments that are exposed to 
interest rate risk and the effective interest rates applicable:

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued
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At 31 March 2012

Fixed rate

Less than
one year

R’000

Between one
 and � ve years

R’000

Over 
� ve years

R’000
Total

R’000

Cash and cash equivalents (6.03%) 9 342 797 – – 9 342 797

Cash on deposit (5.69%) 489 021 – – 489 021

Floating Rate

Cash and cash equivalents (5.95%) 3 441 066 – – 3 441 066

Trade and other receivables 3 400 003 – – 3 400 003

Trade and other payables (2 277 208) – – (2 277 208)

Lurgi (4.24%) – – 116 873 116 873

PetroSA Egypt (11%) – – 1 142 457 1 142 457

GTL.F1 AG (0%) – – 68 724 68 724

PetroSA Equatorial Guinea (11%) – – 1 412 475 1 412 475

At 31 March 2011

Fixed rate

Less than
one year

R’000

Between one
 and � ve years

R’000

Over 
� ve years

R’000
Total

R’000

Cash and cash equivalents (6.25%) 7 342 824 – – 7 342 824

Cash on deposit (5.57%) 489 021 – – 489 021

Floating Rate

Cash and cash equivalents (7.50%)  3 103 027  1 350 000 – 4 453 027

Trade and other receivables  2 072 184 – –  2 072 184 

Trade and other payables  (1 486 878) – – (1 486 878) 

Lurgi (4.24%) – –  86 608  86 608 

PetroSA Egypt (11%) – –  1 157 120  1 157 120 

GTL.F1 AG (0%) – –  30 367  30 367 

PetroSA Equatorial Guinea (11%) – –  1 200 306  1 200 306 

Interest rate instruments
The Group is mainly exposed to � uctuations in US LIBOR, EURIBOR and ZAR interest rates. The Group measures its 
interest rate risk exposure by running various sensitivity analyses including up to 10% favourable and adverse changes 
in the key variables. The sensitivity analyses include only interest-bearing monetary items and adjust their value at the 
period-end for a change in interest rates of up to 10%.

Financial assets
As at 31 March 2012: 10% relative change in the:

•	 ZAR	interest	rate	would	have	impacted	profi	t	and	loss	for	the	year	by	R107.7	million	(2011:	R90 million)	

•	 EURIBOR	interest	rate	would	have	impacted	profi	t	and	loss	for	the	year	by	R0.23	million	(2011:	R0.38	million)

Market risk
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the � nancial risks of changes in commodity prices and foreign currency 
exchange rates. Refer to note 31 for foreign currency risk management and price risk management.
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32. Financial assets by category
The accounting policies for �nancial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Group – 2012

Assets
Loans and 

receivables

Fair value through 
pro�t or loss –

designated Total

Loans receivable –  185 597  185 597 

Other �nancial assets  489 021 –  489 021 

Trade and other receivables  3 399 510 –  3 399 510 

Cash and cash equivalents  12 848 843 –  12 848 843 

Total �nancial assets  16 737 374  185 597  16 922 971 

Group – 2011

Assets
Loans and 
receivables

Fair value through 
pro�t or loss –

designated Total

Loans receivable –  116 975  116 975 

Other �nancial assets  489 021 –  489 021 

Trade and other receivables  2 070 344 –  2 070 344 

Cash and cash equivalents  11 852 498 –  11 852 498 

Total �nancial assets  14 411 863  116 975  14 528 838 

Company – 2012

Assets
Loans and 

receivables

Fair value through 
pro�t or loss –

designated Total

Loans receivable –  185 597  185 597 

Other �nancial assets  489 021 –  489 021 

Trade and other receivables  3 400 003 –  3 400 003 

Cash and cash equivalents  12 783 863 –  12 783 863 

Total �nancial assets  16 672 887  185 597  16 858 484 

Company – 2011

Assets
Loans and 
receivables

Fair value through 
pro�t or loss –

designated Total

Loans receivable –  1 317 281  1 317 281 

Other �nancial assets  489 021 –  489 021 

Trade and other receivables  2 072 184 –  2 072 184 

Cash and cash equivalents  11 795 852 –  11 795 852 

Total �nancial assets  14 357 057  1 317 281  15 674 338 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued
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33. Financial liabilities by category
The accounting policies for � nancial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Group – 2012

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

Trade and other payables  2 272 974  2 272 974 

Group – 2011

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

Trade and other payables  1 626 403  1 626 403 

Company – 2012

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

Trade and other payables  2 277 208  2 277 208 

Company – 2012

Financial
 liabilities at

 amortised cost Total

Trade and other payables  1 486 875  1 486 875



132 PetroSA Annual Report 2012

34. Directors’ emoluments

Salary/
Fee

Bonus and
perfor-
mance

payments

Pension
contri-

butions

Other
contri-

butions Expenses
Acting

allowance Other Total

Executive Directors:

N Nokwe-Macamo  296 –  34  18 – – –  348 

N Nika 2 422 1 144 284 167 – 24 –  4 041 

 2 718  1 144  318  185 –  24 –  4 389 

Salary/
Fee

Bonus and
perfor-
mance

payments

Pension
contri-

butions

Other
contri-

butions Expenses

Compen-
sation for 

loss of
 of�ce Other Total

Non-executive 
Directors:

AMB Mokaba 702 – – – 244 – –  946 

MB Damane – – – – 3 – –  3 

DR Zihlangu 304 – – – 57 – –  361 

Z Rustomjee 357 – – – 72 – –  429 

Z Mavuso – – – – 47 – –  47 

Y Tenza 198 – – – 100 – –  298 

N Medupe 324 – – – 42 – –  366 

L Makatini 251 – – – 64 – –  315 

ACG Molusi 431 – – – 62 – –  493 

GN Jiyane 435 – – – 41 – –  476 

FE Letlape 424 – – – 77 – –  501 

MM Zwane 412 – – – 69 – –  481 

A Osman – – – – – – – –

 3 838 – – –  878 – –  4 716 

Executive 
management:

E September 1 876 853 321 144 – – –  3 194 

N Siswana 584 – 34 21 – – –  639 

G Sweto 1 892 790 126 109 – – –  2 917 

JEP Falbe 2 338 908 156 144 – – 651  4 197 

D Arendse 1 734 727 229 87 – – –  2 777 

Y Tenza (acting CEO) 3 500 – – 26 – – –  3 526 

11 924 3 278 866 531 – – 651 17 250

Mr N Nika was acting CEO from 27 May 2011 to 20 July 2011 and Mr Y Tenza acted as CEO from 20 July 2011 until the 
appointment of the new Group CEO on 1 March 2012.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued
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PetroSA

Year ended 31 March 2011

Salary/
Fee

Bonus and
perfor-
mance

payments

Pension
contri-

butions

Other
contri-

butions Expenses

Compen-
sation for 

loss of
 of� ce Other Total

Executive Directors:

S Mkhize  1 708 –  112  57 – – –  1 877 

N Nika 2 244 461 262 151 – – –  3 118 

 3 952  461  374  208 – – –  4 995 

Non-executive 
Directors:

L Makatini  670 – – –  236 – –  906 

PS Molefe  165 – – –  22 – –  187 

MB Damane – – – –  59 – –  59 

B Figaji  211 – – –  7 – –  218 

DR Zihlangu  604 – – –  198 – –  802 

M Kajee  452 – – –  25 – –  477 

BB Siwisa  78 – – –  18 – –  96 

MW Mkhize – – – –  55 – –  55 

Z Rustomjee  378 – – –  78 – –  456 

Z Mavuso – – – –  63 – –  63 

Y Tenza  377 – – –  129 – –  506 

N Medupe  290 – – –  78 – –  368 

 3 225 – – –  968 – –  4 193 

Salary/
Fee

Bonus and
perfor-
mance

payments

Pension
contri-

butions

Other
contri-

butions
Acting

allowance

Compen-
sation for 

loss of
 of� ce

Expatriate
allowance Total

Executive 
management:

E September 1 722 230 295 123 – – –  2 370 

N Siswana 2 046  278 133 68  15 – –  2 540 

G Sweto 1 699 240 113 96 – – –  2 148 

JEP Falbe 2 104 373 145 200 – – 604  3 426 

D Arendse 1 575 165 180 84 – – –  2 004 

9 146 1 286 866 571  15 – 604 12 488
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35. Related parties
Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Related party transactions

CEF (SOC) Ltd

Cash on call  489 021  489 021  489 021  489 021 

Interest paid –  89 –  89 

Services received  90  119  90  119 

Interest received  24 972  28 904  24 972  28 904 

Recoveries  468  416  468  416 

Trade receivables  87 –  87 –

Trade payable  68  25  68  25 

PASA

Services received  35  398  35  398 

Royalties paid  60 098  64 237  60 098  64 237 

Trade payable  13 632  18 642  13 632  18 642 

SFF

Trade receivable (including NMPP line�ll injection)  1 443 597  8 676  1 443 597  8 676 

Training  44 –  44 –

Product (including NMPP line�ll injection)  1 442 545 –  1 442 545 –

Recoveries  146  6 622  146  6 622 

Transfer of assets –  988 –  988 

Subsidiaries

Loan to – –  2 554 932  2 359 340 

Loan impairment – –  2 554 932  1 157 120 

Loans owing – –  1  1 

Management fee – –  3 888  4 262 

Recoveries – –  7 919  5 992 

Loan written off – – –  269 841 

Interest received – –  142 906  114 979 

Commission paid – –  32 555  33 387 

Dividend received – – –  1 723 

Trade receivable – –  6 232  5 947 

Trade payable – –  6 338  4 023 

OPSCA

Recoveries  153  968  153  968 

SAA

Services received/rendered  20 079  12 350  20 079  12 350 

SABC

Services received/rendered –  40 –  40 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued
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Group Company

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

Airports Company

Services received/rendered  714  263  714  263 

Eskom

Services received/rendered  547  357 461  547  357 461 

Product  1 589 052  410 167  1 589 052  410 167 

Rental  574  599  574  599 

Storage  27 847  29 400  27 847  29 400 

Training  89 –  89 –

Trade receivable  163 536  32 055  163 536  32 055 

Telkom

Services received/rendered  11 944  11 232  11 944  11 232 

SARS

Payments  3 747 972  3 409 160  3 747 972  3 409 160
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36. Interest in joint operating agreements
The Group’s proportionate share in the assets and liabilities of unincorporated joint ventures which are included in the 
�nancial statements are as follows:

Percentage Holding/Tracts

2012 55% 55% 55% 55% 55% 55%

R’000 E-AA E-AG E-W E-CB E-CN 
SCG 

EXPLORE

Production facilities – – – – – –

Current assets 87 145 564 1 268 856 289

Total assets 87 145 564 1 268 856 289

Current liabilities 46 25 318 2 041 354 263 

Retained income (1 463) (1 010) (3 156) (36 938) (3 417) (61 201)

Company contribution 
to venture 1 504 1 130 3 402 36 165 3 919 61 227 

Total liabilities 87 145 564 1 268 856 289 

Revenue 4 3 13 16 15 7 

Expenses (167) (99) (843) (4 463) (901) (851)

Net pro�t/(loss) (163) (96) (830) (4 447) (886) (844)

Partners: Pioneer Pioneer Pioneer Pioneer Pioneer Pioneer 

45% 45% 45% 45% 45% 45%

Nature of project Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration 

Percentage Holding/Tracts

2012 55% 55% 55% 60% 24% 24%

R’000 E-CC SCG CAPEX E-P Sable Block 2A Block 2C

Production facilities – – – – – –

Current assets 235 998 – 52 061 54 793 –

Total assets 235 998 – 52 061 54 793 –

Current liabilities 35 – – – – –

Retained income (142 734) (2 039 455) (40 186) (1 633 840) (201 806) (10 404)

Company contribution 
to venture 142 734 2 040 453 40 186 1 685 903 256 599 10 404 

Total liabilities 35 998 – 52 063 54 793 –

Revenue 5 7 032 – – – –

Expenses (31) – (221) (1) (17 303) (313)

Net pro�t/(loss) (26) 7 032 (221) (1) (17 303) (313)

Partners: Pioneer Pioneer Pioneer Pioneer Anschutz Anschutz

45% 45% 45% 40% 22.80% 22.80%

Forest Forest

53.20% 53.20%

Nature of project Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration 
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Percentage Holding/Tracts

2012 55% 30% 55% 10% 20%

R’000 F-Q Block 3A/4A E-DC Namibia 1711 Block 5/6

Production facilities – – – – –

Retained income (3 707) (6 793) (44 723) (109 910) (3 917)

Company contribution 
to venture 3 707 6 793 44 723 109 910 3 917 

Total liabilities – – – – –

Expenses (221) (3 118) (221) 2 299 (3 917)

Partners: Pioneer BHP Biliton Pioneer Nakor Anadarko

45% 60% 45% 70% 80%

Sasol Energulf

10% 10%

Kunene Energy

3%

Nature of project Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration 

Percentage Holding/Tracts

2011

55%
E-AA 

55%
E-AG 

55%
E-W 

55%
E-CB 

55%
E-CN 

55%

R’000
SCG

EXPLORE

Current assets 188 73 499 583 810 238 

Current liabilities 156 27 200 381 270 214 

Retained income (1 147) (807) (2 052) (28 668) (2 233) (53 256)

Company contribution 
to venture 1 179 853 2 351 28 870 2 773 53 280 

Total liabilities 188 73 499 583 810 238 

Revenue 8 2 13 11 7 4 

Expenses (308) (92) (752) (820) (620) (468)

Net pro� t/(loss) (300) (90) (739) (809) (613) (464)

Partners: Pioneer Pioneer Pioneer Pioneer Pioneer Pioneer 

45% 45% 45% 45% 45% 45%

Nature of project Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration 
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Percentage Holding/Tracts

2011 55% 55% 55% 60% 24% 24%

R’000 E-CC SCG CAPEX E-P Sable Block 2A Block 2C

Current assets 90 998 – 45 935 54 793 –

Current liabilities 39 – – – – –

Retained income (125 916) (2 039 455) (39 965) (1 441 585) (184 503) (10 091)

Company contribution 
to venture 125 967 2 040 453 39 965 1 487 520 239 296 10 091 

Total liabilities 90 998 – 45 935 54 793 –

Revenue 6 7 032 – 145 – –

Expenses (106) – (176) (5 273) (5 716) (710)

Net pro�t/(loss) (100) 7 032 (176) (5 128) (5 716) (710)

Partners: Pioneer Pioneer Pioneer Pioneer Anschutz Anschutz

45% 45% 45% 40% 22.80% 22.80%

Forest Forest

53.20% 53.20%

Nature of project Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration 

Percentage Holding/Tracts

2011 55% 30% 55% 10% 10% 10%

R’000 F-Q Block 3A/4A E-DC
Namibia

South
Namibia

 North
Namibia

1711

Production facilities – – – – – –

Retained income (3 486) (3 675) (44 502) (18 699) (1 983) (122 209)

Company contribution 
to venture 3 486 3 675 44 502 18 699 1 983 122 209 

Total liabilities – – – – – –

Expenses (2 102) (1 536) (176) – – –

Partners: Pioneer BHP Biliton Pioneer BHP Biliton BHP Biliton Nakor

45% 60% 45% 75% 75% 70%

Sasol Mitsui Mitsui Energulf

10% 15% 15% 10%

 Kunene Energy

3%

Nature of project Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration Exploration 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 31 March 2012



139PetroSA Annual Report 2012

22.50%

Zambezi Block

Retained income (183 926)

Company contribution to venture 183 926 

Total liabilities –

Expenses –

Petronas

42.50%

ENH

15%

Petrobras

17%

Exploration

GTL.F1 AG joint venture

PetroSA and Lurgi, bought the Statoil ASA shareholding in GTL.F1 AG in May 2011 and are now equal joint shareholders. 
GTL.F1 AG, the process licensor of the Low Temperature Fischer Tropsch (LTFT) Technology, declared the technology 
ready for licensing in May 2011 and has already conducted a number of studies for prospective clients. Total of assets 
amount to R109 million (2011: R83 million) at year-end.

Joint venture with Pioneer

PetroSA has a production sharing agreement with Pioneer for the South Coast Gas � eld production. The holding is 55:45 
respectively.

37. Public Finance Management Act (PFMA)
Refer to the Directors’ Report (note 7) for further details. The appropriate corrective and/or disciplinary actions have been 
taken (where necessary).

Group Company

31 Mar 
2012

31 Mar 
2011

31 Mar 
2012

31 Mar 
2011

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Public fi nance management act (PFMA)

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Items indivually < R50 000  90  83  90  83 

Penalties and interest paid to Tax Authorities  9  20 718  -    4 323 

Interest on late payment of invoices  -    96  -    96 

Penalties and interest for late payment of cargo dues  1 213  114  1 213  114 

Fraudulent transaction written off  86  -    86  -   

Contract cancellation fee  19 025  -    19 025  -   

Legal and consulting fees incurred  15 414  -  15 414  -

Damage to outboard motors  -    228  -    228 

Penalties and interest on CCMA award  -    77  -    77 

Interest on late payment of investment  -    122  -    122 

Penalties on outstanding cost recovery reports  -    67  -    -   

Additional registration fees  -    114  -    -   

 35 837  21 619  35 828  5 043 
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Refer to the Directors' Report, note 7 for further details. The 
appropriate corrective and/or disciplinary actions have been taken 
(where necessary).

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure movement

Incurred during the year  35 837  21 619  35 828  5 043 

Recovered during the year  (16 395)  (12 977)  -    (12 977)

Recognised as income / (expense) during the year (19 442) (8 642) (35 828) 7 934 

Closing balance  -    -    -    -   

Irregular transactions

Contravention of company policy  25 868  13 602  25 868  1 175 

Contravention of legislation  1 519  3 350  1 519  3 350 

 27 387  16 952  27 387  4 525 

38. Prior-period errors
During the year, it was identi�ed that the denomination of subsidiary loans should change from US Dollars to Rand. The 
comparative �gures for PetroSA, PetroSA Egypt and PetroSA Equatorial Guinea have been restated to address this 
matter. The correction resulted in a decrease in Revaluations in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and an increase 
in Other Financial Assets in the Statement of Financial Position in the prior year.

Statement of Financial Position

Other �nancial assets – – – 6 371

Opening retained earnings – – (6 371) (20 855)

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Other income – – – 14 484

The above prior period errors do not constitute a material error and therefore no third-year comparatives, as required by 
IAS 1 paragraph 39, have been presented.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 31 March 2012
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Fields in Production and Under Development
for the year ended 31 March 2012

1. Movement in net remaining proved and probable reserves
Group Company

Crude oil/
Condensate

MMbbl Gas Bscf 

Crude oil/
Condensate

MMbbl Gas Bscf 

2012 2012 2011 2011

At beginning of year  7.90  526.10  3.60  57.80 

Revisions of previous estimates  5.40 – – –

Production  (1.30)  (38.60)  (2.60) (45.00) 

Additions –  27.40  7.40  536.10 

At end of year  12.00  514.90  8.40  548.90 

2. Proved and probable reserve by type 
of � eld
Fields in production 3.80 213.57 8.40 298.90

Fields under development – 301.31 – 249.90

3.80 514.88 8.40 548.80

3. Reserves by category
Proved 2.30 388.50 5.20 399.90

Proved and probable 3.80 514.88 8.40 548.80

Total proved and probable reserves at year-end 3.80 514.88 8.40 548.80

Notes

Oil
Fields in production and under development comprise the Oribi (100%) and Oryx (100%) oil � elds.

Gas
Fields in production and under development comprise the SCG (55%), F-A and F-A Satellite, E-M and E-M Satellite and 
F-O gas� elds respectively.

Fields under appraisal comprise discoveries. The reserves shown are either all oil or all gas, excluding gas liquids. Oil 
includes condensate and LPG.

Reserves and production are shown on a working interest basis (100%).

Oil and gas reserves cannot be measured exactly since the estimation of reserves involves subjective judgement and 
arbitrary determinations and therefore all estimations are subject to revision. The gas and oil reserves re� ected above 
have been determined by an independent surveyor.

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual � nancial statements and is unaudited.
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De�nitions

Proved reserves

Oil
Means the amount of petroleum which geophysical, geological and engineering data indicate to be commercially 
recoverable to a high degree of certainty. For the purposes of this de�nition, there is at least a 90% chance that the 
actual quantity will be more than the amount estimated as proved and no more than a 10% chance that it will be less.

Gas
Means the amount of gas which geophysical, geological and engineering data indicate to be commercially recoverable to 
a high degree of certainty. For the purposes of this de�nition, there is at least a 90% chance that the actual quantity will 
be more than the amount estimated as proved and no more than a 10% chance that it will be less.

Proved and probable reserves

Oil
Means proved reserves plus the amount of petroleum which geophysical, geological and engineering data indicate to 
be commercially recoverable but with a greater element of risk than in the case of proved.  For the purposes of this 
de�nition, there is a 50% chance that the actual quantity will be more than the amount estimated as proved and probable 
and a 50% chance that it will be less.

Gas
Means proved reserves plus the amount of gas which geophysical, geological and engineering data indicate to be 
commercially recoverable, but with a greater element of risk than in the case of proved.  For the purposes of this 
de�nition, there is a 50% chance that the actual quantity will be more than the amount estimated as proved and probable 
and a 50% chance that it will be less.

Reserves under appraisal

Oil
Comprise quantities of petroleum which are considered, on the basis of information currently available and current 
economic forecasts, to be commercially recoverable by present producing methods from �elds that have been 
discovered but which require further appraisal prior to commerciality being established.

Gas
Comprise quantities of gas which are considered, on the basis of information currently available and current economic 
forecasts, to be commercially recoverable by present producing methods from �elds that have been discovered but 
which require further appraisal prior to commerciality being established.

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual �nancial statements and is unaudited.

Fields in Production and Under Development continued
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De� nition of Financial Terms

Below is a list of de� nitions of � nancial terms used in the 
annual report of PetroSA and the Group:

Accounting policies
The speci� c principles, bases, conventions, rules and 
practices applied in preparing and presenting annual � nancial 
statements.

Accrual accounting
The effects of transactions and other events are recognised 
when they occur rather than when the cash is received.

Acquisition date
This is the date on which the acquirer obtains control of the 
acquiree.

Actuarial gains and losses
The effects of differences between the previous actuarial 
assumptions and what has actually occurred as well as 
changes in actuarial assumptions. 

Amortised cost
The amount at which a � nancial asset or � nancial liability is 
measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, 
plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective 
interest method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction for 
impairment or uncollectibility.

Asset
A resource controlled by the entity as a result of a past event 
from which future economic bene� ts are expected to � ow.

Assets under construction
A non-current asset which includes expenditure capitalised 
for work in progress in respect of activities to develop, 
expand or enhance items of property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets and exploration assets.

Associate
An entity over which the investor has signi� cant in� uence and 
that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. 
Signi� cant in� uence is the power to participate in the � nancial 
and operating policy decisions of the associate but is not 
control or joint control over those policies.

Borrowing costs
Interest and other costs incurred in connection with the 
borrowing of funds.

Business combination
A transaction or other event in which an acquirer obtains 
control of one or more businesses.

Carrying amount
The amount at which an asset is recognised after deducting 
any accumulated depreciation or amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash 
equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and that are 
subject to an insigni� cant risk of changes in value.

Cash � ow hedge
A hedge of the exposure to variability in cash � ows that is 
attributable to a particular risk associated with an asset or 
a liability that could affect pro� t or loss or a highly probable 
forecast transaction that could affect pro� t or loss.

Change in accounting estimate
An adjustment to the carrying amount of an asset, liability 
or the amount of the periodic consumption of an asset that 
results from new information or new developments.

Consolidated annual � nancial 
statements
The annual � nancial statements of a group presented as 
those of a single economic entity.

Contingent asset
A possible asset that arises from past events and whose 
existence will only be con� rmed by the future occurrence or 
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly 
within the control of the entity.

Contingent liability
A possible obligation that arises from past events and whose 
existence will only be con� rmed by the future occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not 
wholly within the control of the entity, or a present obligation 
that arises from past events but is not recognised because 
it is not probable that an out� ow of resources embodying 
economic bene� ts will be required to settle the obligation, 
or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with 
suf� cient reliability.

Date of transaction
The date on which the transaction � rst quali� es for 
recognition in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice.

Depreciation (or amortisation)
The systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an 
asset over its useful life. The depreciable amount of an asset 
is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, 
less its residual value.

Derecognition
The removal of a previously recognised asset or liability from 
the Statement of Financial Position.

Derivative
A � nancial instrument whose value changes in response to 
an underlying item, requires no initial or little net investment in 
relation to other types of contracts that would be expected to 

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual � nancial statements and is unaudited.
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have a similar response to changes in market factors, and is 
settled at a future date.

Development
The application of research �ndings or other knowledge to 
a plan or design for the production of new or substantially 
improved materials, devices, products, processes, systems 
or services before starting commercial production or use.

Discontinued operation
A component that has either been disposed of or is classi�ed 
as held for sale and represents a separate major line of 
business or geographical area of operations, or is part of a 
single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of 
business or geographical area of operation, or a subsidiary 
acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Employee bene�ts
All forms of consideration (excluding share options granted 
to employees) given in exchange for services rendered by 
employees.

Equity instrument
A contract or certi�cate that evidences a residual interest in 
the total assets after deducting the total liabilities.

Equity method
A method in which the investment is initially recognised 
at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition 
change in the share of net assets of the investee. Pro�t or 
loss includes the investor’s share of the pro�t or loss of the 
investee.

Expenses
The decreases in economic bene�ts in the form of out�ows or 
depletions of assets or incurrences of liabilities that result in 
decreases in equity, other than those relating to distributions 
to equity participants.

Fair value
The amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a 
liability settled between knowledgeable and willing parties in 
an arm’s length transaction.

Fair value hedge
A hedge of exposure to changes in fair value of a recognised 
asset, liability or �rm commitment.

Finance lease
A lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset. Title may or may not 
eventually be transferred.

Financial asset or liability at fair value 
through pro�t or loss
A �nancial asset or �nancial liability that is classi�ed as held 
for trading or is designated as such on initial recognition other 
than investments in equity instruments that do not have a 

quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value 
cannot be reliably measured.

Financial instrument
A contract that gives rise to a �nancial asset of one entity and 
a �nancial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Financial risk
The risk of a possible future change in one or more factors 
including the speci�ed interest rate, �nancial instrument price, 
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or 
rates, credit rating or credit index or other variable, provided 
in the case of a non-�nancial variable that the variable is not 
speci�c to a party to the contract.

Firm commitment
A binding agreement for the exchange of a speci�ed quantity 
of resources at a speci�ed price on a speci�ed future date or 
dates.

Forecast transaction
An uncommitted but anticipated future transaction.

Functional currency
The currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the Group operates.

Going-concern basis
The assumption that the entity will continue in operation for 
the foreseeable future. The �nancial statements are prepared 
on a going-concern basis unless management either intends 
to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Gross investment in lease
The aggregate of the minimum lease payments receivable 
by the lessor under a �nance lease and any unguaranteed 
residual value accruing to the lessor.

Hedged item
An asset, liability, �rm commitment, highly probable forecast 
transaction or net investment in a foreign operation that 
exposes the entity to risk of changes in fair value or future 
cash �ows and is designated as being hedged.

Hedging instrument
A designated derivative or non-derivative �nancial asset or 
non-derivative �nancial liability whose fair value or cash �ows 
are expected to offset changes in the fair value or cash �ows 
of a designated hedged item.

Hedge effectiveness
The degree to which changes in the fair value or cash �ows 
of the hedged item that are attributable to a hedged risk 
are offset by changes in the fair value or cash �ows of the 
hedging instrument. 

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual �nancial statements and is unaudited.
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Held for trading � nancial asset or 
� nancial liability
One that is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose 
of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or as part of a 
portfolio of identi� ed � nancial instruments that are managed 
together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual 
pattern of short-term pro� t-taking or a derivative (except 
for a derivative that is a designated and effective hedging 
instrument).

Held-to-maturity investment
A non-derivative � nancial asset with � xed or determinable 
payments and � xed maturity where there is a positive 
intention and ability to hold it to maturity.

Immaterial
If individually or collectively it would not in� uence the 
economic decisions of the primary users of the annual 
� nancial statements.

Impairment loss
The amount by which the carrying amount of an asset or 
a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impracticable
Applying a requirement is impracticable when the entity 
cannot apply it after making every reasonable effort to do so.

Income
Increase in economic bene� ts in the form of in� ows or 
enhancements of assets or decreases in liabilities that 
result in increases in equity, other than those relating to 
contributions from equity participants.

Joint venture
A contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties 
undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control.

Key management personnel
Those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, 
ie. the members of the Board of Directors of PetroSA and 
within the  individual companies, the Board of Directors and 
Executive Management committees.

Lease
An agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee, in 
return for a payment or series of payments, the right to use 
an asset for an agreed period of time.

Legal obligation
An obligation that derives from a contract, legislation or other 
operation of law.

Liability
A present obligation of the entity arising from a past event, 
the settlement of which is expected to result in an out� ow 
from the entity of resources embodying economic bene� ts.

Loans and receivables
Non-derivative � nancial assets with � xed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market.

Minimum lease payments
Payments over the lease term that the lessee is or can 
be required to make, excluding contingent rent, costs 
for services and taxes to be paid by and reimbursed to 
the lessor including in the case of a lessee, any amounts 
guaranteed by the lessee or by a party related to the lessee 
or in the case of a lessor, any residual value guaranteed to 
the lessor by the lessee, a party related to the lessee or a 
third party unrelated to the lessor that is � nancially capable of 
discharging the obligations under the guarantee.

Net assets
Net operating assets plus cash and cash equivalents.

Operating lease
Any lease other than a � nance lease.

Other comprehensive income
Comprises items of income and expense (including 
reclassi� cation adjustments) that are not recognised in pro� t 
and loss and includes the effect of translation of foreign 
operations, cash � ow hedges, available-for-sale � nancial 
assets and changes in revaluation reserves.

Owner-occupied property
Property held by the owner or by the lessee under a � nance 
lease for use in the production or supply of goods or services 
or for administrative purposes.

Past service cost
The increase or decrease in the present value of the de� ned 
bene� t obligation for employee service in prior periods 
resulting from the introduction of, or changes to, post-
employment bene� ts or other long-term employee bene� ts.

Post-employment bene� ts
Employee bene� ts (other than termination bene� ts) that are 
payable after the completion of employment.

Post-employment bene� t plans
Formal or informal arrangements under which an entity 
provides post-employment bene� ts to employees. De� ned 
contribution bene� t plans are where there are no legal or 
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the 
fund does not hold suf� cient assets to pay all employee 
bene� ts relating to employee service in the current and prior 
periods. De� ned bene� t plans are post-employment bene� t 
plans other than de� ned contribution plans. 

Presentation currency
The currency in which the annual � nancial statements are 
presented.

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual � nancial statements and is unaudited.
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Prior-period error
An omission from or misstatement in the annual �nancial 
statements for one or more prior periods arising from a failure 
to use, or misuse of, reliable information that was available 
when annual �nancial statements for those periods were 
authorised for issue and could reasonably be expected to 
have been obtained and taken into account in the preparation 
of those annual �nancial statements.

Prospective application
Applying a new accounting policy to transactions, other 
events and conditions occurring after the date the policy 
changed or recognising the effect of the change in an 
accounting estimate in the current and future periods.

Recoverable amount
The amount that re�ects the greater of the fair value less 
costs to sell and the value in use that can be attributed to an 
asset or cash-generating unit as a result of its ongoing use 
by the entity. In determining the value in use, expected future 
cash �ows are discounted to their present values using the 
discount rate.

Research
The original and planned investigation undertaken with the 
prospect of gaining new scienti�c or technical knowledge and 
understanding.

Residual value
The estimated amount which an entity would currently obtain 
from disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated 
costs of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in 
the condition expected at the end of its useful life.

Restructuring
A programme that is planned and controlled by management, 
and which materially changes either the scope of a business 
undertaken by an entity or the manner in which that business 
is conducted.

Retrospective application
Applying a new accounting policy to transactions, other 
events and conditions as if that policy had always been 
applied.

Retrospective restatement
Correcting the recognition, measurement and disclosure of 
amounts as if a prior-period error had never occurred.

Tax base
The tax base of an asset is the amount that is deductible 
for tax purposes if the economic bene�ts from the asset are 
taxable or the carrying amount of the asset if the economic 
bene�ts are not taxable. The tax base of a liability is the 
carrying amount of the liability less the amount deductible 
in respect of that liability in future periods. The tax base of 
revenue received in advance is the carrying amount less any 
amount of the revenue that will not be taxed in future periods.

Temporary differences
The differences between the carrying amount of an asset or 
liability and its tax base.

Transaction costs
Incremental costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, issue or disposal of a �nancial asset or �nancial 
liability, i.e. those that would not have been incurred if the 
entity had not acquired, issued or disposed of the �nancial 
instrument.

Useful life
The period over which an asset is expected to be available 
for use or the number of production or similar units expected 
to be obtained from the asset.

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual �nancial statements and is unaudited.
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